UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K

×	ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO S EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934	SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECUR	ITIES
	For the Fiscal Year Ended September 3	30, 2024.	
	TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934	TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SEC	CURITIES
	For the transition period from t	0	
	•	Commission File Number 000-108	843
		CSP Inc.	
		(Exact name of Registrant as specified in its C	Charter)
	Massachus (State of incorp	oration) (I. 175 Cabot Street, Lowell, Massachuset (Address of principal executive offices)	
		(978) 954-5038 (Registrant's telephone number including are	ea code)
	Sec	urities Registered Pursuant to Section 12	(b) of the Act:
	Title of Each Class	Trading Symbol(s)	Name of each exchange on which registered
	Common Stock, par value \$0.01 per shar		Nasdaq Global Market
	/1 · 1	Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) o None	•
	Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a well-keep Yes □ No ⊠	known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the S	decurities Act.
	Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not requ Yes □ No ☒	aired to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 1	5(d) of the Act.
12 n	Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) nonths (or for such shorter period that the registrant was	has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subj	8 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding fect to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes \boxtimes No \square .
(§23	2.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 month	s (or for such shorter period that the registrant was req	•
	pany. See the definitions of "large accelerated filer",	"accelerated filer", "smaller reporting company", and	accelerated filer, a smaller reporting company, or an emerging growth "emerging growth company" in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.
_	e accelerated filer □ -accelerated filer ⊠	Accelerated filer □ Smaller Reporting C	
INOII	-accelerated filer	Emerging Growth C	* *
acco	If an emerging growth company, indicate by checunting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a)		nded transition period for complying with any new or revised financial
repo	•	is filed a report on and attestation to its management's t (15 U.S.C. 7262(b)) by the registered public accounting	's assessment of the effectiveness of its internal control over financial ing firm that prepared or issued its audit report. \Box
corr	If securities are registered pursuant to Section 12 ection of an error to previously issued financial stater	•	financial statements of the registrant included in the filing reflect the
regis	Indicate by check mark whether any of those er strant's executive officers during the relevant recover	-	very analysis of incentive-based compensation received by any of the
	Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a	shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Excha	ange Act). Yes □ No ⊠
on tl	The aggregate market value of the registrant's cone Nasdaq Global Market on March 31, 2024.	mmon stock held by non-affiliates of the registrant wa	as \$158,179,808, based on the closing sale price of \$18.46 as reported
	As of December 19, 2024, we had outstanding 9,8		
	Cartain portions of the information required in P.	DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFEI	RENCE te from our definitive proxy statement for our 2024 annual meeting of
			e nom our deminive proxy statement for our 2024 annual meeting of

TABLE OF CONTENTS

		Page
PART I.		
Item 1.	Business	2
Item 1A.	Risk Factors	8
Item 1B.	Unresolved Staff Comments	16
Item 1C.	Cybersecurity	17
Item 2.	Properties	18
Item 3.	<u>Legal Proceedings</u>	18
Item 4.	Mine Safety Disclosures	18
tterr i.	with Safety Disclosures	10
PART II.		
Item 5.	Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity	
	Securities	18
Item 6.	[Reserved]	19
Item 7.	Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations	20
Item 8.	Financial Statements and Supplementary Data	30
Item 9.	Change in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosures	31
Item 9A.	Controls and Procedures	31
Item 9B.	Other Information	34
Item 9C.	Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdiction that Prevent Inspections	34
<u>PART III.</u>		
<u>Item 10.</u>	<u>Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance</u>	34
Item 11.	Executive Compensation	34
Item 12.	Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters	34
Item 13.	Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence	35
Item 14.	Principal Accountant Fees and Services	35
PART IV.		
Item 15.	Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules	35
Item 16.	Form 10-K Summary	37
10.	Tom To It building	31

Note: Items 1B and 7A are not required for Smaller Reporting Companies and therefore are not furnished.

Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

This annual report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. This information may involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that are difficult to predict and may cause our actual results, performance or achievements to be materially different from future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by any forward-looking statements. The discussion below contains certain forward-looking statements related but not limited to, among others, statements concerning future revenues and future business plans. Forward-looking statements include statements in which we use words such as "expect," "believe," "anticipate," "intend," "estimate," "should," "could," "may," "plan," "potential," "predict," "project," "will," "would" and similar expressions. Although we believe the expectations reflected in such forward-looking statements are based on reasonable assumptions, the forward-looking statements are subject to significant risks and uncertainties, and thus we cannot assure you that these expectations will prove to be correct, and actual results may vary from those contained in such forward-looking statements. We discuss many of these risks and uncertainties in Item 1A under the heading "Risk Factors" in this Annual Report.

Factors that may cause such variances include, but are not limited to, our dependence on a small number of customers for a significant portion of our revenue, our dependence on contracts with the U.S. federal governmentg and intense competition in the market segments in which we operate. Given these uncertainties, you should not place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements. Also, forward-looking statements represent our estimates and assumptions only as of the date of this document. We have based the forward-looking statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K on information available to us on the date of this Annual Report, and we assume no obligation to update any such forward-looking statements, other than as required by law.

PART I

Item 1. Business

CSP Inc. ("CSPi" or "CSPI" or "the Company" or "we" or "our") was incorporated in 1968 and is based in Lowell, Massachusetts. To meet the diverse requirements of our commercial and defense customers worldwide, CSPi and its subsidiaries develop and market IT integration solutions, advanced security products, managed IT services, cloud services, purpose built network adapters, and high-performance cluster computer systems.

Segments

CSPI operates in two segments: Technology Solutions ("TS") and High Performance Products ("HPP").

TS Segment

- The TS segment consists of our wholly-owned Modcomp, Inc. subsidiary, which operates in the United States and the United Kingdom.
- The TS segment generates product revenues by reselling third-party computer hardware and software as a value
 added reseller ("VAR"). The TS segment generates service revenues by the delivery of professional services for
 complex IT solutions, including advanced security; unified communications and collaboration; wireless and mobility;
 data center solutions; and network solutions as well as managed IT services ("MSP") that primarily serve the small
 and mid-sized business market ("SMB").
- Third party products and professional services are marketed and sold through the Company's direct sales force into a
 variety of vertical markets, including automotive, defense, healthcare, education, federal, state and local government,
 and maritime.

HPP Segment

- The HPP segment revenue comes from three distinct product lines: (i) a cybersecurity solution marketed as ARIATM Software-Defined Security ("SDS"), which is offered to commercial, original equipment manufacturers ("OEM") and government customers; (ii) the Myricom® network adapters and related software for commercial, government and OEM customers; and (iii) the legacy Multicomputer product portfolio for digital signal processing ("DSP") applications within the defense markets.
- The ARIA SDS solution is a software portfolio comprised of 3 products: ARIA Packet Intelligence software which is used by customers for its high-speed wire-rate in-line packet filtering, steering and policy enforcement functions. ARIA Advanced Detection and Response solution used by customers to find and stop threats in real-time by monitoring their entire network, device and services footprint. It is used as the basis of MDR (Managed Detection and Response) services offered by ARIA and its MSSP partners who provide it as part of a 24x7 managed SOC (Security Operations Center) offering. The product automates the MITRE ATT&CKTM framework to find threats up to 100 times faster with fewer human resources than other solutions.
- In July of 2023 ARIA Zero Trust (AZT) PROTECTTM was introduced to the market. ARIA AZT PROTECTTM was designed to fill a gap in the market stopping the most sophisticated attacks that are used to attack critical infrastructure applications before harm can be done. It compliments other protection technologies already in place and can stop some of the most well-known attacks including the SolarWinds attack, and the recent Russian sponsored Sandworm attacks used on utilities and energy infrastructure. The product is already deployed and generating revenue from its initial contracts.
- Revenue is derived from: (i) license sales of our software platform components, (ii) support packages and (iii) any required supporting services. The software licenses, the support packages, as well as supporting services

are renewable on a recurring basis.

- The ARIA portfolio is of value to regulated industries, such as manufacturing, pharmaceuticals, financial services, energy production, utilities, transport and healthcare, due to the rise of critical infrastructure regulations enforced at the federal, U.S. state, and international level, as well as industry entities. In addition, due to the complexities and high-costs associated with enterprise-wide security, particularly in the creation and operation of SOCs, we believe that ARIA will be attractive to organizations that desire SOC level protections without incurring the procurement of disparate tools and the need to hire and retain highly trained security analysts. We also have begun selling our unique solution into Managed Security Service Providers ("MSSPs") that want to offer a lower cost, more effective service at detecting today's widening range of cyber-attacks.
- The Myricom SmartNIC adapters ("ARC Series" and Myricom Secure Intelligent Adapters or "SIA") are optimized for and sold into markets that require high-bandwidth and low-latency including (i) packet capture, (ii) financial transactions, (iii) machine vision and (iv) network security. The ARC series has reached end of life due to ASIC supplier problems which will significantly reduce its contribution to the HPP line of business. The focus is now supporting its applications on 3rd party provided intelligent network interface cards.
- Multicomputer products for DSP applications are no longer actively developed but will continue to be sold into
 established programs through FY 2025 and supported for several years via our repair services offering. The revenue
 from these products, as a percentage of overall Company revenue, is expected to continue to decline over time.

Sales Information by Industry Segment

The following table details our sales by operating segment for fiscal years ending September 30, 2024 and 2023. Additional segment and geographical information are set forth in *Note 18 Segment Information* to the consolidated financial statements.

Segment	2024	%	2023	%
	(Dol	lar amounts	in thousands)	
TS	\$ 51,065	92 %	\$ 57,774	89 %
HPP	4,154	8 %	6,873	11 %
Total Sales	\$ 55,219	100 %	\$ 64,647	100 %

TS Segment

Products and Services

Integration Solutions

The TS segment is a value-added reseller ("VAR") of third-party hardware and software technology solutions along with our advanced technology consulting, professional IT, managed IT and Cloud services. Our value proposition is our ability to support the complete IT life cycle of planning, designing, implementing and optimizing a comprehensive solution into our customers' IT environments, to help achieve their expected business outcomes.

Third-Party Hardware and Software

We sell third-party hardware, software, and information technology products, with a strategic focus on industry standard servers and data center infrastructure solutions, midrange data storage infrastructure products, networking and mobility products, unified communications, and advanced IT security hardware and software solutions. Our key offerings include products from Hewlett Packard (HPE)/Aruba, Cisco Systems, Palo Alto Networks, Nutanix, Dell EMC, Juniper Networks, Citrix, Intel, VMWare, Fortinet, Microsoft and Barracuda. Through our business relationships with these vendors, we are able to offer competitively priced robust products to meet our diverse customers' technology needs,

providing procurement and engineering expertise in server infrastructure, storage, security, unified communications, mobility and networking, to the small-to-medium sized businesses ("SMBs") and large enterprise businesses ("LEBs") with unique and/or complex IT environments. Many of our SMB customers have unique technology needs and may lack technical purchasing expertise or have very limited IT engineering resources on staff. We offer our customers a single point of contact for complicated multi-vendor technology purchases. We also provide installation, integration, logistical assistance and other value-added services that customers may require. We target SMB and LEB customers across all industries. Our current customers are in web and infrastructure hosting, education, travel, telecommunications, healthcare services, distribution, financial services, professional services and manufacturing.

Professional Services

We provide professional IT consulting services in the following areas:

- Assessments, planning, designing, implementation, migration, optimization services and project management.
- Hyper-Converged Infrastructure ("HCI"). We assist our clients with designing and implementing HCI solutions from
 multiple vendors including DellEMC, Nutanix, HPE and Cisco. HCI is a software-centric architecture that tightly
 integrates compute, storage and virtualization resources in a single system. The benefits of an HCI solution are
 improved performance, scalability and flexibility all in a reduced footprint.
- Virtualization. We help our customers implement virtualization solutions using products from companies such as
 VMWare, Nutanix and Citrix that allow one computer to do the job of multiple computers by sharing resources of a
 single computer across multiple environments. Virtualization eliminates physical and geographical limitations and
 enables users to host multiple operating systems and applications on fewer servers. Benefits include energy cost
 savings, lower capital expenditure requirements, high availability of resources, better desktop management,
 increased security and improved disaster recovery.
- Enterprise security intrusion prevention, network access control and unified threat management. Using third-party
 products from companies like Palo Alto, Aruba Networks, Juniper Networks, Fortinet, Barracuda and Cisco Systems,
 our services are designed to ensure data security and integrity through the establishment of virtual private networks,
 firewalls and other technologies.
- IT security compliance services. We provide services for IT security compliance with personal privacy laws such as the Payment Card Industry Data Security Standard ("PCI DSS"), the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 ("HIPAA"), and internal control regulations under the Sarbanes-Oxley Act ("SOX").
- Unified communications, using Cisco Systems and Microsoft solutions. We are Cisco Premier Partner approved for
 its Cloud and Managed Services Program for Managed Business Communications and a Microsoft Gold Partner with
 specialties in Cloud, and Collaboration solutions.
- Wireless, routing, and switching solutions using Juniper Networks and Aruba Networks products and services.
- Custom software applications and solutions development and support. We develop custom applications to customer specifications using industry standard platforms such as Microsoft.Net, SharePoint and OnBase. We are a Microsoft Gold Partner.
- Managed IT services that include monitoring, reporting and management of alerts for the resolution and preventive general IT and IT security support tasks.
- Optimization, maintenance and technical support for third-party products including hardware and software, operating system and user support.

Managed IT and Cloud Services

As consumption models continue to evolve in our industry, we have developed a robust managed and cloud services portfolio to provide alternative solutions to traditional capital expenditure investments in IT solutions and IT operations for our clients. Our value is to provide an elastic offering that will allow the client to scale and consume these offerings with monthly billing options that help control costs and provide economies of scale.

We provide managed and cloud services in the following areas:

- Proactive monitoring and remote management of IT Infrastructure that includes network (both wired and wireless), data center (which includes compute, storage and virtualization), desktops, unified communications platforms and security.
- Managed and Hosted Unified Communication as a Service via a Cisco Communication and Collaboration solution under an annuity program.
- Managed Security (firewall, endpoint protection, malware, anti-virus Managed Detection & Response).
- Managed BackUp and Replication.
- Cloud services that include Microsoft 365, Azure, Azure Virtual Desktop, Greencloud, Amazon Web Services and Google Cloud Platform.

Markets and Marketing

We are an IT systems integrator and computer hardware and software VAR. We also provide technical services to achieve a value-add to our customers. We operate within the VAR sales channels of major computer hardware and software OEMs, primarily within the geographic areas of our sales offices and across the U.S. We provide innovative IT solutions, including a myriad of infrastructure products with customized professional IT consulting services and managed services to meet the unique requirements of our customers. We market the products and services we sell through sales offices in the U.S. and the U.K. using our direct sales force.

Competition

Our primary competition in the TS segment is other VARs ranging from small companies that number in the thousands, to large enterprises such as CDW, PC Connection, Insight, Presidio, Dimension Data, and Computacenter Limited. In addition, we compete directly with many of the companies that manufacture the third-party products we sell, including Cisco Systems, IBM, HPE, EMC (now part of Dell) and others. In the network management, security and storage systems integration services business, our competitors are extensive and vary to a certain degree in each of the geographical markets, but they also include such national competitors as HP/EDS, IBM and Cap Gemini.

Nearly all of our product offerings are available through other channels. Favorable competitive factors for the TS segment include procurement capability, product diversity which enables the delivery of complete and custom solutions to our customers and the strength of our key business relationships with the major IT OEMs. We also consider our ability to meet the unique and/or specialized needs of the SMB and LEB markets and our strong knowledge of the IT products that we sell to be a key competitive advantage. Our ability to provide managed services through our network operations center and the professional IT services required to design and implement custom IT solutions to address our customers' IT needs are distinct competitive advantages. Unfavorable competitive factors include low name recognition, limited geographic coverage and pricing.

Sources and Availability of Product

No components used in our TS segment products are obtained from sole-source suppliers.

Backlog

The gross backlog of customer orders and contracts for the TS segment was approximately \$4.9 million as of September 30, 2024, as compared to \$7.5 million as of September 30, 2023. Our backlog can fluctuate greatly. These fluctuations can be due to the timing of receiving large orders for third-party products and/or IT services. It is expected that all of the customer orders in backlog will ship and/or be provided during fiscal year 2025.

HPP Segment

Products and Services

The mission of the HPP team is to deliver a differentiated, smarter approach to cybersecurity. Our software-defined platform makes it easier for organizations to achieve enterprise-wide network security with a focus on the protection of critical assets, applications and devices from cyberattacks.

Markets and Marketing

Cyber Security Products Market

The ARIA SDS solution is targeted at organizations that need to get additional functionality out of their current cybersecurity solutions to find and stop attacks, while also reducing their operating costs. At the present time, our ARIA solutions are primarily offered through our direct sales channel, however with ARIA AZT PROTECT's introduction we have begun to add channel partners such as independent resellers.

OEM vendors in the cybersecurity market can benefit from integrating the ARIA applications and leveraging them as internal solutions to allow their applications to scale and add critical functionality. OEMs are interested in running our ARIA SDS applications on their SmartNIC and other ARM-core based platforms.

As mentioned, MSSPs require simple, yet differentiated, solutions that can be deployed across their customer bases. The detection and automation capabilities found in ARIA solutions are valuable as they allow these security service providers to scale their offerings while increasing the productivity of their security operation center staff.

Manufacturing Market

Our focus for fiscal 2025 and beyond is to expand from our initial successes more broadly into this market and its various sub segments.

Energy/Utility Market

We believe our AZT PROTECT product is well suited to address a critical security gap in this market. Noting that sales cycles can be up to 1 year.

Competition

CSPi's competition in the cybersecurity space comes primarily from the large, traditional security vendors like Palo Alto, VMware and security services providers like Arctic Wolf.

Manufacturing, Assembly and Testing

Currently, products are shipped to our customers directly from our plant in Lowell, Massachusetts.

Research and Development

For the year ended September 30, 2024, our expenses for R&D were approximately \$3.0 million compared to approximately \$3.1 million for the year ended September 30, 2023. Expenditures for R&D are expensed as they are incurred. Product development efforts in fiscal year 2023 and 2024 involved development of the ARIA product set, ARIA Zero Trust (AZT), and enhancements to our ADR product offering. We expect to continue to make investments related to the development of new cybersecurity software applications.

Intellectual Property

We rely on a combination of trademark and trade secret laws in the United States and other jurisdictions, as well as confidentiality procedures and contractual provisions to protect our intellectual property rights. We have newly issued as well as pending patents for the ARIA AZT PROTECTTM software and will be pursuing additional patent rights over time.

Sources and Availability of Product

No components used in our HPP segment products are obtained from sole-source suppliers.

Backlog

The gross backlog of customer orders and contracts in the HPP segment was \$0.8 million as of September 30, 2024 as compared to \$1.8 million as of September 30, 2023. Our backlog can fluctuate greatly. We can experience large fluctuations due to the timing of receipt of large orders often for purchases from prime contractors for sales to the government. It is expected nearly all of the customer orders in backlog will ship and/or be provided through fiscal year 2025.

Significant Customers

See *Note 18 Segment Information* in the notes to the consolidated financial statements for detailed information regarding customers which comprised more than 10% of consolidated revenues for the years ended September 30, 2024 and 2023.

Employees

As of September 30, 2024, we had approximately 111 full time equivalent employees worldwide for our consolidated operations. None of our employees are represented by a labor union and we have had no work stoppages in the last three fiscal years. We consider relations with our employees to be good.

Company Website

The United States Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") maintains an internet site (www.sec.gov) that contains reports, proxy and information statements, and other information regarding issuers that file electronically with the SEC. The Company's internet address is http://www.cspi.com. Through that address, the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and amendments to those reports are available free of charge as soon as reasonably practicable after they are filed with the SEC. The information contained on the Company's website is not included in, nor incorporated by reference into, this annual report on Form 10-K.

Financial Information about Geographic Areas

Information regarding our sales by geographic area and percentage of sales based on the location to which the products are shipped or services rendered are in *Note 18 Segment Information* of the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

If any of the risks and uncertainties set forth below actually materialize, our business, financial condition and/or results of operations could be materially and adversely affected, the trading price of our common stock could decline and a stockholder could lose all or part of its, his or her investment. The risks and uncertainties set forth below are not the only ones we face. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us or that we currently consider immaterial may also impair our business operations.

Economic, Industry, and Operational Risks

We depend on a small number of customers for a significant portion of our revenue and the loss of any customer could significantly affect our business.

Both the HPP and TS segments are reliant upon a small number of significant customers, and the loss of or significant reduction in sales to any one of which could have a material adverse effect on our business. For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2024 and 2023 no one customer accounted for 10% or more of our total revenues for the fiscal year. Our revenues are largely dependent upon the ability of our customers to continue to grow or need services or to develop and sell products that incorporate our products. No assurance can be given that our customers will not experience financial or other difficulties that could adversely affect their operations and, in turn, our results of operations.

We depend on key personnel and skilled employees and face competition in hiring and retaining qualified employees.

We are largely dependent upon the skills and efforts of our senior management, managerial, sales and technical employees. None of our senior management personnel or other key employees are subject to any employment contracts except Victor Dellovo, our Chief Executive Officer and President. The loss of services of any of our executives or other key personnel could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. Our future success will depend to a significant extent on our ability to attract, train, motivate and retain highly skilled technical professionals. Our ability to maintain and renew existing engagements and obtain new business depends, in large part, on our ability to hire and retain technical personnel with skills that keep pace with continuing changes in our industry standards and technologies. The inability to hire additional qualified personnel could impair our ability to satisfy or grow our client base. There can be no assurance that we will be successful in retaining current or future employees.

Our success depends in part on our timely introduction of new products and technologies and our results can be impacted by the effectiveness of our significant investments in new products and technologies.

We have made significant investments in our ARIA cyber security products and services that may not achieve expected returns. We will continue to make significant investments in research, development, and marketing for ARIA products, services, and technologies. Commercial success depends on many factors, including innovativeness, developer support, and effective distribution and marketing. If customers do not perceive our latest offerings as providing significant new functionality or other value, they may reduce their purchases of new software and hardware products or upgrades, unfavorably affecting revenue. We may not achieve significant revenue from new product, service, and distribution channel investments for several years. New products and services may not be profitable, and even if they are profitable, operating margins for some new products and businesses may not be as high as the margins we have experienced historically. Developing new technologies and products is complex. It can require long development and testing periods. Significant delays in new releases or significant problems in creating new products or services could adversely affect our revenue.

To be successful, we must respond to the rapid changes in technology. If we are unable to do so on a timely basis our business could be materially adversely affected.

Our future success will depend in large part on our ability to enhance our current products and to develop new commercial products on a timely and cost-effective basis in order to respond to technological developments and changing customer needs. The design-in process is typically lengthy and expensive and there can be no assurance that we will be able to continue to meet the product specifications of our customers in a timely and adequate manner. In addition, if we fail to anticipate or to respond adequately to changes in technology and customer preferences, or if there is any significant delay in product developments or introductions, this could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations, including the risk of inventory obsolescence. Because of the complexity of our products, we have experienced delays from time to time in completing products on a timely basis. If we are unable to design, develop or introduce competitive new products on a timely basis, our future operating results would be adversely affected, particularly in our HPP segment. There can be no assurance that we will be successful in developing new products or enhancing our existing products on a timely or cost-effective basis, or that such new products or product enhancements will achieve market acceptance.

The complexity of our products, particularly in the HPP segment, could result in unforeseen delays or expense or undetected defects or bugs, which could adversely affect the market acceptance of new products, damage our reputation with current or prospective customers, and materially and adversely affect our operating costs.

Highly complex products, such as those we offer, may contain defects and bugs when they are first introduced or as new versions, software documentation or enhancements are released, or their release may be delayed due to unforeseen difficulties during product development. If any of our products or third-party components used in our products contain defects or bugs, or have reliability, quality or compatibility problems, we may not be able to successfully design workarounds. Furthermore, if any of these problems are not discovered until after we have commenced commercial production or deployment of a new product, we may be required to incur additional development costs and product recall, repair or replacement costs. Significant technical challenges also arise with our software products because our customers license and deploy our products across a variety of computer platforms and integrate them with a number of third-party software applications and databases. As a result, if there is system-wide failure or an actual or perceived breach of information integrity, security or availability occurs in one of our end-user customer's system, it can be difficult to determine which product is at fault and we could ultimately be harmed by the failure of another supplier's product. Consequently, our reputation may be damaged and customers may be reluctant to buy our products, which could materially and adversely affect our ability to retain existing customers and attract new customers. To resolve these problems, we may have to invest significant capital and other resources and we would likely lose, or experience a delay in, market acceptance of the affected product or products. These problems may also result in claims against us by our customers or others. For example, if a delay in the manufacture and delivery of our products causes the delay of a customer's end-product delivery, we may be required, under the terms of our agreement with that customer, to compensate the customer for the adverse effects of such delays. As a result, our financial results could be materially adversely affected.

Our international operation is subject to a number of risks.

We market and sell our products in certain international markets and we have established operations in the U.K. Foreign-based revenue is determined based on the location to which the product is shipped or services are rendered and represented 3% and 3% of our total revenue for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. If revenues generated by foreign activities are not adequate to offset the expense of establishing and maintaining these foreign activities, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be materially adversely affected. In addition, there are certain risks inherent in transacting business internationally, such as changes in applicable laws and regulatory requirements, export and import restrictions, export controls relating to technology, tariffs and other trade barriers, longer payment cycles, problems in collecting accounts receivable, political instability, fluctuations in currency exchange rates, expatriation controls and potential adverse tax consequences, any of which could adversely impact the success of our international activities. In particular, it is possible activity in the United Kingdom and the rest of Europe will be adversely impacted and that we will face increased regulatory and legal complexities, including those related to tax, trade, and employee relations as a result of Brexit. A portion of our revenues are from sales to foreign entities, including foreign governments, which are primarily paid in the form of foreign currencies. There can be no assurance that one or more of

such factors will not have a material adverse effect on our future international activities and, consequently, on our business, financial condition or results of operations.

We face competition that could adversely affect our sales and profitability.

The markets for our products are highly competitive and are characterized by rapidly changing technology, frequent product performance improvements and evolving industry standards. Many of our competitors are substantially larger than we are and have greater access to capital and human resources and in many cases price their products and services less than ours. In addition, due to the rapidly changing nature of technology, new competitors may emerge. Competitors may be able to offer more attractive pricing or develop products that could offer performance features that are superior to our products, resulting in reduced demand for our products. Such competitors could have a negative impact on our ability to win future business opportunities. There can be no assurance that a new competitor will not attempt to penetrate the various markets for our products and services. Their entry into markets historically targeted by us could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Pandemics, epidemics or disease outbreaks, such as the novel coronavirus ("COVID-19"), may materially adversely affect our business, results of operations, cash flows and financial condition.

Pandemics, epidemics, or disease outbreaks, such as COVID-19 may cause harm to us, our employees, our clients, our vendors and supply chain partners, and financial institutions, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, cash flows, and financial condition. The impact of a pandemic, epidemic, or other disease outbreak, such as COVID-19, may include, but would not be limited to: (i) disruption to operations due to the unavailability of employees due to illness, quarantines, risk of illness, travel restrictions or factors that limit our existing or potential workforce; (ii) volatility in the demand for or availability of our products and services, (iii) inability to meet our customers' needs due to disruptions in the manufacture, sourcing and distribution of our products and services, or (iv) failure of third parties on which we rely, including our suppliers, clients, and external business partners, to meet their obligations to us, or significant disruptions in their ability to do so.

Government Contracting Risks

During certain fiscal years, we may depend on contracts with the federal government, primarily with the Department of Defense ("DoD"), for a portion of our revenue, and our business could be seriously harmed if the government significantly decreased or ceased doing business with us.

We derived below 1% of our total revenue in fiscal year 2024 and 5% of our total revenue in fiscal year 2023 from the DoD as a subcontractor. Although we only derived 1% of our total revenue in fiscal year 2024, we expect that the DoD contracts to continue to be important to our business for the foreseeable future. If we were suspended or debarred from contracting with the federal government generally, the General Services Administration, or any significant agency in the intelligence community or the DoD, if our reputation or relationship with government agencies were to be impaired, or if the government otherwise ceased doing business with us or significantly decreased the amount of business it does with us, our business, prospects, financial condition and operating results would be materially and adversely affected.

Our business could be adversely affected by changes in budgetary priorities of the federal government.

Because we derive a significant percentage of our revenue from contracts with the federal government, changes in federal government budgetary priorities could directly affect our financial performance. A significant decline in government expenditures, a shift of expenditures away from programs that we support or a change in federal government contracting policies could cause federal government agencies to reduce their purchases under contracts, to exercise their right to terminate contracts at any time without penalty or not to exercise options to renew contracts.

In years when Congress does not complete its budget process before the end of its fiscal year (September 30), government operations are funded through a continuing resolution ("CR") that temporarily funds federal agencies. Recent CRs have generally provided funding at the levels provided in the previous fiscal year and have not authorized new spending initiatives. When the federal government operates under a CR, delays can occur in the procurement of products

and services. Historically, such delays have not had a material effect on our business; however, should funding of the federal government by CR be prolonged or extended, it could have significant consequences for our business and our industry.

Additionally, our business could be seriously affected if changes in DoD priorities reduces the demand for our services on contracts supporting some operations and maintenance activities or if we experience an increase in set-asides for small businesses, which could result in our inability to compete directly for contracts.

U.S. Federal government contracts contain numerous provisions that are unfavorable to us.

U.S. Federal government contracts contain provisions and are subject to laws and regulations that give the government rights and remedies, some of which are not typically found in commercial contracts, including allowing the government to:

- cancel multi-year contracts and related orders if funds for contract performance for any subsequent year become unavailable;
- claim rights in systems and software developed by us;
- suspend or debar us from doing business with the federal government or with a governmental agency;
- impose fines and penalties and subject us to criminal prosecution; and
- control or prohibit the export of our data and technology.

If the government terminates a contract for convenience, we may recover only our incurred or committed costs, settlement expenses and profit on work completed prior to the termination. If the government terminates a contract for default, we may be unable to recover even those amounts, and instead may be liable for excess costs incurred by the government in procuring undelivered items and services from another source. Depending on the value of a contract, such termination could cause our actual results to differ materially and adversely from those anticipated.

As is common with government contractors, we have experienced and continue to experience occasional performance issues under certain of our contracts. Depending upon the value of the matters affected, a performance problem that impacts our performance of a program or contract could cause our actual results to differ materially and adversely from those anticipated.

Intellectual Property and Systems Risks

We may be unsuccessful in protecting our intellectual property rights which could result in the loss of a competitive advantage.

Our ability to compete effectively against other companies in our industry depends, in part, on our ability to protect our current and future proprietary technology under patent, copyright, trademark, trade secret and unfair competition laws. We cannot assure that our means of protecting our proprietary rights in the United States or abroad will be adequate, or that others will not develop technologies similar or superior to our technology or design around our proprietary rights. In addition, we may incur substantial costs in attempting to protect our proprietary rights.

Also, despite the steps taken by us to protect our proprietary rights, it may be possible for unauthorized third parties to copy or reverse-engineer aspects of our products develop similar technology independently or otherwise obtain and use information that we regard as proprietary and we may be unable to successfully identify or prosecute unauthorized uses of our technology. Furthermore, with respect to our issued patents and patent applications, we cannot assure that patents from any pending patent applications (or from any future patent applications) will be issued, that the scope of any patent protection will include competitors or provide competitive advantages to us, that any of our patents will be held

valid if subsequently challenged or that others will not claim rights in or ownership of the patents (and patent applications) and other proprietary rights held by us.

If we become subject to intellectual property infringement claims, we could incur significant expenses and could be prevented from selling specific products.

We may become subject to claims that we infringe the intellectual property rights of others in the future. We cannot assure that, if made, these claims will not be successful. Any claim of infringement could cause us to incur substantial costs defending against the claim even if the claim is invalid and could distract management from other business. Any judgment against us could require substantial payment in damages and could also include an injunction or other court order that could prevent us from offering certain products.

We need to continue to expend resources on research and development ("R&D") efforts in our HPP segment, to meet the needs of our customers. If we are unable to do so, our products could become less attractive to customers and our business could be materially adversely affected.

Our industry requires a continued investment in R&D. As a result of our need to maintain or increase our spending levels for R&D in this area and the difficulty in reducing costs associated with R&D, our operating results could be materially harmed if our revenues fall below expectations. In addition, as a result of CSPi's commitment to invest in R&D, spending as a percent of revenues may fluctuate in the future. Further, if we fail to invest sufficiently in R&D or our R&D does not produce competitive results, our products may become less attractive to our customers or potential customers, which could materially harm our business and results of operations.

Our need for continued or increased investment in research and development may increase expenses and reduce our profitability.

Our industry is characterized by the need for continued investment in research and development. If we fail to invest sufficiently in research and development, our products could become less attractive to potential customers and our business and financial condition could be materially and adversely affected. As a result of the need to maintain or increase spending levels in this area and the difficulty in reducing costs associated with research and development, our operating results could be materially harmed if our research and development efforts fail to result in new products or if revenues fall below expectations. In addition, as a result of our commitment to invest in research and development, spending levels of research and development expenses as a percentage of revenues may fluctuate in the future.

Our results of operations are subject to fluctuation from period to period and may not be an accurate indication of future performance.

We have experienced fluctuations in operating results in large part due to the sale of products and services in relatively large dollar amounts to a relatively small number of customers. Customers specify delivery date requirements that coincide with their need for our products and services. Because these customers may use our products and services in connection with a variety of defense programs or other projects with different sizes and durations, a customer's orders for one quarter generally do not indicate a trend for future orders by that customer. As such, we have not been able in the past to consistently predict when our customers will place orders and request shipments so that we cannot always accurately plan our manufacturing, inventory, and working capital requirements. As a result, if orders and shipments differ from what we predict, we may incur additional expenses and build excess inventory, which may require additional reserves and allowances and reduce our working capital and operational flexibility. Any significant change in our customers' purchasing patterns could have a material adverse effect on our operating results and reported earnings per share for a particular quarter. Thus, results of operations in any period should not be considered indicative of the results to be expected for any future period.

Our quarterly results may be subject to fluctuations resulting from a number of other factors, including:

• delays in completion of internal product development projects;

- delays in shipping hardware and software;
- delays in acceptance testing by customers;
- a change in the mix of products sold to our served markets;
- changes in customer order patterns;
- production delays due to quality problems with outsourced components;
- inability to scale quick reaction capability products due to low product volume;
- shortages and costs of components;
- the timing of product line transitions;
- declines in quarterly revenues from previous generations of products following announcement of replacement products containing more advanced technology;
- inability to realize the expected benefits from acquisitions and restructurings, or delays in realizing such benefits;
- potential asset impairment, including goodwill and intangibles, write-off of deferred tax assets or restructuring charges; and
- changes in estimates of completion on fixed price service engagements.

In addition, from time to time, we have entered into contracts, referred to as development contracts, to engineer a specific solution based on modifications to standard products. Gross margins from development contract revenues are typically lower than gross margins from standard product revenues. We intend to continue to enter into development contracts and anticipate that the gross margins associated with development contract revenues will continue to be lower than gross margins from standard product sales.

Another factor contributing to fluctuations in our quarterly results is the fixed nature of expenditures on personnel, facilities and marketing programs. Expense levels for these programs are based, in significant part, on expectations of future revenues. If actual quarterly revenues are below management's expectations, our results of operations will likely be adversely affected. Further, the preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the dates of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. Actual results could differ from those estimates, and changes in estimates in subsequent periods could cause our results of operations to fluctuate.

If we experience a disaster or other business continuity problem, we may not be able to recover successfully, which could cause material financial loss, loss of human capital, regulatory actions, reputational harm, or legal liability.

If we experience a local or regional disaster or other business continuity problem, such as a hurricane, earthquake, terrorist attack, pandemic or other natural or man-made disaster, our continued success will depend, in part, on the availability of our personnel, our office facilities, and the proper functioning of our computer, telecommunication and other related systems and operations. As we grow our operations, the potential for particular types of natural or man-made disasters, political, economic or infrastructure instabilities, or other country- or region-specific business continuity risks increases.

If we suffer any data breaches involving the designs, schematics, or source code for our products or other sensitive information, our business and financial results could be adversely affected.

We securely store our designs, schematics, and source code for our products as they are created. A breach, whether physical, electronic or otherwise, of the systems on which this sensitive data is stored could lead to damage or piracy of our products. If we are subject to data security breaches from external sources or from an insider threat, we may have a loss in sales or increased costs arising from the restoration or implementation of additional security measures, either of which could adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations. Other potential costs could include loss of brand value, incident response costs, loss of stock market value, regulatory inquiries, litigation, and management distraction. In addition, a security breach that involved classified information could subject us to civil or criminal penalties, loss of a government contract, loss of access to classified information, or debarment as a government contractor. Similarly, a breach that involved loss of customer-provided data could subject us to loss of a customer, loss of a contract, litigation costs and legal damages, and reputational harm.

Systems failures may disrupt our business and have an adverse effect on our results of operations.

Any systems failures, including network, software or hardware failures, whether caused by us, a third party service provider, unauthorized intruders and hackers, computer viruses, natural disasters, power shortages or terrorist attacks, could cause loss of data or interruptions or delays in our business or that of our clients and reputational harm as a security provider. Like other companies, we have experienced cyber security threats to our data and systems, our company sensitive information, and our information technology infrastructure, including malware and computer virus attacks, unauthorized access, systems failures and temporary disruptions. We may experience similar security threats at customer sites that we operate and manage as a contractual requirement. Prior cyber attacks directed at us have not had a material adverse impact on our business or our financial results, and we believe that our continuing commitment toward threat detection and mitigation processes and procedures will help us minimize or avoid such impact in the future. Due to the evolving nature of these security threats, however, the impact of any future incident cannot be predicted.

In addition, the failure or disruption of our email, communications or utilities could cause us to interrupt or suspend our operations or otherwise harm our business. Our property and business interruption insurance may be inadequate to compensate us for all losses that may occur as a result of any system or operational failure or disruption and, as a result, our actual results could differ materially and adversely from those anticipated.

The systems and networks that we maintain for our clients, although highly redundant in their design, could also fail. If a system or network we maintain were to fail or experience service interruptions, we might experience loss of revenue or face claims for damages or contract termination. Our errors and omissions liability insurance may be inadequate to compensate us for all the damages that we might incur and, as a result, our actual results could differ materially and adversely from those anticipated.

Our business, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected by disruptions in the global economy caused by the ongoing conflict between Russia and Ukraine.

The global economy has been negatively impacted by the military conflict between Russia and Ukraine. Furthermore, governments in the United States, United Kingdom and European Union have each imposed export controls on certain products and financial and economic sanctions on certain industry sectors and parties in Russia. Although we do not have significant customers or suppliers in Russia or Ukraine, we do have customers and suppliers in surrounding regions which may be affected. Further escalation of Russian-Ukraine military conflict and geopolitical tensions related to such military conflict, including increased trade barriers or restrictions on global trade, could result in, among other things, cyber attacks, supply disruptions, lower consumer demand, and changes to foreign exchange rates and financial markets, any of which may adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. The effects of the ongoing conflict could heighten many of our known risks described in these "Risk Factors."

Our business, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected by disruptions in the global economy caused by the ongoing conflict between Israel and Hamas.

The global economy has been negatively impacted by the military conflict between Israel and Hamas. There could be an expansion of the countries involved, which could lead to significant detrimental effects to the global economy. Although we do not have significant customers or suppliers in the Middle East region, we do have customers and suppliers in surrounding regions which may be affected. Further escalation of the Israel and Hamas conflict and geopolitical tensions related to such military conflict, including increased trade barriers or restrictions on global trade, could result in, among other things, cyber attacks, supply disruptions, lower consumer demand, and changes to foreign exchange rates and financial markets, any of which may adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. The effects of the ongoing conflict could heighten many of our known risks described in these "Risk Factors."

Legal and Regulatory Risks.

Changes in regulations could materially adversely affect us.

Our business, results of operations, or financial condition could be materially adversely affected if laws, regulations, or standards relating to us or our products are newly implemented or changed. In addition, our compliance with existing regulations may have a material adverse impact on us. Under applicable federal securities laws, we are required to evaluate and determine the effectiveness of our internal control structure and procedures. If we have a material weakness in our internal controls, our results of operations or financial condition may be materially adversely affected, or our stock price may decline.

Risks Related to Ownership of Our Common Stock

Failure to remediate and then maintain our internal control over our financial reporting could cause our financial reports to be inaccurate.

We are required to maintain internal control over financial reporting and to assess and report on the effectiveness of those controls. This assessment includes disclosure of any material weaknesses identified by our management in our internal control over financial reporting. Our management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was ineffective as of September 30, 2024, and identified certain material weaknesses in our internal controls. While management is working to remediate the material weaknesses, there is no assurance that such changes will remediate the identified material weaknesses or that the controls will prevent or detect future material weaknesses. If we are not able to maintain effective internal control over financial reporting, our financial statements, including related disclosures, may be inaccurate, which could have a material adverse effect on our business

Failure to maintain our accounting systems and controls could impair our ability to comply with the financial reporting and internal controls requirements for publicly traded companies.

As a public company, we operate in an increasingly demanding regulatory environment, which requires us to comply with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, and the related rules and regulations of the SEC. Company responsibilities required by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act include establishing corporate oversight and adequate internal control over financial reporting and disclosure controls and procedures. Effective internal controls are necessary for us to produce reliable financial reports and are important to help prevent financial fraud.

Because we are a smaller reporting company and a non-accelerated filer, we are not required to comply with the auditor attestation requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. However, we must perform system and process evaluation and testing of our internal control over financial reporting to allow management to report on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting in this report and future annual reports on Form 10-K, as required by Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. This requires that we incur substantial additional professional fees and internal costs to expand our accounting and finance functions and that we expend significant management efforts.

As of September 30, 2024, we discovered material weaknesses in our system of internal financial and accounting controls and procedures that could result in a material misstatement of our financial statements. Our internal control over financial reporting will not prevent or detect all errors and all fraud. A control system, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the control system's objectives will be met. Because

of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that misstatements due to error or fraud will not occur or that all control issues and instances of fraud will be detected.

If we are not able to comply with the requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, or if we are unable to remediate or maintain proper and effective internal controls, we may not be able to produce timely and accurate financial statements. If we cannot provide reliable financial reports or prevent fraud, our business and results of operations could be harmed, and investors could lose confidence in our reported financial information.

Our stock price may continue to be volatile.

Historically, the market for technology stocks has been extremely volatile. Our common stock has experienced and may continue to experience substantial price volatility. The following factors could cause the market price of our common stock to fluctuate significantly:

- loss of a major customer;
- loss of a major supplier;
- inflationary pressures;
- the addition or departure of key personnel;
- variations in our quarterly operating results;
- announcements by us or our competitors of significant contracts, new products or product enhancements;
- acquisitions, distribution partnerships, joint ventures or capital commitments;
- regulatory changes;
- sales of our common stock or other securities in the future;
- · changes in market valuations of technology companies; and
- fluctuations in stock market prices and volumes.

In addition, the stock market in general and the NASDAQ Global Market and technology companies in particular, have experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations that have often been unrelated or disproportionate to the operating performance of such companies. These broad market and industry factors may materially adversely affect the market price of our common stock, regardless of our actual operating performance. In the past, following periods of volatility in the market price of a company's securities, securities class action litigation has often been instituted against such companies. If any shareholder were to issue a lawsuit, we could incur substantial costs defending the lawsuit and the attention of management could be diverted.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.

Not applicable.

Item 1C. Cybersecurity

Risk Management and Strategy

We have implemented a comprehensive cybersecurity risk management strategy to evaluate, detect, and mitigate significant risks posed by cybersecurity threats. The Information Security Risk component of our overall Risk Management Policy outlines our approach to manage processes, people and technology to address and meet the ever-changing challenges in the global IT security landscape. Our program aims to safeguard our systems, data, and operations against cyber threats, maintain business continuity, ensure compliance with relevant privacy and other regulations, and fulfill our commitments to members, customers, suppliers, employees, and other stakeholders.

Our cybersecurity program is designed to align with and meet the rigorous standards set by industry frameworks such as NIST, SOC 2 Type 2, and other relevant guidelines. By adhering to these frameworks, we ensure that our security measures are robust, comprehensive, and effective in protecting our systems, data, and operations. This commitment not only helps us maintain compliance with regulatory requirements but also demonstrates our dedication to providing a secure environment for our members, customers, suppliers, employees, and other stakeholders.

Risk Assessment; Third Party Assessments and Audits

An information security Risk Assessment (RA) is conducted annually or following any significant changes to the operating or sensitive data environments to identify vulnerabilities and implement appropriate controls and risk mitigation strategies. These assessments can be conducted on any entity within CSPi or any external entity that has signed a Third-Party Agreement with CSPi, covering information systems, applications, servers, networks, and related processes. The IT Manager, along with the responsible department, oversees the execution, development, and implementation of remediation programs. The RA process involves assembling a team, defining the scope, identifying business and IT owners, conducting interviews, reviewing controls and incidents, developing a threat/risk matrix, and preparing an executive summary with recommendations. The Executive Team reviews and approves the recommendations, and a project is initiated to implement the necessary controls and procedures, which are tested quarterly.

Incident Response Planning

Our incident response policies and procedures are aligned with applicable laws and state policies. They encompass the identification of roles and responsibilities, investigation, containment and escalation procedures, documentation and preservation of evidence, communication protocols, and lessons learned.

We have established robust incident reporting policies and procedures. These include training employees and contractors to recognize and report incidents promptly upon discovery, as well as preparing and submitting follow-up written reports.

To date, no cybersecurity incident has resulted in any material impact on our business, operations or financial results or our ability to service our customers or run our business.

Governance

A formal process exists through our enterprise risk management matrix developed by the management team of the Company that tracks the Company's material risks, associated mitigation and remediation strategies and direct accountability which is submitted quarterly to the Audit Committee for review and oversight.

The management team consists our Vice President and General Manager of the High Performance Products segment, which has developed cybersecurity software at the Company that multiple Fortune 500 companies are currently using. In addition, he has been the Chief Technical Officer and served in various roles at several cybersecurity companies over his 40 year career. He holds a Bachelor of Science in Business and Engineering as well as a Masters of Science in

Finance. Also on the team is the Vice President of Managed services at the Technology Solutions segment, who has over twenty years of technology experience including the monitoring and management of other oganization's security systems.

Item 2. Properties

Listed below are our principal facilities as of September 30, 2024. Management considers all facilities listed below to be suitable for the purpose(s) for which they are used, including manufacturing, research and development, sales, marketing, service and administration.

		Owned	Annuarimata
Location	Principal Use	Leased	Approximate Floor Area
HPP Segment Properties:			
CSP Inc.	Corporate Headquarters	Leased	8,257 S.F.
175 Cabot Street, Suite 210	Manufacturing, Sales,		
Lowell, MA 01854	Marketing and		
	Administration		
TS Segment Properties:			
Modcomp, Inc.	Division Headquarters	Leased	11,815 S.F.
1182 East Newport Center Drive	Sales, Marketing and		
Deerfield Beach, FL 33442	Administration		
Modcomp, Ltd.	Sales, Marketing and	Leased	484 S.F.
Indigo House, Mulberry Business Park	Administration		
Wokingham, Berkshire RG41 2GY			
United Kingdom			

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

We are currently not a party to any material legal proceedings.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not Applicable.

PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Purchases of equity securities. On February 8, 2011, the Board of Directors authorized the Company to repurchase up to 500 thousand additional shares of the Company's outstanding common stock (retroactively adjusted for the effects of a stock split effected in the form of a 100% stock dividend, see Note 1 in this Form 10-K) at market price. The plan does not expire. The stock repurchase program may be suspended, terminated, or modified at any time for any reason.

Common stock of CSP Inc. may be repurchased on the open market at the discretion of management. Open market repurchases will be made in compliance with the Securities and Exchanges Commission's Rule 10b-18 in addition to complying with applicable legal and other considerations. Below are the purchases that have been made for the three months ended September 30, 2024.

Period	Total number of shares purchased	Average price paid per share	Total number of shares purchased as part of publicly announced plans	Maximum number that may yet be purchased under the repurchase plan
August 1-31, 2024	100	\$ 13.96	100	337,354
September 1-30, 2024	2,700	\$ 12.04	2,700	334,654

Market information. Our common stock is traded on the Nasdaq Global Market under the symbol CSPI. The following table provides the high and low sales prices of our common stock as reported on the Nasdaq Global Market for the periods indicated. Amounts below are retroactively adjusted for the effects of a two for one stock split effected in the form of a 100% stock dividend February 21, 2024.

		2024		2023			
Fiscal Year:	High		Low		High		Low
1st Quarter	\$ 13.85	\$	8.00	\$	4.73	\$	3.51
2nd Quarter	\$ 27.95	\$	9.10	\$	6.80	\$	4.71
3rd Quarter	\$ 19.57	\$	12.20	\$	7.40	\$	5.25
4th Quarter	\$ 17.82	\$	11.25	\$	11.80	\$	5.08

Stockholders. We had approximately 64 holders of record of our common stock as of December 20, 2024. This number does not include stockholders for whom shares were held in a "nominee" or "street" name. We believe the number of beneficial owners of our shares of common stock (including shares held in street name) at that date was approximately 2,639.

Dividends. For the fiscal years ended September 30, 2024 and 2023 the Company paid cash dividends as follows:

Fiscal Year	Date Declared	Record Date	Date Paid	ount Paid er Share
2023 ⁽¹⁾	12/6/2022	12/21/2022	1/6/2023	\$ 0.015
2023 ⁽¹⁾	2/8/2023	2/24/2023	3/14/2023	\$ 0.015
2023 ⁽¹⁾	5/10/2023	5/25/2023	6/13/2023	\$ 0.020
2023(1)	8/9/2023	8/23/2023	9/12/2023	\$ 0.020
2024(1)	12/12/2023	12/22/2023	1/9/2024	\$ 0.020
2024 ⁽¹⁾	2/14/2024	2/26/2024	3/8/2024	\$ 0.025
2024	5/8/2024	5/24/2024	6/12/2024	\$ 0.030
2024	8/13/2024	8/23/2024	9/10/2024	\$ 0.030

(1) Retroactively adjusted for the effects of a two for one stock split effected in the form of a 100% stock dividend (see Note 1)

Item 6. [Reserved]

Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

This management's discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations and other portions of this filing contain forward-looking information that involves risks and uncertainties. Our actual results could differ materially from those anticipated by the forward-looking information. You should review the "Special Note Regarding Forward Looking Statements" and "Risk Factors" sections of this annual report for a discussion of important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from the results described in or implied by the forward-looking statements contained in the following discussion and analysis. The following discussion should be read in conjunction with our financial statements and the related notes included elsewhere in this filing.

Recent trends affecting our financial performance

As of September 30, 2024, the Russian/Ukrainian military conflict and the Israeli-Hamas conflict have not had a direct significant impact on revenue as we do not have any significant recurring customers in either region. However, we do have customers and suppliers in surrounding regions which may be affected and further escalation of both conflicts and geopolitical tensions related to such conflicts could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations, by among other things, cyberattacks, supply disruptions, lower consumer demand, and changes to foreign exchange rates and financial markets. It is not possible at this time to predict the size of the impact or consequences of the conflicts on the Company and our customers or suppliers.

Overview of Fiscal 2024 Results of Operations

Revenue decreased by approximately \$9.4 million, or 15%, to \$55.2 million for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2024 compared to \$64.6 million for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2023.

Gross profit margin percentage remained consistent at 34% for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2024 and 2023.

We generated an operating loss of \$(1.9) million for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2024 as compared to operating income of \$1.9 million for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2023.

Other income, net was \$1.5 million for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2024 as compared to \$2.9 million for the prior year.

The Company recorded an income tax benefit of \$(93) thousand, which reflected an effective tax rate of 22.2%, for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2024 compared to an income tax benefit of \$(469) thousand, which reflected an effective tax rate of (9.9)% for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2023.

The following table details our results of operations in dollars and as a percentage of sales for the fiscal years ended:

of sales 100 %
100 %
100 %
100 /0
66 %
5 %
26 %
97 %
3 %
4 %
7 %
(1)%
8 %

Revenues

Revenue decreased by approximately \$9.4 million, or approximately 15%, to \$55.2 million for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2024 compared to \$64.6 million for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2023.

TS segment revenue changes by products and services for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2024 and 2023 were as follows:

	September 30,		Increase (de	ecrease)
	2024	2023	\$	%
Products	\$ 34,194	\$ 41,674	\$ (7,480)	(18)%
Services	16,871	16,100	771	5 %
Total	\$ 51,065	\$ 57,774	\$ (6,709)	(12)%

Our TS segment revenue decreased by approximately \$6.7 million consisting of a decrease of \$6.6 million in our U.S. division combined with a decrease of \$0.1 million in our U.K. division. The decrease in TS segment product revenue of \$7.5 million during the period was the result of a \$7.4 million decrease in the U.S. division combined with a decrease of \$0.1 million in the U.K. division. Interest rates were relatively high compared to prior years in fiscal year 2024 along with inflation which caused economic uncertainty and some reduced customer spending on products. The decrease in our U.S. division product revenue year over year was primarily associated with several existing major customers, partially offset by an increase with several new major customers and existing customers. The decrease in the U.K. division year over year was primarily associated with two major customers. The increase in TS segment service revenue of \$0.8 million as compared to the prior year was in the U.S. division. In fiscal year 2024 as compared to the prior year, the U.S. division had an increase of \$1.1 million in third party maintenance revenue, an increase of \$0.4 million in managed services, partially offset by a decrease of \$0.7 million in internal services.

HPP segment revenue changes by product and services for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2024 and 2023 were as follows:

		September 30,		Increase (dec		ecrease)	
	_	2024		2023		\$	%
			(Dolla	ır amount	s in	thousands)	
Products	\$	2,599	\$	5,475	\$	(2,876)	(53)%
Services		1,555		1,398		157	11 %
Total	\$	4,154	\$	6,873	\$	(2,719)	(40)%

Our HPP segment revenue decreased by approximately \$2.7 million or 40%. The decrease in HPP product revenue of \$2.9 million in the fiscal year ended September 30, 2024 was primarily the result of two major non-recurring transactions of \$1.8 million and \$1.2 million in the prior year along with several other customers, partially offset by one major AZT sale in fiscal year 2024. The increase in HPP service revenue of approximately \$0.2 million for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2024 was primarily the result of a \$0.5 million increase in ARIA revenue, partially offset with a decrease of \$0.3 million in royalty revenues on high-speed processing boards related to the E2D program as compared to the fiscal year ended September 30, 2023.

Our total revenues by geographic area based on the location to which the products were shipped or services rendered were as follows:

		September 30,				Increase (decrease)		
	2024	%	2023	%	\$	%		
	·	(]	Dollar amount	s in thousands)				
Americas	\$ 53,308	97 %	\$ 62,763	97 % \$	(9,455)	(15)%		
Europe	1,125	2 %	1,429	2 %	(304)	(21)%		
Asia-Pacific	786	1 %	455	1 %	331	73 %		
Totals	\$ 55,219	100 %	\$ 64,647	100 % \$	(9,428)	(15)%		

The \$9.5 million decrease in the Americas revenue for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2024 as compared to the fiscal year ended September 30, 2023 was primarily due to decreased revenue by our TS-US division of \$7.0 million, decreased revenue by our TS-UK division of \$0.1 million, and decreased revenue by our HPP segment of \$2.4 million. Sales to Europe decreased by \$0.3 million primarily due to a decrease by our HPP segment of \$0.3 million. Sales to Europe in the TS segment remained flat with an increase in the TS-US division of \$0.1 million. Sales to Asia-Pacific increased \$0.4 million due to the TS-US division.

Gross Margins

Our gross margin ("GM") decreased by \$3.1 million to \$18.9 million for fiscal year 2024 as compared to GM of approximately \$21.9 million for fiscal year 2023. The total GM as a percentage of revenue remained flat at 34% for fiscal year 2024 and 2023.

The following table summarizes GM changes by segment for fiscal years ended September 30:

		September 30,			
	202	4 2	023	Increase (d	ecrease)
	·	(Dollar amounts in thousands)			<u>.</u>
	GM\$	GM% GM\$	GM%	GM\$	GM%
TS	\$ 16,153	32 % \$ 17,666	31 % 5	(1,513)	1 %
HPP	2,702	65 % 4,254	62 %	(1,552)	3 %
Total	\$ 18,855	34 % \$ 21,920	34 % 5	(3,065)	— %

The impact of product mix within our TS segment on gross margins for the fiscal years ended September 30 was as follows:

		Septembe	er 30,				
		2024	2023		Increase (d	lecrease)	
	GM\$	GM%	GM\$	GM%	GM\$	GM%	
		(E	ollar amount	s in thousands)			
Products	\$ 6,130	18 %	\$ 8,197	20 % \$	(2,067)	(2)%	
Services	10,023	59 %	9,469	59 %	554	%	
Total	\$ 16,153	32 %	\$ 17,666	31 % \$	(1,513)	1 %	

The overall TS segment GM as a percentage of revenue increased to 32% in fiscal year 2024 from 31% in fiscal year 2023. The \$2.1 million product GM decrease in fiscal year 2024 as compared to the prior year resulted from a decrease in the U.S. division. Product GM as a percentage of revenue decreased 2% for fiscal year 2024 compared to the prior year due to product mix. The \$0.6 million increase in our TS segment service GM in fiscal year 2024 as compared to the prior year resulted from an increase in GM in the U.S. division. Service GM as a percentage of revenue remained flat at 59% in fiscal year 2024 due to increased third party maintenance revenue, which is recorded as net sales meaning all the gross margin is recorded in the services revenue financial statement line item causing increased GM as a percentage of revenue, offset by decreased GM from internal services which have associated fixed costs which decreased the GM as a percentage of revenue.

The impact of product mix on gross margins within our HPP segment for the fiscal years ended September 30 was as follows:

			Septemb	er 3	60,				
	2024		2023		Increase (decrease)		lecrease)		
	(Dollar amounts in thousands)			s in thousands)					
		GM\$	GM%		GM\$	GM%		GM\$	GM%
Products	\$	1,863	72 %	\$	3,428	63 %	\$	(1,565)	9 %
Services		839	54 %		826	59 %		13	(5)%
Total	\$	2,702	65 %	\$	4,254	62 %	\$	(1,552)	3 %

The overall HPP segment GM as a percentage of revenue increased to 65% in fiscal year 2024 from 62% in fiscal year 2023. The GM as a percentage of sales from products increased 9% primarily due to the large ARIA AZT sale which was nearly all GM. The GM as a percentage of sales from services decreased 5% primarily due to decreased Multicomputer royalty revenues, which is nearly all GM and recorded as service revenue.

Engineering and Development Expenses

Our engineering and development expenses are only in our HPP segment. These expenses decreased \$0.1 million to \$3.0 million for fiscal year 2024 from \$3.1 million for fiscal year 2023. This was primarily due to decreased labor expenses of \$0.2 million in fiscal year 2024 when compared to fiscal year 2023, partially offset by increased stock compensation of \$0.1 million. Fiscal year 2024 and 2023 expenses were primarily for product engineering expenses incurred in connection with the further development of the ARIA Zero Trust (AZT) and ARIA SDS cyber security products.

Selling, General and Administrative

The following table details our selling, general and administrative ("SG&A") expenses by operating segment for the years ended September 30, 2024 and 2023:

	Year ended September 30,					
	% of % of % of Total 2023 Total (Dollar amounts in thous:			\$ % Increase Increases		
By Operating Segment:		(=				
TS segment	\$ 13,179	74 % \$ 13,089	77 % \$	90	1 %	
HPP segment	4,592	26 % 3,821	23 %	771	20 %	
Total	\$ 17,771	100 % \$ 16,910	100 % \$	861	5 %	

The TS segment SG&A expenses increased approximately \$0.1 million for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2024 when compared to the prior year. This increase was primarily due to an increase in audit and tax fees of \$0.3 million, an increase in stock compensation expense of \$0.2 million, an increase in actuarial fees of \$0.2 million in connection to preparing to sell the pension in the TS-UK division, partially offset with decreased variable compensation of \$0.3 million and decreased bonus of \$0.3 million.

The HPP segment SG&A expense increase of \$0.8 million for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2024 when compared to the prior year was primarily attributed to increased consulting of \$0.4 million, increased professional services of \$0.2 million, increased selling including travel and events of \$0.2 million, increased stock compensation of \$0.1 million, increased recruiting of \$0.1 million, partially offset by decreased bonuses of \$0.2 million.

Other Income/Expenses

The following table details our other income (expense) for the years ended September 30, 2024 and 2023:

	Twelve months					
	Septemb	er 30, 2024 (Amo		mber 30, 2023 thousands)	\$ Change	
Foreign exchange loss	\$	(438)	\$	(581)	\$	143
Interest expense		(235)		(262)		27
Interest income		2,047		1,460		587
Employee Retention Tax Credit, net of costs to collect		_		2,136	(2,136)
Other income, net		79		112		(33)
Total other income, net	\$	1,453	\$	2,865	\$ (1,412)

For the year ended September 30, 2024 the foreign exchange loss decreased \$0.1 million primarily due to the U.S. dollar weakening less against the British pound in fiscal year 2024 compared to the prior year. The U.K. division has bank accounts with U.S. dollars and Euros. In consolidation, U.S. dollars and Euros are remeasured into the functional currency, British Pounds, of our U.K. subsidiary. This non-cash remeasurement is included in foreign exchange gain or loss on the income statement and the foreign exchange gain or loss is primarily from a U.S. Dollar and Euro bank account. The U.S. Dollar bank account consists of approximately 87% of the currency held in the U.K. subsidiary after remeasurement into U.S. dollars.

Interest expense decreased \$27 thousand for the year ended September 30, 2024 compared to the prior year period primarily due to less interest expense related to multi-year agreements with vendors in the TS U.S. division. Payments on these agreements contain both principal and interest expense. As principal payments are made the interest expense decreases. See *Note 9 Accounts payable and accrued expenses, and Other noncurrent liabilities* in Item 1 to this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Interest income increased \$0.6 million for the year ended September 30, 2024 when compared to the prior year. Interest income from cash and cash equivalents in fiscal year 2024 increased \$0.7 million from prior year due to a significantly higher average balance during fiscal year 2024 earning interest income, partially offset by decreased interest income from multi-year agreements of \$0.1 million. These agreements have payment terms in excess of one year (see *Note 3 Financing Receivables, net* in Item 1 to this Annual Report on Form 10-K for details) and are only in the TS-US segment.

The Employee Retention Tax Credit, net of costs to collect of \$2.1 million was recognized in the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2023. The Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act provided an Employee Retention Credit ("ERC") which is a refundable tax credit against certain employment taxes. The Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2021 extended and expanded the availability of the employee retention credit through December 31, 2021 including amending the employee retention credit to be equal to 70% of qualified wages paid to employees during the 2021 calendar year. Both the TS-US division and HPP segment qualified for the ERC beginning in March 2021 for qualified wages through September 2021. There are no other amounts that will be received related to this credit.

Income Taxes

The Company recorded an income tax benefit of \$(93) thousand, which reflected an effective tax rate of 22.2%, for the year ended September 30, 2024. The provision is primarily driven by the benefit recognized as a result of windfalls for restricted stock awards that vested during the period, offset by the change in valuation allowance. The benefit recorded during the fiscal year was \$189 thousand for the windfall on restricted stock awards vesting during the period and an expense of \$180 thousand for the change in valuation allowances against deferred tax assets.

For the year ended September 30, 2023, the income tax benefit was approximately \$(469) thousand, which reflected an effective tax rate of a (9.9)% benefit. The provision was primarily driven by the benefit recognized as a result of the release of the valuation allowance against the majority of the Company's deferred tax assets. The benefit recorded during the fiscal year was \$1.8 million for valuation allowances released on deferred tax assets related to prior years. The Company also claimed and received the Employee Retention Credit, which resulted in a net benefit of approximately \$134 thousand, after amending prior year returns.

The Company undertakes a review of its valuation allowance at each financial statement period, reviewing the positive and negative evidence to help determine whether it is more likely than not that the Company will realize the future tax benefits from its deferred tax balances. The Company has determined that it is more likely than not that substantially all of its net deferred tax assets in the U.S. jurisdiction will be utilized and that associated valuation allowances should be reversed during year ended September 30, 2024. The Company separately analyzed the realizability of its federal and state credits and determined \$796 thousand (net of federal benefit) of state credits are expected to expire unutilized and kept a valuation allowance against these credits. The Company will continue to maintain a valuation allowance against certain state tax credits in the U.S. and a full valuation allowance against the net deferred tax assets in the U.K. jurisdiction.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Cash Flows

Our primary source of liquidity and capital resources is our cash from operations and our line of credit.

Cash and cash equivalents increased by \$5.4 million to \$30.6 million as of September 30, 2024 from \$25.2 million as of September 30, 2023.

The following is a summary of our cash flows for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2024 and 2023:

	 Year ended						
(Dollar amounts in thousands)	 2024 (Dollar amoun	2023 nts in thousands)					
Net cash provided by (used in):							
Operating activities	\$ 4,213	\$	3,907				
Investing activities	(256)		(341)				
Financing activities	1,379		(2,401)				
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash	32		70				
Increase in cash and cash equivalents	\$ 5,368	\$	1,235				

Operating Activities

Cash provided by operating activities was \$4.2 million for the year ended September 30, 2024 compared to \$3.9 million for the prior year. The increase from prior year is primarily related the change in Accounts payable and accrued expense payments of \$13.0 million as a large payment run at the end of fiscal year 2023 when in fiscal year 2024 there was not and a decrease in pension and retirement plan liabilities of \$0.4 million. The primary decreases include a decrease of net income (loss) change of \$5.5 million, a decrease of \$4.9 million in other assets, and a decrease of \$2.7 million in accounts receivable.

The remaining differences are related to timing differences in operating assets and liabilities.

Investing Activities

Cash used in investing activities was \$258 thousand for the year ended September 30, 2024 compared to \$341 thousand used in investing activities for the prior year. The decrease from the prior year is primarily related to less additions of intangible assets and less purchases of property, equipment, and improvements during fiscal year 2024 when compared to the prior fiscal year.

Financing Activities

Cash provided by financing activities was \$1.4 million for the year ended September 30, 2024 compared to \$2.4 million used in financing activities for the prior year. The primary difference was the timing in the net borrowing on the line-of-credit, which for the year ended September 30, 2024 we had a net borrowing of \$2.7 million compared to a net payment of \$1.6 million in the prior year. Additionally, in fiscal year 2024 there were increased cash dividends paid by \$0.4 million and increased treasury stock repurchases of \$0.1 million compared to the prior fiscal year.

Other Liquidity and Capital Resources Items

Our cash held by our foreign subsidiary in the United Kingdom totaled the equivalent of approximately \$5.4 million as of September 30, 2024, which consisted of 0.4 million Euros, 0.3 million British Pounds, and 4.7 million U.S. Dollars. This cash is included in our total cash and cash equivalents reported within our financial statements. Due to the pension obligation in the U.K., we maintain a large balance of cash in the U.K. Subsequent to September 30, 2024, the U.K. pension assets, excluding cash, were all converted into cash to sell the U.K. pension obligation. As of the date of this filing, there is an agreement to sell the pension obligation in full. This agreement has many contingencies and the expected timeframe of the sale occurring is 4 to 16 months from the date of this filing.

As of September 30, 2024 and September 30, 2023, the Company maintained a line of credit with a capacity of up to \$15.0 million for inventory accessible to both the HPP and TS segments. This line of credit also includes availability of a limited cash withdrawal of up to \$1.0 million. Amounts of \$10.2 million and \$13.5 million were available as of September 30, 2024 and September 30, 2023, respectively. As of September 30, 2024 and September 30, 2023 there were

no cash withdrawals outstanding. For a further discussion of the Company's line of credit, including its financial covenants, see Item 1, *Note 12 Line of Credit*.

The last note payable was paid in full in fiscal year 2024 of \$0.4 million and no notes remain outstanding as of September 30, 2024. There is a total of \$3.8 million due to vendors with financing agreements outstanding as of September 30, 2024, including \$2.3 million payments to be made that are current. Each vendor financing agreement was related to a sale and has a related financing receivable. There is a total of \$7.3 million due to the Company of customer financing agreements outstanding as of September 30, 2024, including \$4.3 million to be received that are current.

A subsequent review of qualified wages for the Employee Retention Credit was performed during the preparation of the tax provision for fiscal year 2023 and it was determined \$0.6 million of the money received did not qualify and was paid back to the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) except for \$11k, which is still owed to the IRS as of September 30, 2024. This \$0.6 million was included in Cash and cash equivalents as of September 30, 2023. However, this amount was not recognized in net income in the Consolidated statements of operations for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2023. The Company may be subject to interest and penalties related to this cash.

If cash generated from operations is insufficient to satisfy working capital requirements, we may need to access funds through bank loans or other means. If we are unable to secure additional financing, we may not be able to complete development or enhancement of products, take advantage of future opportunities, respond to competition, retain key employees, or continue to effectively operate our business.

Based on our current plans and business conditions, management believes that the Company's available cash and cash equivalents, the cash generated from operations, and availability on our line of credit will be sufficient to provide for the Company's working capital and capital expenditure requirements for at least 12 months from the date of this filing.

Critical Accounting Estimates and Policies

Our discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based upon our consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. The preparation of these financial statements requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses. On an on-going basis, we evaluate our estimates, including those related to the inventory valuation, income taxes, deferred compensation, revenue recognition, retirement plans, and contingencies. We base our estimates on historical performance and on various other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.

We believe the following critical accounting policies affect our more significant judgments and estimates used in the preparation of our consolidated financial statements: revenue recognition, valuation allowances, specifically the net deferred tax asset valuation allowance, inventory valuation, and pension and retirement plans.

Revenue Recognition

See *Note 1 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies*, in the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information regarding our revenue recognition policies. The following areas involve significant judgment and estimates:

Allocating transaction price with agreements with multiple components including leasing and/or a financing component

A financing component exists when at contract inception the period between the transfer of a promised good and/or service to the customer differs from when the customer pays for the good and/or service. As a practical expedient, we have elected not to adjust the amount of consideration for effects of a significant financing component when it is anticipated the promised good or service will be transferred and the subsequent payment will be one year or less.

Certain contracts contain a financing component including managed services contracts with financing of hardware and software. The interest rate used reflects the approximate interest rate consistent with a separate financing transaction with the customer at the inception of the agreement. Revenues from arrangements which include financing are allocated considering relative standalone selling prices of lease and non-lease components within the agreement. The lease component includes hardware, which is subject to ASC 842, *Leases*. The non-lease components are subject to ASC 606, *Revenue from Contracts with Customers*.

When product and non-managed services are sold together, the allocation of the transaction price to each performance obligation is calculated based on the estimated relative selling price or a budgeted cost-plus margin approach, as appropriate. Due to the complex nature of these contracts, there is significant judgment in allocating the transaction price. These estimates are periodically reviewed by project managers, engineers, and other staff involved to ensure estimates remain appropriate. For items sold separately, including hardware, software, professional services, maintenance contracts, other services, and third-party service contracts, there is no allocation as there is one performance obligation.

Professional Services Sold Without Products

The input method using labor hours expended relative to the total expected hours is used to recognize revenue for professional services. Only the hours that depict our performance toward satisfying a performance obligation are used to measure progress. An estimate of hours for each professional service agreement is made at the beginning of each contract based on prior experience and monitored throughout the performance of the services. This method is most appropriate as it depicts the measure of progress towards satisfaction of the performance obligation.

Gross versus Net Revenue

We recognize revenue from third-party service contracts as either gross sales or net sales depending on whether we are acting as the principal party to the transaction or acting as an agent or broker based on control and timing. We are the principal if we control the good or service before that good or service is transferred to the customer. For each identified performance obligation in a transaction, we evaluate the facts and circumstances present to determine whether or not we control the specified good or service prior to transfer to the customer. This evaluation includes, but is not limited to, assessing indicators such as whether: (i) we are primarily responsible for fulfilling the promise to provide the specified goods or service, (ii) we have inventory risk before the specified good or service has been transferred to a customer and (iii) we have discretion in establishing the price for the specified good or service. When the evaluation indicates we control the specified good or service prior to transfer to the customer, we are acting as a principal. When the evaluation indicates we do not control the specified good or service prior to transfer to the customer, we are acting as an agent.

We record revenue as gross when we are the principal party to the arrangement and net of cost when we are acting as a broker or agent for a third party. Under gross sales recognition, the entire selling price is recorded in revenue and our cost to the third-party service provider or vendor is recorded in cost of sales. Under net sales recognition, the cost to the third-party service provider or vendor is recorded as a reduction to revenue resulting in net sales equal to the gross profit on the transaction. Third-party service contracts are sold in different combinations with hardware, software, and services. When we are an agent, revenue is typically recorded at a point in time. When we are the principal, revenue is recognized over the contract term. We have concluded we are the agent in sales of third-party maintenance, software or hardware support, and certain security software that is sold with integral third-party delivered software maintenance that includes critical updates. When CSPi sells goods and services with a financing component the strongest indicator is whether the Company has discretion in selling price as many of the agreements are brought to us at predetermined price by the manufacturer.

Income Taxes

We use the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes whereby deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the estimated future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered

or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date. We also reduce deferred tax assets by a valuation allowance if, based on the weight of available evidence, it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the recorded deferred tax assets will not be realized in future periods. This methodology requires estimates and judgments in the determination of the recoverability of deferred tax assets and in the calculation of certain tax liabilities. Valuation allowances are recorded against the gross deferred tax assets that management believes, after considering all available positive and negative objective evidence, historical and prospective, with greater weight given to historical evidence, that it is more likely than not that these assets will not be realized.

In addition, we are required to recognize in the consolidated financial statements, those tax positions determined to be more-likely-than-not of being sustained upon examination, based on the technical merits of the positions as of the reporting date. If a tax position is not considered more-likely-than-not to be sustained based solely on its technical merits, no benefits of the position are recognized.

In addition, the calculation of the Company's tax liabilities involves dealing with uncertainties in the application of complex tax regulations in a multitude of jurisdictions. The Company records liabilities for estimated tax obligations in the U.S. and other tax jurisdictions. These estimated tax liabilities include the provision for taxes that may become payable in the future.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market, with cost determined using the first-in, first-out method. The recoverability of inventories is based upon the types and levels of inventories held, forecasted demand, pricing, competition and changes in technology. We write down our inventory for estimated obsolescence or unmarketable inventory equal to the difference between the cost of inventory and the estimated market value based upon assumptions about future demand and market conditions. If actual market conditions are less favorable than those projected by management, additional inventory write-downs may be required.

Pension and Retirement Plans

The funded status of pension and other post-retirement benefit plans is recognized prospectively on the consolidated balance sheet. Gains and losses, prior service costs and credits and any remaining transition amounts that have not yet been recognized through pension expense will be recognized in accumulated other comprehensive loss, net of tax, until they are amortized as a component of net periodic pension/post-retirement benefits expense. Additionally, plan assets and obligations are measured as of our fiscal year-end balance sheet date (September 30).

We have defined benefit and defined contribution plans in the U.K. and in the U.S. In the U.K., the Company provides defined benefit pension plans for certain employees and former employees and defined contribution plans for the majority of the employees. The defined benefit plans in the U.K. are closed to newly hired employees and have been for the two years ended September 30, 2024. In the U.S., the Company provides defined contribution plans that cover most employees and supplementary retirement plans to certain employees and former employees who are now retired. These supplementary retirement plans are also closed to newly hired employees and have been for the two years ended September 30, 2024. These supplementary plans are funded through whole life insurance policies. The Company expects to recover all insurance premiums paid under these policies in the future, through the cash surrender value of the policies and any death benefits or portions thereof to be paid upon the death of the participant. These whole life insurance policies are carried on the balance sheet at their cash surrender values as they are owned by the Company and not assets of the defined benefit plans. In the U.S., the Company also provides for officer death benefits and post-retirement health insurance benefits through supplemental post-retirement plans to certain officers. The Company also funds these supplemental plans' obligations through whole life insurance policies on the officers.

Pension expense is based on an actuarial computation of current future benefits using estimates for expected return on assets, expected compensation increases and applicable discount rates. Management has reviewed the discount rates and rates of return with our consulting actuaries and investment advisers and concluded they were reasonable. A decrease in the expected return on pension assets would increase pension expense. Expected compensation increases are

estimated based on historical and expected increases in the future. Increases in estimated compensation increases would result in higher pension expense while decreases would lower pension expense. Discount rates are selected based upon rates of return on high quality fixed income investments currently available and expected to be available during the period to maturity of the pension benefit. A decrease in the discount rate would result in greater pension expense while an increase in the discount rate would decrease pension expense.

The Company funds its pension plans in amounts sufficient to meet the requirements set forth in applicable employee benefits laws and local tax laws. Liabilities for amounts in excess of these funding levels are accrued and reported in the consolidated balance sheets.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

The consolidated financial statements are included herein.

	Page
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm (PCAOB ID 49)	39
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of September 30, 2024 and 2023	41
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended September 30, 2024 and 2023	42
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for the years ended September 30, 2024 and 2023	43
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders' Equity for the years ended September 30, 2024 and 2023	44
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended September 30, 2024 and 2023	45
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements	47

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosures

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Controls and Procedures

Disclosure Controls and Procedures. The Company evaluated the effectiveness of the design and operation of its disclosure controls and procedures as of September 30, 2024. Our Chief Executive Officer, our Chief Financial Officer and other members of our senior management team supervised and participated in this evaluation. The term "disclosure controls and procedures," as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act, means controls and other procedures of a company that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by a company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported, within the time periods specified in the Securities and Exchange Commission's ("SEC") rules and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by a company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to the company's management, including its principal executive and principal financial officers, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving their objectives and management necessarily applies its judgment in evaluating the costbenefit relationship of possible controls and procedures. Based on the evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of September 30, 2024, the Company's Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that, as of such date, our disclosure controls and procedures were not effective. This is due to the fact that we have identified material weaknesses described in this Item 9A and we are not yet able to conclude that such material weaknesses have been remediated by the changes we made in response to those material weaknesses.

Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting.

The Company's management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting. As defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act, internal control over financial reporting is a process designed by or under the supervision of a company's principal executive and principal financial officers and effected by a company's board of directors, management and other personnel, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. It includes those policies and procedures that:

- pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of a company
- provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted **accounting** principles and that receipts and expenditures of a company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and the board of directors of a company; and
- provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of a company's assets that could have a material effect on its financial statements.

Management has assessed the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of September 30, 2024.

"In making its assessment of internal control, management used the criteria described in "Internal Control Integrated Framework" *under the 2013 Framework* issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations ("COSO") of the Treadway Commission." As a result of its assessment, management has concluded that the Company's internal control over financial reporting was not effective as of September 30, 2024.

Material Weaknesses

As of September 30, 2024, management has identified material weaknesses. As defined in Rule 12b-2 under the Exchange Act, a material weakness is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the Company's annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected in a timely basis.

In August 2024 during its fiscal 2024 third quarter review the Company identified certain control deficiencies related to its business expense reimbursement and selected purchases policy and application of a legacy credit card program for Company credit cards. The control deficiencies arose out of a lack of adequate review and incomplete supporting documentation related to certain business expenses including those for reimbursement for Company credit card charges from a C level Company executive as well as undocumented compensation agreement with regards to the use of credit card points which resulted in undisclosed compensation. The Audit Committee engaged a third party to investigate and analyze certain transactions made on the corporate credit card and it was not led by management. As of September 30, 2024, the C-level executive returned to the Company approximately \$20,000 in aggregate related to the portion of the undisclosed compensation in excess of the intended compensation agreement

In response to these control deficiencies, the Company performed additional analysis and reconciliation around all the credit card activity, including reimbursement, purchases and review of the credit card use policies, assessed various alternatives to remediate this material weakness and implemented changes to our internal controls including implementation of additional review and confirmation process by designated employees and the termination of the legacy benefit program identified above.

During the preparation of the Company's annual financial statement, the Company performed further analysis and testing of these controls including the newly implemented controls. These identified control deficiencies could have resulted in a material misstatement of the Company's financial statements that would not have been prevented or detected, although no such misstatements occurred.

During the preparation of our annual financial statements, we determined that the controls over the credit card process were not operating effectively, and the resulting control gap amounted to a material weakness in our controls over financial reporting. As a result, we concluded that the Company's internal control over financial reporting was not effective as of September 30, 2024. The COSO principles of Exercises oversight responsibility and develops control activities were not properly followed in our internal controls. Although we have implemented changes to our internal controls over financial reporting as described herein, at this time we cannot conclude that the material weakness has been remediated. Accordingly, management concluded that the control deficiencies were a material weakness in the Company's internal control over financial reporting.

Remediation of Material Weaknesses

We are committed to maintaining a strong internal control environment and implementing measures designed to help ensure that the material weaknesses are remediated as soon as possible. We believe we have made progress towards remediation and continue to implement our remediation plan for the material weakness, which includes the following steps.

- All points earned on the Company credit cards will accrue only to the benefit of the .Company.
- The Company will further update its Credit Card purchase and Reimbursement Policy and take steps to ensure the Expense Policy is followed with documentation and proper approvals.
- In fiscal year 2025, internal audit will test a reasonable number of selections from all corporate credit card
 expenses monthly and report findings directly to the Company's CFO. If there is an exception, this will be
 reported to the Audit Committee
- Quarterly a summary report of Credit card internal audit results will be reported to the Audit Committee.

They consider the material weakness remediated after the applicable controls operate for a sufficient period of time, and management has concluded, through testing, that the controls are operating effectively.

The process of designing and implementing an effective accounting and financial reporting system is a continuous effort that requires us to anticipate and react to changes in our business and the economic and regulatory environments and to expend significant resources to maintain an accounting and financial reporting system that is adequate to satisfy our reporting obligations. As we continue to evaluate and take actions to improve our internal control over financial reporting, we may determine to take additional actions to address control deficiencies or determine to modify certain of the remediation measures described above.

Income Tax

Management identified another material weakness in our internal controls over financial reporting for income taxes relating to current/non-current taxes payable, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities, and current and deferred tax expenses. We use a third-party provider to prepare our tax provision and related disclosures on a quarterly basis. The company reviews the provision and disclosures. We believe the material weakness occurred due to a lack of competency of the third-party provider and management needs to perform a more comprehensive review with the third-party preparer. Management put in place a remediation plan to address the material weakness as described below however, as a result, we concluded that the Company's internal control over financial reporting was not effective as of September 30, 2024.

Remediation of Material Weaknesses

With oversight from the Audit Committee, management designed and began implementing changes in processes and controls to remediate the material weakness relating to income taxes identified and has enhanced the Company's internal control over financial reporting as follows:

- O Hire a new accounting firm with global expertise as our new third-party tax provider to prepare tax provisions and corporate income tax returns. We intend to use this firm to assist with enhancing internal controls over financial reporting for income taxes and developing and implementing a remediation plan.
- O Hold quarterly meetings with our new third-party tax provider to discuss changes in tax law, key aspects of our quarterly/annual provisions and required updates to provisions, deciding a course of action and documenting such actions, review and approval of the tax data by senior members of our finance team and final discussion, review and approval of the third-party provider prepared provisions and returns.
- Provide income tax accounting training to those involved in the review of the tax data from our third-party tax provider.

Attestation Report

This Annual Report on Form 10-K does not include an attestation report of the Company's independent registered public accounting firm regarding internal control over financial reporting. Management's assessment of the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of September 30, 2024, was not subject to attestation by the Company's independent registered public accounting firm pursuant to rules of the SEC that call for the Company to provide only management's report in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

During the year ended September 30, 2024, the Company began implementing the remediation efforts described above for both material weaknesses. There were no other changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the year ended September 30, 2024, that have materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Item 9B. Other Information

During the three months ended September 30, 2024, no director or officer of the Company adopted or terminated any "Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement" or "non-Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement," as each term is defined in Item 408(a) of Regulation S-K.

Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdiction that Prevent Inspections

Not applicable

PART III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

We incorporate the information required by this item by reference to the sections captioned "Nominees for Election", "Our Board of Directors", "Our Executive Officers", "Delinquent Section 16(a) reports" and "Corporate Governance" in our Schedule 14A Proxy Statement for our 2025 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of our fiscal year ended September 30, 2024.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

We incorporate the information required by this item by reference to the sections captioned "Compensation of Executive Officers" and "Compensation of Non-Employee Directors" in our Schedule 14A Proxy Statement for our 2025 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of our fiscal year ended September 30, 2024.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans.

The equity compensation plans approved by our stockholders consist of the CSP Inc. 2014 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the "ESPP") and the 2015 Stock Incentive Plan. In fiscal 2024 and 2023, the Company granted certain key employees, certain officers including its Chief Executive Officer and non-employee directors' shares of non-vested common stock instead of stock options. The non-vested common stock has a four-year vesting period for key employees and officers including the Chief Executive Officer. There is a one-year vesting period for the non-employee directors. The following table sets forth information as of September 30, 2024 regarding the total number of securities outstanding under these equity compensation plans.

Plan Category	Number of securities to be issued upon exercise of outstanding options, warrants and rights (a)	Weighted-average exercise price of outstanding options, warrants and rights (b)	Number of securities remaining available for future issuance under equity compensation plans (excluding securities reflected in column (a)) (c)
Equity plans approved by security holders	651,350 ⁽¹⁾ \$	(2	701,811 (3)

⁽¹⁾ Includes only non-vested restricted stock awards issued under the 2015 Stock Incentive Plan.

- (2) There are only non-vested restricted awards outstanding, which do not require the holder to give any consideration for the awards.
- (3) Includes 191,434 shares under the 2015 Stock Incentive Plan and 509,377 shares under the 2014 Employee Stock Purchase Plan.

We incorporate additional information required by this Item by reference to the section captioned "Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management" in our Schedule 14A Proxy Statement for our 2025 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of our fiscal year ended September 30, 2024.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence

We incorporate the information required by this item by reference to the section captioned "Corporate Governance" in our Schedule 14A Proxy Statement for our 2025 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of our fiscal year ended September 30, 2024.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

We incorporate the information required by this item by reference to the sections captioned "Fees for Professional Services" and "Pre-approval Policies and Procedures" in our Schedule 14A Proxy Statement for our 2025 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of our fiscal year ended September 30, 2024.

PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

(a) (1) Financial statements filed as part of this report:

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of September 30, 2024 and 2023

Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended September 30, 2024 and 2023

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for the years ended September 30, 2024 and 2023

Consolidated Statements of Shareholders' Equity for the years ended September 30, 2024 and 2023

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended September 30, 2024 and 2023

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(2) Financial statement schedules

All other financial statements and schedules not listed have been omitted since the required information is included in the consolidated financial statements or the notes thereto included in Item 8, or is not applicable, material or required.

(3) Exhibits

			Incorporated by Reference					
Exhibit No.	Description	Filed with this Form 10-K	Form	Filing Date	Exhibit No.			
3.1	Articles of Organization and amendments thereto Articles of Amendment to the Company's Articles of		10-K	December 26, 2007	3.1			
3.2	Organization, adopted February 21, 2024 Articles of Amendment to the Company's Articles of		8-K	February 22, 2024	3.1			
3.3	Organization, adopted June 26, 2024		8-K	June 27, 2024	3.1			
3.4	By-laws, as amended December 13, 2012		10-K	December 20, 2012	3.2			
4.1	<u>Description of Securities</u>	X						
10.1	Form of Employee Invention and Non-Disclosure							
	Agreement		10-K	November 22, 1996	10.3			
10.2	CSPI Supplemental Retirement Income Plan		10-K	December 29, 2008	10.2			
10.3*	2014 Variable Compensation (Executive Bonus) and Base Programs dated November 12, 2013		10-K	December 23, 2014	10.10			
10.4*	Death Benefit and Retirement Benefit Agreement							
	between the Company and Victor Dellovo dated September 13, 2013		10-K	December 24, 2013	10.11			
10.5*	Form of Change of Control Agreement with Gary W.							
	Levine dated January 11, 2008		10-K	December 23, 2010	10.11			
10.6*	2014 Employee Stock Purchase Plan		DEF 14A	January 6, 2014	A			
10.7*	2015 Stock Incentive Plan		DEF 14RA	January 25, 2019	A			
10.8	2015 Lowell, MA Lease		10-K	December 24, 2015	10.21			
10.9	2015 Deerfield Beach, FL Lease		10-K	December 24, 2015	10.20			
10.10*	Executive Retention and Service Agreement with Victor Dellovo, dated September 4, 2012		10-Q	February 14, 2018	10.1			
10.11*	Forms of Employee Restricted Stock Award Agreement		10-Q	February 14, 2018	10.2			
19.1	Insider Trading Policy	X						
21.1	Subsidiaries	X						
23.1	Consent of RSM LLP, Independent Registered Public							
	Accounting Firm	X						
31.1	Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002	X						
31.2	Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to							
	Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002	X						
32.1	Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief							
	Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the							
	Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002	X						
97.1	Policy relating to recovery of erroneously awarded compensation		10-K	December 13, 2023	97.1			
101.INS	XBRL Instance							
101.SCH	XBRL Taxonomy Schema							
101.CAL	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation							
101.DEF	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition							
101.LAB	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Labels							
	•							

101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation

* Management contract or compensatory plan.

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary

None.

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

CSP INC.

By: /s/ Victor Dellovo

Victor Dellovo

Chief Executive Officer and President

Date: December 20, 2024

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Name	Title	Date
/s/ Victor Dellovo Victor Dellovo	Chief Executive Officer, President and Director	December 20, 2024
/s/ Gary W. Levine Gary W. Levine	Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer)	December 20, 2024
/s/ Mike Newbanks Mike Newbanks	Vice President of Finance (Chief Accounting Officer)	December 20, 2024
/s/ C. Shelton James C. Shelton James	Director	December 20, 2024
/s/ Raymond Charles Blackmon Raymond Charles Blackmon	Director	December 20, 2024
/s/ Marilyn T. Smith Marilyn T. Smith	Director	December 20, 2024
/s/ Izzy Azeri Izzy Azeri	Director	December 20, 2024

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Shareholders and the Board of Directors CSP Inc. and Subsidiaries

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of CSP Inc. and Subsidiaries (the Company) as of September 30, 2024 and 2023, the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income, shareholders' equity and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to the consolidated financial statements (collectively, the financial statements). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of September 30, 2024 and 2023, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for the years then ended, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits, we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matter

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the financial statements that was communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that (1) relate to accounts or disclosures that are material to the financial statements, and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of the critical audit matter does not alter in any way our opinion on the financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates.

Revenue Recognition - Gross Versus Net Presentation

As described in Note 1 to the financial statements, the Company recognizes revenue from third-party service contracts as either gross sales or net sales depending on whether the Company is acting as a principal party to the transaction or simply acting as an agent or broker. The Company records revenue as gross when the

Company is a principal party to the arrangement and net of cost when they are acting as a broker or agent. The Company has concluded that it is the agent in sales of third-party maintenance, software or hardware support, and certain security software that is sold with integral third-party delivered software maintenance that include critical updates.

We identified the Company's accounting for revenue from third-party service contracts described above to be a critical audit matter due to the significant judgments used by management related to the evaluation of the principal versus agent considerations. Auditing management's assumptions and conclusions involved a high degree of auditor judgment.

Our audit procedures related to these contracts included the following, among others:

- We evaluated management's significant accounting policies related to these third-party contracts for consistency with accounting standards.
- For a selection of contracts, we performed the following procedures:
 - Inspected the customer invoice and purchase order to determine whether the sale represented a valid and enforceable transaction with a customer.
 - o Compared the cost per the Company's records to the cost per the vendor invoice.
 - For third-party service contracts, we assessed the terms in the customer purchase order, customer invoice and vendor invoice and evaluated the Company's determination of principal versus agent presentation.
 For those contracts where the Company is acting as an agent or broker, we:
 - Compared the description of the transaction per the customer invoice to management's summary file
 of gross vs. net transactions.
 - Assessed the reasonableness of the revenue allocation of third-party service contracts and the related vendor costs.
 - Evaluated the accuracy of the summary file through inspection of customer and vendor invoices, purchase orders and information on vendor websites accessed through third-party search engines and through inquiries with management.

/s/ RSM US LLP

We have served as the Company's auditor since 2007.

Coral Gables, Florida December 20, 2024

CSP INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS (Amounts in thousands, except par value)

	September 30, 2024		Sep	tember 30, 2023
ASSETS				
Current assets:				
Cash and cash equivalents	\$	30,585	\$	25,217
Accounts receivable, net of allowances of \$147 and \$100		14,494		12,955
Financing receivables, net of allowances of \$12 and \$0		4,384		7,171
Inventories		2,293		2,542
Other current assets		3,093		2,479
Total current assets		54,849		50,364
Property, equipment and improvements, net		429		525
Operating lease right-of-use assets		489		966
Intangibles, net		50		46
Financing receivables due after one year, net of allowances of \$25 and \$0		2,922		4.224
Deferred income taxes, net		2,734		2,346
Cash surrender value of life insurance		5,589		5,356
Pension benefits assets		2,201		1,958
Other assets		173		119
Total assets	S	69,436	\$	65,904
Total assets	Φ	07,430	φ	03,704
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY				
Current liabilities:				
Accounts payable and accrued expenses	\$	12,084	\$	10,785
Line of credit		4,169		1,515
Note payable				449
Deferred revenue and contract liabilities		2,171		1,898
Pension and retirement plans		76		98
Income taxes payable		182		914
Total current liabilities		18,682		15,659
Pension and retirement plans		1,306		1,251
Operating lease liabilities - noncurrent portion		117		482
Income taxes payable		447		513
Other noncurrent liabilities		1,614		1,851
Total liabilities		22,166		19,756
Shareholders' equity:				
Common stock, \$.01 par value per share; authorized, 20,000 shares; issued and outstanding 9,776 and 9,456 (1)				
shares, respectively		98		94
Additional paid-in capital ⁽¹⁾		22,689		20,837
Retained earnings		29,848		31,311
Accumulated other comprehensive loss		(5,365)		(6,094)
Total shareholders' equity		47,270		46,148
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity	\$	69,436	\$	65,904

⁽¹⁾ Retroactively adjusted for the effects of a two for one stock split effected in the form of a 100% stock dividend for fiscal year 2023 (see Note 1)

CSP INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(Amounts in thousands, except for per share data)

	Yea	r Ende	Ended		
	September 30, 2024	Sej	ptember 30, 2023		
Sales:					
Product	\$ 36,793	\$	47,149		
Services	18,426		17,498		
Total sales	55,219		64,647		
Cost of sales:					
Product	28,800		35,524		
Services	7,564		7,203		
Total cost of sales	36,364		42,727		
Gross profit	18,855		21,920		
Operating expenses:					
Engineering and development	2,956		3,140		
Selling, general and administrative	17,771		16,910		
Total operating expenses	20,727		20,050		
Operating (loss) income	(1,872)	1,870		
Other income (expense):					
Foreign exchange loss	(438	.)	(581)		
Interest expense	(235)	(262)		
Interest income	2,047		1,460		
Employee Retention Tax Credit, net of costs to collect			2,136		
Other income, net	79		112		
Total other income, net	1,453		2,865		
(Loss) income before income taxes	(419)	4,735		
Income tax benefit	(93)	(469)		
Net (loss) income	\$ (326	\$	5,204		
Net (loss) income attributable to common shareholders	\$ (326	\$	4,884		
Net (loss) income per common share - basic ⁽¹⁾	\$ (0.04	.) \$	0.56		
Weighted average common shares outstanding - basic ⁽¹⁾	9,041	<u></u>	8,762		
N. (1.)		-	0.77		
Net (loss) income per common share - diluted ⁽¹⁾	\$ (0.04	<u> </u>	0.55		
Weighted average common shares outstanding - diluted ⁽¹⁾	9,041		8,941		

 $^{^{(1)}}$ Retroactively adjusted for the effects of a two for one stock split effected in the form of a 100% stock dividend for fiscal year 2023 (see Note 1)

CSP INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (Amounts in thousands)

	Year Ended			
		September 30, 2024		
Net (loss) income	\$	(326)	\$	5,204
Other comprehensive income:				
Unrealized actuarial gain on minimum pension liability, net of tax effect		6		272
Foreign currency translation gain adjustments, net of tax effect		723		962
Other comprehensive income		729		1,234
Total comprehensive income	\$	403	\$	6,438

CSP INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY For the Years Ended September 30, 2024 and 2023: (Amounts in thousands)

Year ended September 30, 2024:	Shares ⁽¹⁾	Amo	ount ⁽¹⁾	Additional Paid-in Capital ⁽¹⁾	Retained Earnings		umulated other orehensive loss	Sh	Total areholders' Equity
Balance as of September 30, 2023	9,456	\$	94	\$ 20,837	\$ 31,311	\$	(6,094)	\$	46,148
Adoption of Accounting Standards Update 2016-13	_		_	_	(15)				(15)
Net loss	_		_	_	(326)		_		(326)
Other comprehensive income	_		_	_	_		729		729
Stock-based compensation	_		_	1,579	_		_		1,579
Restricted stock cancellation	(7)		_	_	_		_		_
Restricted stock issuance	305		3	_	_		_		3
Issuance of shares under employee stock purchase									
plan	30		1	273			_		274
Purchase of common stock	(8)		_	_	(104)		_		(104)
Cash dividends paid on common stock (\$0.105 per									
share) ⁽¹⁾					(1,018)				(1,018)
Balance as of September 30, 2024	9,776	\$	98	\$ 22,689	\$ 29,848	\$	(5,365)	\$	47,270
Vear ended Sentember 30, 2023:	Shares(1)	Ame	ount(1)	Additional Paid-in Capital ⁽¹⁾	Retained Earnings		umulated other orehensive	Sha	Total areholders' Equity
Year ended September 30, 2023: Balance as of September 30, 2022	Shares ⁽¹⁾ 9,108		ount ⁽¹⁾	Paid-in Capital ⁽¹⁾	Retained Earnings \$ 26,769		other	Sh:	
Year ended September 30, 2023: Balance as of September 30, 2022 Net income		Amo		Paid-in	Earnings \$ 26,769	comp	other orehensive loss		areholders' Equity 38,963
Balance as of September 30, 2022 Net income				Paid-in Capital ⁽¹⁾	Earnings	comp	other orehensive loss		areholders' Equity
Net income Other comprehensive income				Paid-in Capital ⁽¹⁾	Earnings \$ 26,769	comp	other orehensive loss (7,328)		areholders' Equity 38,963 5,204
Balance as of September 30, 2022 Net income				Paid-in Capital ⁽¹⁾ \$ 19,431	Earnings \$ 26,769	comp	other orehensive loss (7,328)		areholders' Equity 38,963 5,204 1,234
Balance as of September 30, 2022 Net income Other comprehensive income Stock-based compensation Restricted stock issuance	9,108		91	Paid-in Capital ⁽¹⁾ \$ 19,431	Earnings \$ 26,769	comp	other orehensive loss (7,328)		38,963 5,204 1,234 1,126
Net income Other comprehensive income Stock-based compensation	9,108		91	Paid-in Capital ⁽¹⁾ \$ 19,431	Earnings \$ 26,769	comp	other orehensive loss (7,328)		38,963 5,204 1,234 1,126
Balance as of September 30, 2022 Net income Other comprehensive income Stock-based compensation Restricted stock issuance Issuance of shares under employee stock purchase	9,108		91	Paid-in Capital ⁽¹⁾ \$ 19,431	Earnings \$ 26,769	comp	other orehensive loss (7,328)		38,963 5,204 1,234 1,126
Balance as of September 30, 2022 Net income Other comprehensive income Stock-based compensation Restricted stock issuance Issuance of shares under employee stock purchase plan	9,108 — — — — 286 64		91	Paid-in Capital ⁽¹⁾ \$ 19,431	Earnings \$ 26,769 5,204 — — — —	comp	other orehensive loss (7,328)		archolders' Equity 38,963 5,204 1,234 1,126 3
Balance as of September 30, 2022 Net income Other comprehensive income Stock-based compensation Restricted stock issuance Issuance of shares under employee stock purchase plan Purchase of common stock	9,108 — — — — 286 64		91	Paid-in Capital ⁽¹⁾ \$ 19,431	Earnings \$ 26,769 5,204 — — — — — — — — — — — — —	comp	other orehensive loss (7,328)		archolders' Equity 38,963 5,204 1,234 1,126 3
Balance as of September 30, 2022 Net income Other comprehensive income Stock-based compensation Restricted stock issuance Issuance of shares under employee stock purchase plan Purchase of common stock Cash dividends paid on common stock (\$0.07 per	9,108 — — — — 286 64		91	Paid-in Capital ⁽¹⁾ \$ 19,431	Earnings \$ 26,769 5,204 ————————————————————————————————————	comp	other orehensive loss (7,328)		archolders' Equity 38,963 5,204 1,234 1,126 3 280 (6)
Balance as of September 30, 2022 Net income Other comprehensive income Stock-based compensation Restricted stock issuance Issuance of shares under employee stock purchase plan Purchase of common stock Cash dividends paid on common stock (\$0.07 per share) ⁽¹⁾	9,108 ————————————————————————————————————	\$	91 — — 3 —	Paid-in Capital(1) \$ 19,431	Earnings \$ 26,769 5,204 — — — — — — — — — — — — —	comp	1,234 — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — —	\$	archolders' Equity 38,963 5,204 1,234 1,126 3 280 (6)

CSP INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(Amounts in thousands)

(v v. v. v. v. v. v. v. v. v.	Year Ended		
	September 30,	September 30,	
Operating activities	2024	2023	
Net (loss) income	\$ (326)	5,204	
1000) meonic	ψ (320)	3,204	
Adjustments to reconcile net (loss) income to net cash provided by operating activities:			
Depreciation	292	343	
Amortization of intangibles	6	15	
Loss on disposal of fixed assets, net	1	4	
Foreign exchange loss	438	581	
Provision for credit losses - financing receivables	(45)	· —	
Provision for credit losses - accounts receivable	114	26	
Provision for obsolete inventory	354	274	
Amortization of lease right-of-use assets	496		
Stock-based compensation expense on restricted stock awards	1,579		
Deferred income taxes	(387)	(2,346)	
Increase in cash surrender value of life insurance	(180)	(130)	
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:			
(Increase) decrease in accounts receivable	(1,573)	1,080	
Decrease in financing receivables	4,058		
(Increase) decrease in inventories	(95)		
Decrease in refundable income taxes	<u>`</u>	1,048	
(Increase) decrease in other assets	(681)		
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and accrued expenses	1,383	(11,646)	
Decrease in operating lease liabilities	(485)	(190)	
Increase (decrease) in deferred revenue and contract liabilities	273	(2,161)	
Increase (decrease) in pension and retirement plans liabilities	27	(391)	
(Decrease) increase in income taxes payable	(798)		
Decrease in other noncurrent liabilities	(238)		
Net cash provided by operating activities	4,213	3,907	
Investing activities			
Life insurance premiums paid	(50)	(64)	
Purchase of held-to-maturity investments	_	(3,533)	
Proceeds from maturities of held-to-maturity investments	_	3,533	
Additions of intangible assets	(10)		
Purchases of property, equipment and improvements	(196)		
Net cash used in investing activities	(256)	(341)	
Financing activities			
Dividends paid	(1,018)	(656)	
Net borrowing under line-of-credit agreement	2,654		
Repayments on note payable	(427)		
Principal payments on finance leases		(4)	
Purchase of common stock	(104)		
Proceeds from issuance of shares under equity compensation plans	274		
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities	1,379		
Effects of exchange rate on cash, net	32		
,			

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents	5,368	1,235
Cash and cash equivalents beginning of period	25,217	23,982
Cash and cash equivalents end of period	\$ 30,585	\$ 25,217
Supplementary cash flow information:		
Cash paid for income taxes	\$ 1,601	\$ 246
Cash paid for interest	\$ 206	\$ 313
Supplementary non-cash financing activities:		
Obtaining a right-of-use asset in exchange for a lease liability	\$ 19	\$ 392
Customer financing for inventory sold (see Note 3 Financing receivables, net for		
details)	\$ 5,240	\$ 6,032
Vendor financing for inventory purchased (see Note 9 Accounts payable and accrued		
expenses, and Other noncurrent liabilities for details)	\$ 2,995	\$ 2,321

CSP INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2024 AND 2023

Organization and Business

CSP Inc. ("CSPi" or "CSPI" or "the Company" or "we" or "our") was founded in 1968 and is based in Lowell, Massachusetts. To meet the diverse requirements of commercial and defense customers worldwide, CSPI and its subsidiaries develop and market IT integration solutions, advanced security products, managed IT services, purpose built network adapters, and high-performance cluster computer systems. The Company operates in two segments, its Technology Solutions ("TS") segment and its High Performance Products ("HPP") segment.

1. Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying audited Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America and the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission.

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated.

Presentation - sales whose payment terms exceed one year

Effective in fiscal year 2024 sales whose payment terms exceed one year is now presented as "Financing receivables, net of allowances" on the Consolidated Balance Sheets rather than being combined with Accounts receivable, net of allowances. The financial statement line item Long-term receivable is now labeled as "Financing receivables due after one year, net of allowances." These changes are reflected retrospectively as of September 30, 2023. This change was made to provide more detail on the balance sheet related to these receivables and align with our notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Presentation - two-for-one stock split

On February 21, 2024, the Board of Directors of CSP Inc. approved an amendment to the Company's Articles of Organization to increase the total number of its authorized shares of Common Stock, par value \$0.01, from 7,500,000 shares to 9,753,900 shares (the "Amendment"). No shareholder approval was required under the Massachusetts Business Corporation Act with respect to the Amendment. The Amendment became effective upon filing with the Secretary of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts on February 21, 2024.

On February 21, 2024, the Company announced its Board of Directors approved and declared a two-for-one stock split to be effected in the form of a 100% stock dividend. The stock dividend was paid on March 20, 2024 to shareholders of record as of the close of business on March 6, 2024. In accordance with ASC 505 Equity, specifically ASC 505-20-25-3 through ASC 505-20-25-6, we have determined this had a material effect on reducing share market value and therefore was treated this event as a stock split for accounting purposes.

All common shares and per share amounts contained in these financial statements and notes have been retrospectively restated to reflect this two-for-one stock split in the form a 100% dividend in accordance with ASC 260 Earnings Per Share, specifically ASC 260-10-55-12.

On June 26, 2024, the stockholders of CSP, Inc. approved an amendment to the Company's Articles of Organization, as amended (the "Articles of Organization"), to increase the number of authorized shares of Common Stock from 9,753,900 to 20,000,000 (the "Amendment"). On June 26, 2024, the Company filed an Articles of Amendment to the Articles of Organization with the Secretary of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts to effect the Amendment, which became effective immediately upon such filing.

Adopted Accounting Pronouncement in the Year Ended September 30, 2024

In June 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued Accounting standards update ("ASU") 2016-13, Financial Instruments-Credit Losses (Topic 326), an amendment of the FASB Accounting Standards Codification. Additional updates were issued in 2018-2020. The amended guidance replaces the current incurred loss impairment methodology for measurement of credit losses on financial instruments with a methodology (the "current expected credit losses model," or "CECL model") that reflects expected credit losses and requires consideration of a broader range of reasonable and supportable information to inform credit loss estimates. Under the CECL model, the allowance for losses on financial assets, measured at amortized cost, reflects management's estimate of credit losses over the remaining expected life of such assets.

The Company adopted ASU 2016-13 (the "new CECL standard") as of October 1, 2023 using the modified retrospective method, with a cumulative-effect adjustment to the opening balance of Shareholders' equity as of October 1, 2023. The adoption primarily impacted the estimation of our Allowance for credit losses for Accounts receivable and Financing receivables. Additionally, it affected allowance for credit losses of contract assets with effects being immaterial. The total impact recorded on our initial adoption of ASU 2016-13 as of October 1, 2023 included an increase of Accounts receivable, net of \$67k and a decrease of Financing receivables, net in the amount of \$82k with the total adjustment decreasing retained earnings of \$15k. For the accounting policies adopted and details of impacts from adoption refer to *Note 2 - Accounts receivable, net* and *Note 3 - Financing receivables, net*.

Accounting Pronouncement Not Yet Adopted as of September 30, 2024

In November 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-07, Segment Reporting (Topic 280): Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures, which requires disclosure of incremental segment information on an annual and interim basis. This ASU is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023, and interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024, on a retrospective basis. Early adoption is permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the effect of this pronouncement on its disclosures.

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-09, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures. This ASU expands existing income tax disclosures primarily through standardization and disaggregation of rate reconciliation categories and income taxes paid by jurisdiction. The ASU is effective for all public entities for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2024, with early adoption permitted. Entities should apply the amendments on a prospective basis, but retrospective application is permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the impact this ASU will have on its disclosures.

In November 2024, the FASB issued ASU 2024-04, Income Statement—Reporting Comprehensive Income—Expense Disaggregation Disclosures (Subtopic 220-40), which requires expanded disclosures in the notes to the financial statements about certain costs and expenses. This ASU is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2026, and interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2027, on a retrospective basis. Early adoption is permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the effect of this pronouncement on its disclosures.

Foreign Currency Translation

The U.S. Dollar is the reporting currency for all periods presented. The financial information for entities outside the United States is measured using the local currency as the functional currency. In consolidation, foreign transactions are remeasured into the functional currency, British Pounds, of our U.K. subsidiary. This non-cash remeasurement is included in the foreign exchange gain or loss on the Consolidated Statements of Operations. After this remeasurement, assets and liabilities of the Company's foreign operations are translated into U.S. dollars at the exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet date. Revenue and expenses are translated at average rates in effect during the period. The resulting translation adjustment is reflected as accumulated other comprehensive loss, a separate component of shareholders' equity on the consolidated balance sheets. Currency transaction gains and losses are recorded as other income (expense) in the consolidated statements of operations.

Cash Equivalents

For purposes of the consolidated statements of cash flows, highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less at the time of acquisition are considered cash equivalents. The Company maintains its cash and cash equivalents with financial institutions and, at times, the balance may exceed the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation federally insured limits (United States - \$250,000 per depositer) or Financial Services Compensation Scheme (United Kingdom - £85,000 per depositer). The Company has never experienced any losses related to these balances.

Employee Retention Tax Credit

The Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act provided an employee retention credit ("ERC") which is a refundable tax credit against certain employment taxes. The Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2021 extended and expanded the availability of the employee retention credit through December 31, 2021 including amending the employee retention credit to be equal to 70% of qualified wages paid to employees during the 2021 calendar year.

The TS-US division and HPP segment qualified for the ERC beginning in March 2021 for qualified wages through September 2021 and filed a cash refund claim during the fiscal year ended September 30, 2023. An amount of \$2.8 million, net of costs, was received in the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2023.

On the Company's Consolidated Statements of Operations in Total other income, net the financial statement line item Employee retention tax credit, net of costs to collect for fiscal year ended September 30, 2023 of \$2.1 million represents the amount we were qualified to receive. There are no other amounts that will be received related to this credit.

We accounted for the ERC as a gain contingency in accordance with ASC 450-30 Gain Contingencies. Under this standard, the ERC was recognized only after the contingency was resolved and deemed realizable.

Research and Development Expense

For the years ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, our expenses for research and development were approximately \$3.0 million and \$3.1 million, respectively. Expenditures for research and development are expensed as they are incurred.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company reviews its long-lived assets, including intangible assets subject to amortization, for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Management assesses the recoverability of the long-lived assets (intangibles) by comparing the estimated undiscounted cash flows associated with the related asset or group of assets against their respective carrying amounts. The amount of impairment, if any, is calculated based on the excess of the carrying amount over the fair value of those assets. Intangible assets that are not subject to amortization are also required to be tested annually, or more frequently if events or circumstances indicate that the asset may be impaired. We did not have intangible assets with indefinite lives any time during the two years ended September 30, 2024.

Intangible assets subject to amortization are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives, generally three to ten years, and are carried at net book value. The remaining useful lives of intangible assets are evaluated on an annual basis. Intangible assets subject to amortization are also tested for recoverability whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying amount may not be recoverable. If the fair value of an intangible asset subject to amortization is determined to be less than its carrying value, then an impairment charge is recorded to write down that asset to its fair value. There was no impairment for the years ended September 30, 2024 and 2023.

Leases as Lessee

At the inception of an arrangement, the Company determines whether the arrangement contains a lease. This includes arrangements with goods and services to determine if there is an embedded lease. An arrangement containing a lease would allow the Company the right to control an implicitly or explicitly identified asset. If there is a lease in an arrangement, the classification is determined at inception of the arrangement. Certain leases may contain transfer of ownership or an option to purchase the underlying asset. The most relevant criterion for our lease classification is transfer of ownership, which if included in the arrangement makes the lease a finance lease rather than an operating lease.

The discount rate used to assess classification is the incremental borrowing rate at the commencement date due to the implicit rate not being readily determinable. The incremental borrowing rate is the rate of interest the Company would have to pay to borrow on a collateralized basis over a similar term and amount equal to the lease payments in a similar economic environment. The lease term includes periods when we are reasonably certain we will exercise the renewal option. The Company has elected not to apply Subtopic ASC 842-25 to short-term leases, which are defined as a lease that has a lease term of 12 months or less and does not include an option to purchase the underlying asset that the Company is reasonably certain to exercise. Therefore, there are no right-of-use assets or lease liabilities related to short-term leases in the Consolidated Balance Sheets and the lease payments are expensed on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Leases are typically not able to be terminated without penalty. None of our lease arrangements contain residual value guarantees, restrictions, or covenants. None of the Company's current leases are with related parties. There are no lease arrangements that we have entered into as of September 30, 2024 that have not yet commenced. See *Note 10 Leases* for additional information.

Operating leases

The Company has operating leases for office space, data centers, and other information technology equipment under various leases. Operating lease right-of-use assets and liabilities are recognized at the commencement date using the present value of the fixed lease payments over the lease term. We do not have leases with variable consideration. The incremental borrowing rate is used in determining present value. Certain operating leases, primarily office space and IT equipment, have an option to extend the lease. Renewal periods related to certain lease agreements related to office buildings are included in the lease term for lease accounting.

The Company has operating lease agreements with lease components (e.g. fixed payments including rent, real estate taxes, and insurance costs) as well as nonlease components (e.g. common-area maintenance, colocation services). The Company has elected to account for lease and nonlease components as one single lease component for all classes of assets. Lease expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value, with cost determined using the first-in, first-out method. The recoverability of inventories is based upon the types and levels of inventories held, forecasted demand, pricing, competition and changes in technology. We write down our inventory for estimated obsolescence or unmarketable inventory equal to the difference between the cost of inventory and the estimated market value based upon assumptions about future demand and market conditions. If actual market conditions are less favorable than those projected by management, additional inventory write-downs may be required. As of September 30, 2024, and September 30, 2023, the Company maintained inventory reserves of \$1.1 million and \$1.0 million, respectively.

Property, Equipment and Improvements

The components of property, equipment and improvements are stated at cost. The Company provides for depreciation by use of the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the related assets (three to seven years). Leasehold improvements are amortized by use of the straight-line method over the lesser of the estimated useful life of the asset or the lease term. Repairs and maintenance costs are expensed as incurred.

Accounts Receivable, net of Allowance for Credit Losses

Accounts receivable are recorded at the invoiced amount and are non-interest bearing. Accounts receivable are stated at their net realizable value, net of the allowance for credit losses. Allowances for credit losses are recorded for the estimated losses resulting from the inability of our customers to make required payments based on historical data as well as forecasted future conditions. The estimation of the allowance is based on an analysis of historical loss experience, management's assessment of current conditions and reasonable and supportable expectation of future conditions as well as an assessment of specific identifiable customer accounts considered at risk or uncollectible including reviewing the current receivables aging. If the financial condition of our customers were to deteriorate, resulting in impairment of their ability to make payments, additional allowances may be required. Accounts receivable are charged off against the reserve when management has determined they are uncollectible.

Financing Receivables, net of Allowance for Credit Losses

Financing receivables are recorded at the invoiced amount and are interest bearing. Financing receivables are stated at their net realizable value, net of the allowance for credit losses. Allowances for credit losses are recorded for the estimated losses resulting from the inability of our customers to make required payments based on historical data as well as forecasted future conditions. The Company recognizes an allowance for credit losses for financing receivables in an amount equal to the probable losses net of recoveries. A probability method for calculating credit losses is used based on historical data of defaults of Fitch ratings and length of time. Various factors are also assessed in the allowance for credit losses including internal historical data as well as macroeconomic forecast assumptions and management judgments applicable to and through the expected life of the portfolios. Macroeconomic conditions include the level of gross domestic product growth and unemployment rates, which directly correlate with our historical credit losses. If the financial condition of our customers were to deteriorate, resulting in impairment of their ability to make payments, additional allowances may be required. Financing receivables are charged off against the reserve when management has determined they are uncollectible.

Pension and Retirement Plans

The funded status of pension and other postretirement benefit plans is recognized on the consolidated balance sheets. Gains and losses, prior service costs and credits and any remaining transition amounts that have not yet been recognized through pension expense will be recognized in accumulated other comprehensive loss, net of tax, until they are amortized as a component of net periodic pension/postretirement benefits expense. Additionally, plan assets and obligations are measured as of our fiscal year-end balance sheet date (September 30).

We have defined benefit and defined contribution plans in the United Kingdom (the "U.K.") and in the U.S. In the U.K. the Company provides defined benefit pension plans for certain employees and former employees and defined contribution plans for the majority of the employees. The defined benefit plan in the U.K. is closed to newly hired employees and has been for the two years ended September 30, 2024. In the U.S., the Company also provides defined contribution plans that cover most employees and supplementary retirement plans to certain employees and former employees who are now retired. These supplementary retirement plans are also closed to newly hired employees and have been for the two years ended September 30, 2024. These supplementary plans are funded through whole life insurance policies. The Company expects to recover all insurance premiums paid under these policies in the future, through the cash surrender value of the policies and any death benefits or portions thereof to be paid upon the death of the participant. These whole life insurance policies are carried on the balance sheet at their cash surrender values as they are owned by the Company and not assets of the defined benefit plans. In the U.S., the Company also provides for officer death benefits and

post-retirement health insurance benefits through supplemental post-retirement plans to certain officers. The Company also funds these supplemental plans' obligations through whole life insurance policies on the officers.

Pension expense is based on an actuarial computation of current future benefits using estimates for expected return on assets, expected compensation increases and applicable discount rates. Management has reviewed the discount rates and rates of return with our consulting actuaries and investment advisor and concluded they were reasonable. A decrease in the expected return on pension assets would increase pension expense. Expected compensation increases are estimated based on historical and expected increases in the future. Increases in estimated compensation increases would result in higher pension expense while decreases would lower pension expense. Discount rates are selected based upon rates of return on high quality fixed income investments currently available and expected to be available during the period to maturity of the pension benefit. A decrease in the discount rate would result in greater pension expense while an increase in the discount rate would decrease pension expense.

The Company funds its pension plans in amounts sufficient to meet the requirements set forth in applicable employee benefits laws and local tax laws. Liabilities for amounts in excess of these funding levels are accrued and reported in the consolidated balance sheets.

Segment Information

We have two operating segments: (i) Technology Solutions ("TS") and (ii) High Performance Products ("HPP"). In the TS segment, we focus on value added reseller ("VAR") integrated solutions including third party hardware, software and technical computer-related consulting and managed services. In the HPP segment, we design, manufacture and deliver products and services to customers that require specialized cyber security services, networking and signal processing products. The operations and assets of our TS segment are located in the United States and the United Kingdom, which are the two divisions that make up the TS segment. The operations and assets of our HPP segment are located in the United States.

Revenue Recognition

We derive revenue from the sale of integrated hardware and software, third-party service contracts, professional services, managed services, financing of hardware and software, and other services.

We recognize revenue from hardware upon transfer of control, which is at a point in time typically upon shipment when title transfers. Revenue from software is recognized at a point in time when the license is granted.

We recognize revenue from third-party service contracts as either gross sales or net sales depending on whether we are acting as the principal party to the transaction or acting as an agent or broker based on control and timing. We are the principal if we control the good or service before that good or service is transferred to the customer. For each identified performance obligation in a transaction, we evaluate the facts and circumstances present to determine whether or not we control the specified good or service prior to transfer to the customer. This evaluation includes, but is not limited to, assessing indicators such as whether: (i) we are primarily responsible for fulfilling the promise to provide the specified goods or service, (ii) we have inventory risk before the specified good or service has been transferred to a customer and (iii) we have discretion in establishing the price for the specified good or service. When the evaluation indicates we control the specified good or service prior to transfer to the customer, we are acting as a principal. When the evaluation indicates we do not control the specified good or service prior to transfer to the customer, we are acting as an agent.

We record revenue as gross when we are the principal party to the arrangement and net of cost when we are acting as a broker or agent for a third party. Under gross sales recognition, the entire selling price is recorded in revenue and our cost to the third-party service provider or vendor is recorded in cost of sales. Under net sales recognition, the cost to the third-party service provider or vendor is recorded as a reduction to revenue resulting in net sales equal to the gross profit on the transaction. Third-party service contracts are sold in different combinations with hardware, software, and services. When we are an agent, revenue is typically recorded at a point in time. When we are the principal, revenue is recognized over the contract term. We have concluded we are the agent in sales of third-party maintenance, software or hardware support, and certain security software that is sold with integral third-party delivered software maintenance that includes

critical updates. When CSPi sells goods and services with a financing component the strongest indicator is whether the Company has discretion in selling price as many of the agreements are brought to us at predetermined price by the manufacturer.

Professional services generally include implementation, installation, and training services. Professional services are considered a series of distinct services that form one performance obligation and revenue is recognized over time as services are performed.

Revenue generated from managed services is recognized over the term of the contract. Certain managed services contracts include financing of hardware and software. Revenues from arrangements which include financing are allocated considering relative standalone selling prices of lease and non-lease components within the agreement. The lease component includes hardware, which is subject to ASC 842, *Leases*. The non-lease components are subject to ASC 606, *Revenue from Contracts with Customers*.

Other services generally include revenue generated through our royalty, extended warranty, multicomputer repair, and maintenance contracts. Royalty revenue is sales-based and recognized on the date of subsequent sale of the product, which occurs on the date of customer shipment. Revenue from extended warranty contracts is recognized ratably over the warranty period. Multicomputer repair services revenue is recognized upon control transfer when the customer takes possession of the computer at time of shipping. Revenue generated from maintenance services is recognized evenly over the term of the contract.

Some transactions include shipping as part of the contract. The Company records shipping billed to its customers as Product revenue and the related freight costs as Product cost of sales when the underlying product revenue is recognized. For freight not billed to its customers, the Company records the freight costs as Product cst of sales. The Company considers shipping to be a fulfillment activity and not a separate performance obligation.

The right of return risk lies with the original manufacturer of the product. Managed service contracts contain the right to refund if canceled within 30 days of inception. Any products with a standard warranty are treated as a warranty obligation under ASC 460, *Guarantees*.

The following policies are applicable to our major categories of segment revenue transactions:

TS Segment Revenue

TS Segment revenue is derived from the sale of hardware, software, professional services, third-party service contracts, maintenance contracts, managed services, and financing of hardware and software. Financing revenue pertaining to the portion of an arrangement containing a lease is recognized in accordance with ASC 842. Financing revenue related to the lease is recorded in revenue as equipment leasing is part of our operations.

Third-party service contracts are evaluated to determine whether such service revenue should be recorded as gross or net sales and whether over time or at point in time.

HPP Segment Revenue

HPP segment revenue is derived from the sale of integrated hardware and software, maintenance, and other services through the ARIA, Multicomputer, and Myricom product lines.

ARIA revenue is derived from sale of hardware, software, and managed services. ARIA Zero Trust Gateway ("AZT") revenue contains two performance obligations: a software license and post contract support. The transaction price is generally fixed consideration and allocated based on relative stand-alone selling price. Software license revenue is recognized at a point in time, generally when the license is made available to the customer. Post contract support revenue is recognized ratably over the contractual period of generally one year. Myricom revenue is derived from the sale of products, which are comprised of both hardware and embedded software which is essential to the products' functionality, and post contract maintenance and support. Post contract maintenance and support is considered immaterial in the context

of the contract and therefore is not a separate performance obligation. Multicomputer revenue is derived from the sale of hardware, software, extended warranties, royalties, and repair services.

See disaggregated revenues below by products/services and geography.

	TT* 1	Technol	Technology Solutions Segment			
Year ended September 30, 2024 2024	High Performance Products Segment	United <u>Kingdom</u> (Am	U.S. ounts in thou	<u>Total</u> sands)	Co	nsolidated Total
Sales:						
Product	\$ 2,599	\$ 594	\$33,598	\$34,192	\$	36,791
Service	1,555	260	16,611	16,871		18,426
Finance *	_	_	2	2		2
Total sales	\$ 4,154	\$ 854	\$ 50,211	\$51,065	\$	55,219
	Technology Solutions Segment					
	High	Technol	logy Solutions	Segment		
Year ended September 30, 2023	High Performance Products Segment	United Kingdom	U.S. ounts in thou	Total	Con	nsolidated Total
<u>2023</u>	Performance Products	United Kingdom	U.S.	Total	Con	
2023 Sales:	Performance Products Segment	United Kingdom (Am	U.S. ounts in thou	Total sands)		Total
2023 Sales: Product	Performance Products Segment	United Kingdom (Am	U.S. counts in thou	Total sands)	Con	Total 47,147
2023 Sales: Product Service	Performance Products Segment	United Kingdom (Am	U.S. ounts in thou \$40,938 15,812	Total sands) \$41,672 16,100		47,147 17,498
2023 Sales: Product	Performance Products Segment	United Kingdom (Am	U.S. counts in thou	Total sands)		Total 47,147

^{*} Finance revenue is related to equipment leasing and is not subject to the guidance on revenue from contracts with customers (ASC 606).

See details of timing of revenue recognition and whether CSPi acted as the principal or agent below. Also see geographic areas based on the which the products were shipped or services rendered.

			Technology Solutions Segment					
Year ended September 30,	P	High formance roducts egment		United Lingdom (Am	U.S. counts in thous	Total ands)	Co	onsolidated Total
Timing of Revenue Recognition								
Transferred at a point in time where CSPi is principal	\$	3,098	\$	603	\$ 33,921	\$ 34,524	\$	37,622
Transferred at a point in time where CSPi is agent	Ψ		Ψ	37	7,070	7,107	Ψ	7,107
Transferred over time where CSPi is principal		1,056		214	9,220	9,434		10,490
Total Revenue	\$	4,154	\$	854	\$ 50,211	\$ 51,065	\$	55,219
Geography								
United States	\$	3,098	\$	75	\$ 45,611	\$ 45,686	\$	48,784
Americas (excluding United States)		714		_	3,810	3,810		4,524
Europe		6		775	344	1,119		1,125
Asia-Pacific		336		4	446	450		786
Total Revenue	\$	4,154	\$	854	\$ 50,211	\$ 51,065	\$	55,219
<u>2023</u>								
Timing of Revenue Recognition								
Transferred at a point in time where CSPi is principal	\$	6,259	\$	741	\$ 41,136	\$ 41,877	\$	48,136
Transferred at a point in time where CSPi is agent		_		68	5,994	6,062		6,062
Transferred over time where CSPi is principal		614		213	9,621	9,835		10,449
Total Revenue	\$	6,873	\$	1,022	\$ 56,752	\$ 57,774	\$	64,647
Geography United States	\$	6,069	\$	125	\$ 51.587	\$ 51,712	\$	57,781
Americas (excluding United States)	Φ	110	Φ	13	4,859	4,872	φ	4,982
Europe		335		835	259	1,094		1,429
Asia-Pacific		359		49	47	96		455
Total Revenue	\$	6,873	\$	1.022	\$ 56,752	\$ 57,774	\$	64.647
	<u> </u>	0,075	<u></u>	-,0	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + 	<i>\$ 01,111</i>	Ψ	5 .,0 . /

In the TS US division financing of goods and services is offered to certain customers. This involves amounts due reflecting sales whose payment terms exceed one year. See *Note 3 Financing Receivables, net* for more details. Revenue from these agreements in fiscal year 2024 was \$2.0 million, which consisted of \$1.5 million with CSPi acting as the principal and \$0.5 million with CSPi acting as the agent. Revenue from these agreements in fiscal year 2023 was \$0.8 million with CSPi acting as the agent.

Contract Assets and Liabilities

When we have performed work but do not have an unconditional right to payment, a contract asset is recorded. When we have the right to bill a customer, accounts receivable is recorded as an unconditional right exists. Current contract assets were \$1.7 million and \$0.9 million as of September 30, 2024 and September 30, 2023, respectively. Current contract assets were \$4.4 million as of September 30, 2022. The current portion is recorded in other current assets on the consolidated balance sheets. There were no noncurrent contract assets as of September 30, 2024 and September 30, 2023. There were no noncurrent contract assets as of September 30, 2022. The difference in the balances is due to regular timing differences between when work is performed and having an unconditional right to payment.

Contract liabilities arise when payment is received before we transfer a good or service to the customer. Current contract liabilities were \$2.2 million and \$1.9 million as of September 30, 2024 and September 30, 2023, respectively. Current contract liabilities were \$4.1 million as of September 30, 2022. The current portion of contract liabilities is recorded in Deferred revenue and contract liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets. There were no long-term contract liabilities as of September 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. There were no long-term contract liabilities as of September 30, 2022. Revenue recognized for the year ended September 30, 2024 that was included in contract liabilities as of September 30, 2023 was \$1.3 million. At times, customers delay projects that were supposed to be complete within a year, which is why the full balance of Deferred revenue and contract liabilities as of September 30, 2023 was not recognized in the twelve months ended September 30, 2024. The Company cannot reasonably predict when the customers will make these delays.

Contract Costs

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract involving customer transactions where the revenue and the related transfer of goods and services are equal to or less than a one year period, are expensed as incurred, utilizing the practical expedient in *ASC 340-40-25-4*. Incremental costs are related to commissions in the TS portion of the business. Current capitalized contract costs are within the other current assets on the consolidated balance sheets as of September 30, 2024 and 2023. The portion of current capitalized costs were \$177 thousand and \$172 thousand as of September 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. There were no noncurrent capitalized costs on the consolidated balance sheets as these commissions are paid annually even when the contract extends beyond a one year period. The amount of incremental costs amortized for the years ended September 30, 2024 and 2023 were \$477 thousand and \$436 thousand, respectively. This is recorded in selling, general, and administrative expenses. There was no impairment related to incremental costs capitalized for the years ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

Costs to fulfill a contract are capitalized when the costs are related to a contract or anticipated contract, generate or enhance resources that will be used in satisfying performance obligations in the future, and costs are recoverable. Costs to fulfill a contract are related to the TS portion of the business and involve activities performed before managed services can be completed. Current capitalized fulfillment costs are in the other current assets and noncurrent costs are in other assets on the consolidated balance sheets. There were no current capitalized costs as of September 30, 2024 and \$9 thousand as of September 30, 2023, respectively. There were no noncurrent capitalized costs as of September 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. The amount of fulfillment costs amortized year ended September 30, 2024 and 2023 were \$9 thousand and \$13 thousand, respectively. These costs amortized were recorded in cost of sales. There was no impairment related to fulfillment costs capitalized for the year ended and 2023.

Other

Projects are typically billed upon completion or at certain milestones. Product and services are typically billed when shipped or as services are being performed. Payment terms are typically 30 days to pay in full except in Europe where it could be up to 90 days. Most of our contracts are less than one year. There are certain contracts that contain a financing component. See *Note 1 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies* to the consolidated financial statements for additional information. We elected to use the optional exemption to not disclose the aggregate amount of the transaction price allocated to performance obligations that have an original expected duration of one year or less. This is due to a low amount of performance obligations, which are less than one year from being unsatisfied at each period end. Most of these contracts are related to product sales.

We have certain contracts that have an original term of more than one year. The royalty agreement is longer than one year, but not included in the table below as the royalties are sales-based. Managed service contracts are generally longer than one year. For these contracts the aggregate amount of the transaction price allocated to the performance obligations that are unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied as of September 30, 2024 is set forth in the table below:

Fiscal Year	(Amounts in thousands)
2025	\$ 1,327
2026	999
Thereafter	2,002
	\$ 4,328

Product Warranty Accrual

Our product sales generally include a hardware warranty which ranges from 90-days to three-years. At time of product shipment, we accrue for the estimated cost including labor and hardware to repair or replace potentially defective products. Estimated warranty costs are based upon prior actual warranty costs for substantially similar products.

Engineering and Development Expenses

Engineering and development expenses include payroll, employee benefits, stock-based compensation and other headcount-related expenses associated with product development. Engineering and development expenses also include third-party development and programming costs. We consider technological feasibility for our software products to be reached upon the release of the software, accordingly, no internal software development costs have been capitalized.

Income Taxes

We use the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes whereby deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the estimated future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in net income in the period that includes the enactment date. We also reduce deferred tax assets by a valuation allowance if, based on the weight of available evidence, it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the recorded deferred tax assets will not be realized in future periods. This methodology requires estimates and judgments in the determination of the recoverability of deferred tax assets and in the calculation of certain tax liabilities. Valuation allowances are recorded against the gross deferred tax assets that management believes, after considering all available positive and negative objective evidence, historical and prospective, with greater weight given to historical evidence, that it is more likely than not that these assets will not be realized.

In addition, we are required to recognize in the consolidated financial statements, those tax positions determined to be more-likely-than-not of being sustained upon examination, based on the technical merits of the positions as of the reporting date. If a tax position is not considered more-likely-than-not to be sustained based solely on its technical merits, no benefits of the position are recognized.

In addition, the calculation of the Company's tax liabilities involves estimating uncertainties in the application of complex tax regulations in a multitude of jurisdictions. The Company records liabilities for estimated tax obligations in the U.S. and other tax jurisdictions. These estimated tax liabilities include the provision for taxes that may become payable in the future.

Earnings per Share of Common Stock

Basic net (loss) income per common share is computed by dividing net income available to common shareholders by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the period. Diluted net income per common share reflects the maximum dilution that would have resulted from the assumed exercise and share repurchase related to dilutive restricted stock awards and is computed by dividing net income available to common shareholders by the assumed weighted average number of common shares outstanding.

We are required to present earnings per share ("EPS") utilizing the two-class method because we had outstanding, non-vested share-based payment awards that contain non-forfeitable rights to dividends or dividend equivalents, which are considered participating securities.

Basic and diluted (loss) income per share computations for the Company's reported net (loss) income attributable to common stockholders are as follows:

	Year Ended				
	Sept	ember 30, 2024	September 30, 2023		
Net (loss) income	\$	(326)	\$	5,204	
Less: net income attributable to nonvested common stock		_		(320)	
Net (loss) income attributable to common shareholders	\$	(326)	\$	4,884	
Weighted average total shares outstanding - basic ⁽¹⁾		9,041		9,337	
Less: weighted average non-vested shares outstanding ⁽¹⁾		_		(575)	
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding - basic ⁽¹⁾		9,041		8,762	
Add: potential common shares from non-vested stock awards ⁽¹⁾		_		179	
Weighted average common shares outstanding - diluted ⁽¹⁾	\$	9,041		8,941	
Net (loss) income per common share - basic ⁽¹⁾	\$	(0.04)	\$	0.56	
Net (loss) income per common share - diluted ⁽¹⁾	\$	(0.04)	\$	0.55	

⁽¹⁾ Retroactively adjusted for the effects of a two for one stock split effected in the form of a 100% stock dividend for fiscal year 2023 (see Note 1)

All anti-dilutive securities, including restricted stock awards, are excluded from the diluted (loss) income per share computation. Non-vested restricted stock awards of 396 thousand shares were excluded from net loss per share for the year ended September 30, 2024 because their inclusion would have been anti-dilutive as there was a net loss for the period. Non-vested restricted stock awards of 108 thousand shares were excluded from net income per share for the year ended September 30, 2023 because their inclusion would have been anti-dilutive.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. Actual results may differ from those estimates under different assumptions or conditions.

Stock-Based Compensation

We measure and recognize compensation expense for nonvested stock-based payment awards made to employees and directors based on the closing market price of our common stock as quoted on the Nasdaq Global Market on the date of grant over the requisite service period. The Company recognizes stock compensation expense, net of actual forfeitures.

The Company has no outstanding stock options issued as of September 30, 2024 and did not issue any for the years ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

Stock-based compensation expense recognized in the consolidated statements of operations for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2024 and 2023 is based on awards ultimately expected to vest and has been reduced for estimated forfeitures and will be revised, if necessary, in subsequent periods if actual forfeitures differ from those estimates.

Stock-based compensation expense recognized for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2024 and 2023 consisted of restricted stock granted pursuant to the Company's stock incentive and employee stock purchase plans of approximately \$1.6 million and \$1.1 million, respectively.

Concentrations of Credit Risk

There was no customer with 10% or more of accounts receivable as of September 30, 2024 or September 30, 2023.

Below are customers with 10% or more of financing receivables as of September 30, 2024 or 2023.

			As of Septer	nber 30,		
		2024	1		2023	
	·		(Amounts in	millions)		_
			% of Total			% of Total
	Financing	Receivables	Financing Receivables	Financi	ng Receivables	Financing Receivables
Customer A	\$	3.0	41 %	\$	7.4	65 %
Customer B	\$	1.9	25 %	\$	2.5	22 %
Customer C	\$	1.3	18 %	\$	1.5	13 %

We do not believe we have a significant credit risk with respect to accounts receivable or financing receivables.

Subsequent Events

The Company recognizes in the consolidated financial statements the effects of all subsequent events that provide additional evidence about conditions that existed at the date of the statement of financial position, including the estimates inherent in the process of preparing financial statements. The Company has evaluated subsequent events through the date of this filing, see *Note 22 Subsequent event*.

2. Accounts Receivable, net

Upon adoption of the new CECL standard as described in *Note 1 Basis of Presentation and New Significant Accounting Policy*, the Company recognizes an allowance for credit losses on accounts receivable in an amount equal to the current expected credit losses. The estimation of the allowance is based on an analysis of historical loss experience, management's assessment of current conditions and reasonable and supportable expectation of future conditions as well as an assessment of specific identifiable customer accounts considered at risk or uncollectible including reviewing the current receivables aging. This results in a general reserve and a specific reserve. The Company assesses collectability by pooling receivables where similar characteristics exist and evaluates receivables individually when specific customer balances no longer share those risk characteristics and are considered at risk or uncollectible. The expense associated with the allowance for expected credit losses is recognized in Selling, general, and administrative expenses in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. The balance of accounts receivable, net as of September 30, 2022 was \$14.0 million, adjusted for the change in Presentation – sales whose payment terms exceed one year (see *Note 1* for details). Also adjusted, the balance of the current and non-current portion of financing receivables as of September 30, 2022 was \$9.0 million and \$7.4 million, respectively.

Amounts disclosed below for the year ended September 30, 2024 reflect adoption of the new CECL standard and the amounts disclosed for the year ended September 30, 2023 reflect superseded guidance. The following table presents the changes in the allowance for accounts receivable for the periods indicated.

	Year ended					
	September 30, 2024			ptember 30, 2023		
		(Amoun	ts in thousai	nds)		
Allowance for credit losses for accounts receivable:						
Balances at beginning of the period	\$	100	\$	88		
Adjustment for adoption of new CECL standard		(67)		-		
Charge-offs		-		(14)		
Provision for credit losses		114		26		
Balances at end of the period	\$	147	\$	100		

3. Financing Receivables, net

In the TS-US division financing of goods and services is offered to certain customers within the United States. This involves amounts due reflecting sales whose payment terms exceed one year. This financing is separate from agreements with a leasing component, see *Note 10 Leases* for financing through leases. Determining whether to offer financing involves looking at the customer's payment history, economic conditions, and capacity to pay. These financing arrangements do not contain collateral.

The Company assigns an internal risk rating to each customer at inception, which groups customers into a portfolio based on this risk rating. A risk rating is assigned by analyzing a customer's financial statements and the latest Fitch rating, if publicly available, as well as recent payment activity. The credit quality of customers is continually monitored by these items. Accounts rated low risk have the equivalent of a Fitch rating of BBB— or higher, while accounts rated moderate risk have the equivalent of BB. The Company does not offer financing for customers where the risk is classified as higher, which would be lower than the equivalent of a BB Fitch rating due to the likelihood of loss being higher.

The risk characteristics of each portfolio are consistent with the Fitch rating or equivalent. According to Fitch Ratings, ""BB' ratings indicate an elevated vulnerability to default risk, particularly in the event of adverse changes in business or economic conditions over time; however, business or financial flexibility exists that supports the servicing of financial commitments." According to Fitch Ratings, "BBB' ratings indicate that expectations of default risk are currently low. The capacity for payment of financial commitments is considered adequate, but adverse business or economic conditions are more likely to impair this capacity."

The only significant change in factors that influenced the estimate of expected credit losses as of September 30, 2024 was a significant customer having its Fitch Rating upgraded from BB+ to BBB-. This customer had a balance of \$1.9 million, or 25%, of financing receivables, net and \$2.5 million, or 22%, as of September 30, 2024 and September 30, 2023, respectively.

Financing receivables, net carry an average weighted average interest rate of 8.4%, which reflects the approximate interest rate consistent with a separate financing transaction with the customer at the inception of the agreement.

The amount of interest income earned from sales whose payment terms exceed one year for the years ended September 30, 2024 and 2023 was \$700 thousand and \$810 thousand, respectively. Interest income from these agreements is recorded in Other income (expense), net on the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Amounts disclosed below as of September 30, 2024 reflect adoption of the new CECL standard and the amounts disclosed as of September 30, 2023 reflect superseded guidance.

The following table presents the components of the Company's Financing receivables, net segregated by portfolio (risk rating) for the periods indicated:

As of September 30, 2024				As of September 30, 2023							
	Risk	Rating					Ratin	g			
	Low				Total		Low				Total
	(An	nounts	in thousa	nds)			(An	nount	s in thousa	nds)	
\$	7,153	\$	874	\$	8,027	\$	8,893	\$	3,361	\$	12,254
	(599)		(85)		(684)		(325)		(534)		(859)
	(27)		(10)		(37)						-
\$	6,527	\$	779	\$	7,306	\$	8,568	\$	2,827	\$	11,395
\$	4,013	\$	371	\$	4,384	\$	6,281	\$	890	\$	7,171
\$	2,514	\$	408	\$	2,922	\$	2,287	\$	1,937	\$	4,224
	\$ \$ \$ \$	** 7,153 (599) (27) ** 6,527 ** 4,013	Risk Rating Low M (Amounts	Risk Rating Moderate (Amounts in thousa	Risk Rating Low Moderate (Amounts in thousands)	Risk Rating Low Moderate (Amounts in thousands)	Risk Rating Low Moderate Total	Risk Rating Risk Low Moderate Total Low (Amounts in thousands) (Ar \$ 7,153 \$ 874 \$ 8,027 \$ 8,893 (599) (85) (684) (325) (27) (10) (37) - \$ 6,527 \$ 779 \$ 7,306 \$ 8,568 \$ 4,013 \$ 371 \$ 4,384 \$ 6,281	Risk Rating Risk Rating Low Moderate Total Low 1 (Amounts in thousands) (Amounts (Amounts \$ 7,153 \$ 874 \$ 8,027 \$ 8,893 \$ (599) (85) (684) (325) (27) (10) (37) - \$ 6,527 \$ 779 \$ 7,306 \$ 8,568 \$ \$ 4,013 \$ 371 \$ 4,384 \$ 6,281 \$	Risk Rating Low Moderate Total Low Moderate (Amounts in thousands) Compared Low Moderate (Amounts in thousands) (Amounts in thousands) (Amounts in thousands) (Amounts in thousands) (599) (85) (684) (325) (534) (27) (10) (37) - -	Risk Rating Risk Rating Low Moderate (Amounts in thousands) Low Moderate (Amounts in thousands) (Amounts in thousands) \$ 7,153 \$ 874 \$ 8,027 \$ 8,893 \$ 3,361 \$ (599) (85) (684) (325) (534) \$ (27) (10) (37) - - - \$ 6,527 \$ 779 \$ 7,306 \$ 8,568 \$ 2,827 \$ \$ 34,013 \$ 371 \$ 4,384 \$ 6,281 \$ 890 \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$

Amounts disclosed below for the year ended September 30, 2024 reflect adoption of the new CECL standard and the amounts for the year ended September 30, 2023 reflect superseded guidance.

The following table presents the changes in Allowance for credit losses for Financing receivables, net for the periods indicated:

					Year	ende	ed .				
	 S	Septem	ber 30, 202	24			5	epten	nber 30, 2023		
	Risk	Rating					Risk	Rating	g		
	Low	Mo	oderate		Total		Low	M	oderate	T	otal
	(Aı	nounts	in thousa	nds)			(Aı	nount	s in thousand	ls)	
Allowance for credit losses for financing	,			ĺ			,				
receivables:											
Balances at beginning of the period	\$ -	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-
Adjustment for adoption of new CECL											
standard	27		55		82		-		-		-
Recovery charged to Consolidated											
Statements of Operations	-		(45)		(45)		-		-		-
Balances at end of the period	\$ 27	\$	10	\$	37	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-

Upon adoption of the new CECL standard as described in *Note 1 Basis of Presentation and New Significant Accounting Policy*, the Company recognizes an allowance for credit losses for financing receivables in an amount equal

to the probable losses net of recoveries. A probability method for calculating credit losses is used based on historical data of defaults of Fitch ratings and length of time. Various factors are also assessed in the allowance for credit losses including internal historical data as well as macroeconomic forecast assumptions and management judgments applicable to and through the expected life of the portfolios. Macroeconomic conditions include the level of gross domestic product ("GDP") growth and unemployment rates, which directly correlate with our historical credit losses. The expense associated with the allowance for expected credit losses is recognized in Selling, general, and administrative expenses in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Financing receivables whose payment terms exceed one year are placed on non-accrual status, meaning interest income stops being recorded, when the customer has a past due amount in excess of 30 days or reasonable doubt exists in collecting all interest and principal. A payment due in excess of 30 days is considered delinquent. If a payment is received for a receivable on non-accrual status the payment is first applied to interest and then principal. Recording interest income resumes once no reasonable doubt exists regarding collecting all interest and principal. There were no financing receivables placed on non-accrual status as of September 30, 2024 or September 30, 2023.

The following table presents Financing receivables, gross, including accrued interest and excluding any allowance, by credit quality indicator segregated by risk rating and year of origination as of September 30, 2024:

		Se	ptember 30, 2	2024	
		Fiscal year o	of origination		
Risk Rating	2024	2023	2022	2021	Total
Moderate	\$ 531	\$ 343	\$ —	\$ —	\$ 874
Low	2,956	2,637	_	1,560	7,153
Total	\$ 3,487	\$ 2,980	\$ —	\$ 1,560	\$ 8,027

Contractual maturities of outstanding financing receivables are as follows:

Fiscal year ending September 30:	(Amount	ts in thousands)
2025	\$	5,119
2026		2,042
2027		808
2028		58
Total payments	\$	8,027
Less: unearned interest income		(684)
Less: allowance for credit losses		(37)
Total, net of unearned interest income and allowance for credit losses	\$	7,306

4. Inventories, net

Inventories, net consist of the following:

	Sept	tember 30, 2024	Sep	otember 30, 2023
		(Amounts	in thous	sands)
Raw materials	\$	77	\$	247
Work-in-process		315		36
Finished goods		1,901		2,259
Total	\$	2,293	\$	2,542

We evaluate inventory for obsolescence on at least a quarterly basis or more frequently if needed. Our HPP segment has a multi-faceted approach in determining obsolescence including reviewing inventory by product line, program, and individual part. In the TS segment, we seek to minimize obsolete inventory by having nearly all of our inventory purchased in conjunction with a sales agreement. From time to time, we do purchase certain inventory in bulk to receive discounts, but only when we anticipate selling this inventory in the near-term. The inventory we purchase at the TS segment is in high demand, especially in the current environment, and has a limited risk of obsolescence. The TS US division has many vendors it transacts with and does not have any specific agreement with any vendor that it must purchase certain products. Management believes other suppliers could provide similar products with comparable terms.

5. Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss

The components of accumulated other comprehensive loss are as follows:

	Effect of Foreign Currency Franslation (An	 Minimum Pension Liability nts in thousands	Co	Other omprehensive Loss
Balance as of September 30, 2022	\$ (5,791)	\$ (1,537)		(7,328)
Change in period	962	244		1,206
Tax effect of change in period	_	28		28
Balance as of September 30, 2023	\$ (4,829)	\$ (1,265)	\$	(6,094)
Change in period	723	(60)		663
Tax effect of change in period	_	66		66
Balance as of September 30, 2024	\$ (4,106)	\$ (1,259)	\$	(5,365)

The changes in the minimum pension liability are net of an amortization gain of \$185 thousand in 2024 and a gain of \$200 thousand in 2023 included in net periodic pension cost.

6. Income Taxes

The components of income (loss) before income tax benefit and income tax benefit are comprised of the following:

	For the Ye Septem		
	 2024		2023
	(Amounts in	ı thou	sands)
Income (loss) before income tax benefit			
U.S.	\$ 74	\$	5,202
Foreign	 (493)		(467)
	\$ (419)	\$	4,735
Income tax expense:			
Current:			
Federal	\$ 123	\$	1,551
State	 172		326
	\$ 295	\$	1,877
Deferred:			
Federal	\$ (372)	\$	(1,971)
State	 (15)		(375)
	\$ (387)	\$	(2,346)
Total income tax benefit	\$ (93)	\$	(469)

The effective income tax rate differed from the statutory federal income tax rate due to the following:

	For the Years Ended September 30,						
		2024		2023			
	(Dollar amounts in thousands)						
Computed "expected" tax expense	\$	(88)	21.0 % \$	994	21.0 %		
Increases (reductions) in taxes resulting from:							
State income taxes, net of federal tax benefit		(87)	20.8 %	106	2.2 %		
Foreign rate differential		10	(2.4)%	9	0.2 %		
Employee Retention Credit		_	— %	(134)	(2.8)%		
RSA Windfall		(189)	45.1 %	(16)	(0.3)%		
Permanent differences		19	(4.5)%	9	0.2 %		
Change in valuation allowance		180	(43.0)%	(1,746)	(36.9)%		
Research and development credit		(90)	21.5 %	(112)	(2.4)%		
Deferred Tax True Ups		4	(1.0)%	322	6.8 %		
FIN 48 Reserves		89	(21.2)%	166	3.5 %		
Return to Provision Adjustments		39	(9.3)%	(64)	(1.4)%		
Other items		20	(4.8)%	(3)	(0.1)%		
Income tax benefit	\$	(93)	22.2 % \$	(469)	(9.9)%		

Significant components of the Company's net deferred tax assets and liabilities as of September 30, 2024 and 2023 are as follows:

	September 30, 2024 (Amounts	September 30, 2023 in thousands)
Deferred tax assets:		
Pension	\$ 331	\$ 321
Capitalized research and development expenses	1,155	651
Other reserves and accruals	975	1,118
Inventory reserves and other	303	278
Federal and state tax credits	829	771
Federal and state net operating loss carryforwards	4	_
Foreign net operating loss carryforwards	2,554	2,945
Lease Liability	121	239
Gross deferred tax assets	6,272	6,323
Less: valuation allowance	(2,800)	(3,283)
Realizable deferred tax asset	3,472	3,040
Deferred tax liabilities:		
Depreciation and amortization	(69)	(84)
ROU Asset	(119)) (235)
Pension	(550)	(372)
Intangibles	_	(3)
Realizable deferred tax liabilities	(738)	(694)
Net deferred tax assets	\$ 2,734	\$ 2,346

The Company undertakes a review of its valuation allowance at each financial statement period, reviewing the positive and negative evidence to help determine whether it is more likely than not that the Company will realize the future tax benefits from its deferred tax balances. The Company has determined that it is more likely than not that substantially all of its net deferred tax assets in the U.S. jurisdiction will be utilized and that associated valuation allowances should not be reversed at September 30, 2024 or 2023. The Company separately analyzed the realizability of its federal and state credits and determined \$796 thousand (net of federal benefit) of state credits are expected to expire unutilized and kept a valuation allowance against these credits. The Company will continue to maintain a valuation allowance against certain state tax credits in the U.S. and a full valuation allowance against the net deferred tax assets in the U.K. jurisdiction.

As of September 30, 2024, and 2023, the Company had no U.S. net operating loss or tax credit carryforwards for federal purposes.

As of September 30, 2024, and 2023, the Company had U.S. net operating loss carryforwards for state purposes of approximately \$60 thousand and \$12 thousand, respectively, which are available to offset future taxable income through 2035. As of September 30, 2024, the Company had state tax credit carryforwards of \$1.1 million available to reduce future state tax expense, of which \$55 thousand has unlimited carryover status and the remainder of the credits are available through FY 2038.

As of September 30, 2024, the Company had U.K. net operating loss carryforwards of approximately \$10.6 million that have an indefinite life with no expiration.

Undistributed earnings of the Company's foreign subsidiaries amounted to approximately \$10.3 million and \$4.8 million as of September 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. The Company is considering cash distribution of undistributed foreign earnings in the future and will continue to assess the potential impact of any future distributions on U.S. taxes. The state tax impact of a distribution of foreign earnings and profits would not be material.

In addition, the calculation of the Company's tax liabilities involves dealing with uncertainties in the application of complex tax regulations in a multitude of jurisdictions. The Company records liabilities for estimated tax obligations in the U.S. and other tax jurisdictions. These estimated tax liabilities include the provision for taxes that may become payable in the future.

As of September 30, 2024, the total amount of uncertain tax liabilities relates to federal and state tax credit carryforwards which are partially recorded net in deferred taxes and partially as a long term tax payable.

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances of the total amounts of gross unrecognized tax benefits is as follows:

	For the Year Ended					
	Septemb	September 30, 2024				
	·	(Amounts in t	housands			
Balance, beginning of year	\$	323	\$	502		
Additions for tax positions of current year		11		22		
Additions for tax positions of prior years		(8)		(201)		
Reduction for lapse of the applicable statute of limitations		(13)		_		
Accrued penalties and interest		22		_		
Balance, end of period	\$	335	\$	323		

The unrecognized tax benefits of \$350 thousand as of September 30, 2024, if recognized, would reduce our annual effective tax rate, subject to the valuation allowance. The Company does not expect our unrecognized tax benefits to change significantly over the next 12 months.

We file income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction and various state and foreign jurisdictions. The Company has reviewed the tax positions taken on returns filed domestically and in its foreign jurisdictions for all open years, generally fiscal 2021 through 2024, and believes that any tax adjustments not currently reserved in any audited year will not be material.

7. Property, Equipment and Improvements, net

Property, equipment and improvements, net consist of the following:

	Sep	tember 30, <u>2024</u> (Amounts in	 ember 30, 2023 sands)
Leasehold improvements	\$	224	\$ 224
Equipment		8,814	8,626
Automobiles		194	194
Property, equipment and improvements, gross		9,232	 9,044
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization		(8,803)	(8,519)
Property, equipment and improvements, net	\$	429	\$ 525

The Company uses the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets to record depreciation expense. Depreciation expense was \$292 thousand and \$343 thousand for the years ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

8. Acquired Intangible Assets

As of September 30, 2024 and 2023, intangible assets are as follows:

		September 30, 2024				September 30, 2023								
	Weighted Average Remaining Amortization Period		ross			Avera Remair ulated Amortiz		Weighted Average Remaining Amortization Period			Accumulated Amortization		!	Net
Customer list	0 years	\$	_	\$	_	\$	_	1 year	\$	90	\$	(89)	\$	1
Patent	8 years	\$	60	\$	(10)	\$	50	9 years	\$	51	\$	(6)	\$	45

Amortization expense on these intangible assets was \$6 thousand and \$15 thousand for the years ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. There were additions of \$10 and \$51 thousand for the years ended Septembe 30, 2024 and 2023. These additions were at our HPP segment related to our ARIA cybersecurity products.

Annual amortization expense related to intangible assets for each of the following successive fiscal years is as follows:

Fiscal year ending September 30:	(Amounts i	in thousands)
2025	\$	5
2026		5
2027		5
2028		5
2028		5
Thereafter		25
Total	\$	50

9. Accounts payable and accrued expenses, and Other noncurrent liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued expenses consist of the following:

	Septem	ber 30	0,
	2024		2023
	(Amounts in	sands)	
Accounts payable	\$ 6,953	\$	5,141
Vendor financing agreements	2,309		1,578
Commissions	527		615
Compensation and fringe benefits	1,342		1,958
Professional fees	370		199
Taxes, other than income	170		130
Director fees	14		_
Operating lease liability	382		502
Employee Retention Tax Credit Payable	11		640
Product warranty	6		22
Total	\$ 12,084	\$	10,785

The TS US division enters into certain multi-year agreements with vendors when also entering into some of the multi-year contracts the Company enters into with customers. The caption "Vendor financing agreements" above represents the interest-bearing amounts due to vendors, which are current. See *Note 3 Financing Receivables, net* for further information related to the multi-year agreements with customers.

There was not an interest rate stated explicitly in the agreements and therefore interest was imputed under ASC 835 Interest as the payments in the exchange represented two elements: principal and interest. The average weighted imputed interest rate for the agreements was determined to be 7.9%. The rate was determined primarily based on the rate the Company could obtain by financing from other sources at the date of the transaction.

Interest expense related to these agreements was \$219 thousand and \$229 thousand for the years ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

The amounts owed for these agreements are within the Consolidated balance sheets in accounts payable and other noncurrent liabilities because they are owed to a vendor rather than banks or financial institutions for borrowings. See *Note 12 Line of Credit* and *Note 13 Note Payable* for amounts due to banks and other financial institutions for borrowings.

Below are details of the aforementioned agreements with the vendors that contain imputed interest:

	Septem		mber 30, 2023	
		(Amounts in		
Current	\$	2,553	\$	1,718
Less: discount		(244)		(140)
Accounts payable and accrued expenses	\$	2,309	\$	1,578
Noncurrent	\$	1,677	\$	1,967
Less: discount		(146)		(116)
Other noncurrent liabilities	\$	1,531	\$	1,851

The TS US division has many vendors it transacts with and does not have any specific agreement with any vendor that it must purchase certain products. Management believes other suppliers could provide similar products with comparable terms.

10. Leases

Information related to both lessee and lessor

The following table specifies where the right-of-use assets, lease liabilities, and investment in lease are within the Consolidated Balance Sheets as of September 30, 2024 and 2023:

	Consolidated Balance Sheets Location	Septe	September 30, 2024		eptember 30, 2023
			(Amounts in thousands)		
Assets					
Operating leases	Operating lease right-of-use assets	\$	489	\$	966
Lease receivable - current	Other current assets	\$	14	\$	8
Lease receivable - noncurrent	Other assets		11		7
Total lease receivable		\$	25	\$	15
Liabilities					
Current operating lease liabilities	Accounts payable and accrued expenses	\$	382	\$	502
Non-current operating lease	Operating lease liabilities - noncurrent				
liabilities	portion		117		482
Total operating lease liabilities		\$	499	\$	984

The components of lease costs for the year ended September 30, 2024 and 2023 are as follows:

	Consolidated Statements of Operations Location	Septen	ber 30, 2024	Sept	ember 30, 2023
			(Amounts in	ı thousar	nds)
Finance Lease:					
Interest on lease liabilities	Interest expense	\$	_	\$	1
Operating Lease:					
Operating lease cost	Selling, general, and administrative		531		618
Short-term lease cost	Selling, general, and administrative		34		43
Total lease costs		\$	565	\$	662
Less sublease interest income	Revenue		(3)		(3)
Total lease costs, net of sublease	2				<u> </u>
interest income		\$	562	\$	659

Future lease payments under our non-cancellable leases and payments to be received as a sublessor as of September 30, 2024 are in the following table:

Fiscal year ending September 30:	Ope	rating lease costs		Sublease payments
2025	\$	395	\$	16
2026		114		9
2027		5		4
Total	\$	514	\$	29
Less imputed interest		(15)		(4)
Total	\$	499	\$	25

Supplemental cash flow information related to leases for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2024 and 2023 is below:

	Year ended				
	Septemb	er 30, 2024	Sept	ember 30, 2023	
	(Amounts in thousands)				
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities:					
Operating cash flows paid for operating leases	\$	539	\$	628	
Operating cash flows paid for short-term leases		34		43	
Operating cash flows paid for finance leases		1		1	
Financing cash flows paid for finance leases				4	
Cash received from subleases		(15)		(20)	
Lease assets obtained in exchange for new lease liabilities					
Operating leases		19		392	

Information as a lessee related to weighted averages of lease term and discount rate as of September 30, 2024 is below:

Weighted-average remaining lease term (years)	September 30, 2024
Operating leases	1.3
Weighted-average discount rate	September 30, 2024
Operating leases	7.0%

11. Product Warranties

Product warranty activity for the year ended September 30, 2024 and 2023 was as follows:

	2024		2	023	
	(Amounts in thousands				
Balance at the beginning of the year	\$	22	\$	44	
Usage for warranties for products sold in the period		(16)		_	
Fulfillment of warranty obligations		_		(22)	
Balance at the end of the year	\$	6	\$	22	

These amounts are within Accounts payable and accrued expenses on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

12. Line of Credit

As of September 30, 2024 and September 30, 2023, the Company maintained an inventory line of credit with a borrowing capacity of \$15.0 million. It may be used by the TS or HPP segment in the U.S. to purchase inventory from approved vendors with payment terms which exceed those offered by the vendors. No interest accrues under the inventory line of credit when advances are paid within terms, however, late payments are subject to an interest charge of the rate published in the Wall Street Journal as the "prime rate" plus 5%. The prime rate was 8.0% as of September 30, 2024. There is no expiration date or minimum principal payment. However, the credit agreement for the inventory line of credit contains financial covenants which require the Company to maintain the following TS segment-specific financial ratios: (1) a minimum current ratio of 1.2, (2) tangible net worth of no less than \$4.0 million, and (3) a maximum ratio of total liabilities to total net worth of less than 5.0:1. As of September 30, 2024 and September 30, 2023, Company borrowings, all from the TS segment, under the inventory line of credit were \$4.2 million and \$1.5 million, respectively, and the Company was in compliance with all covenants. There is no unused commitment fee. As of September 30, 2024 and September 30, 2023, this line of credit also included availability of a limited cash withdrawal option of up to \$1.0 million. As of September 30, 2024 and 2023, there were no cash withdrawals outstanding.

13. Note Payable

In October 2019, the Company borrowed \$2.0 million with a 5.1% rate of interest related to a multi-year agreement with a customer. This note payable was paid in full as of September 30, 2024.

There was no interest expense for the year ended September 30, 2024. Interest expense related to the note for the year ended September 30, 2023 was \$22 thousand. Below are details of the notes payable.

	Septe	ember 30, 2024	Septen	nber 30, 2023				
		(Amounts in thousands)						
Current	\$	_	\$	449				
Less: note discount		_		_				
Note payable - current portion	\$	_	\$	449				

14. Pension and Retirement Plans

We have defined benefit and defined contribution plans in the U.K. and in the U.S. In the U.K., the Company provides defined benefit pension plans for certain employees and former employees and defined contribution plans for the majority of the employees. The defined benefit plan in the U.K. is frozen to newly hired employees and has been for the two years ended September 30, 2024. In the U.S., the Company provides defined contribution plans that cover most employees and supplementary retirement plans to certain employees and former employees who are now retired. These supplementary retirement plans are also closed to newly hired employees and have been for the two years ended September 30, 2024. These supplementary plans are funded through whole life insurance policies. The Company expects to recover all insurance premiums paid under these policies in the future, through the cash surrender value of the policies and any death benefits or portions thereof to be paid upon the death of the participant. These whole life insurance policies are carried on the balance sheet at their cash surrender values as they are owned by the Company and not assets of the defined benefit plans. In the U.S., the Company also provides for officer death benefits and post-retirement health insurance benefits through supplemental post-retirement plans to certain officers. The Company also funds these supplemental plans' obligations through whole life insurance policies on the officers.

Defined Benefit Plans

The Company funds its pension plans in amounts sufficient to meet the requirements set forth in applicable employee benefits laws and local tax laws. Liabilities for amounts in excess of these funding levels are accrued and reported in the consolidated balance sheets. If the liabilities are below funding levels an asset is recorded.

The domestic supplemental retirement plans have life insurance policies which are not considered plan assets but were purchased by the Company as a vehicle to fund the costs of the plan. These insurance policies are included in the balance sheet in the financial statement line item "Cash surrender value of life insurance" at their cash surrender value, net of policy loans aggregating \$3.8 million and \$3.7 million as of September 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. The loans against the policies have been taken out by the Company to pay the premiums. The costs and benefit payments for these plans are paid through operating cash flows of the Company to the extent that they cannot be funded through the use of the cash values in the insurance policies. The Company expects that the recorded value of the insurance policies will be sufficient to fund all of the Company's obligations under these plans.

Assumptions:

The following table provides the weighted average actuarial assumptions used to determine the actuarial present value of projected benefit obligations at:

	Domes	tic	International				
	Septembe	r 30,	September 30,				
	2024	2023	2024	2023			
Discount rate:	4.86 %	5.62 %	5.0 %	5.4 %			
Expected return on plan assets:			4.7 %	5.1 %			

The following table provides the weighted average actuarial assumptions used to determine net periodic benefit cost for years ended:

	Domest	tic	<u>International</u>				
	Septembe	r 30,	September 30,				
	2024	2023	2024	2023			
Discount rate:	5.62 %	5.14 %	5.0 %	5.4 %			
Expected return on plan assets:			4.7 %	5.1 %			

For domestic plans, the discount rate was determined by comparison against the FTSE pension liability index for AA rated corporate instruments. The Company monitors other indices to assure that the pension obligations are fairly reported on a consistent basis. The international discount rates were determined by comparison against country specific AA corporate indices, adjusted for duration of the obligation.

The periodic benefit cost and the actuarial present value of projected benefit obligations are based on actuarial assumptions that are reviewed on an annual basis. The Company revises these assumptions based on an annual evaluation of long-term trends, as well as market conditions, that may have an impact on the cost of providing retirement benefits.

For the supplementary domestic plan, medical benefits are assumed to be increasing based on the Long Term Healthcare Cost Trends Getzen Model commencing with 7.5% per year with such increase decreasing by 0.5% per year over the next several years and decreasing in accordance with the model pre 65 and 4.54% post 65. Life expectancy for medical benefits is based on the PRI-2012 White Collar for Males and Females Pre and Post retirement, Adjusted to 2006 projected using scale MP-2021.

The components of net periodic benefit costs related to the U.S. and international plans are as follows:

Year ended September 30,											
			2024					2023			
	U.K.		U.S.					_	U.S.		Total
				(<i>A</i>	Amounts ir	tho	usands)				
\$		\$	11	\$		\$		\$	13	\$	442
	(515)		_		(515)		(575)		_		(575)
	8		_		8		7		_		7
			(5)		(5)				(4)		(4)
\$	(67)	\$	6	\$	(61)	\$	(139)	\$	9	\$	(130)
\$	_	\$	23	\$	23	\$	_	\$	24	\$	24
	_		64		64		_		62		62
	_		(172)		(172)		_		(196)		(196)
\$		\$	(85)	\$	(85)	\$		\$	(110)	\$	(110)
\$	(106)	\$	6	\$	(100)	\$	(313)	\$	(1)	\$	(314)
			160		160		_		70		70
											<u>.</u>
\$	(106)	\$	166	\$	60	\$	(313)	\$	69	\$	(244)
	\$ \$ \$ \$	\$ (515) 8 \$ (67) \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	\$ 440 \$ (515) 8	U.K. U.S. \$ 440 \$ 11 (515)	2024 U.K. U.S. \$ 440 \$ 11 \$ (515) — 8 — — (5) \$ (67) \$ 6 \$ \$ — \$ 23 \$ — 64 — (172) \$ — \$ (85) \$ \$ (85) \$	2024 U.K. U.S. Total (Amounts in Section 1) \$ 440 \$ 11 \$ 451 (515) — (515) — (515) 8 — 8 — (5) — (5) \$ (67) \$ 6 \$ (61) \$ — \$ 23 \$ 23 — 64 64 — (172) (172) \$ — \$ (85) \$ (85) \$ (106) \$ 6 \$ (100)	2024 U.K. U.S. Total (Amounts in thown thown to thow thow thow thow thow thow thow t	U.K. U.S. Total (Amounts in thousands) \$ 440 \$ 11 \$ 451 \$ 429 (515) — (515) (575) 8 — 8 7 — (5) (5) — \$ (67) \$ 6 (61) \$ (139) \$ — \$ 23 \$ 23 \$ — — 64 64 — — (172) (172) — \$ — \$ (85) \$ (85) \$ — \$ (106) \$ 6 \$ (100) \$ (313)	2024 U.K. U.S. Total (Amounts in thousands) \$ 440 \$ 11 \$ 451 \$ 429 \$ (515) (515) — (515) (575) 8 — 8 7 — (5) (5) — \$ (67) \$ 6 \$ (61) \$ (139) \$ \$ — \$ 23 \$ 23 \$ — \$ — 64 64 — — (172) (172) — \$ — \$ (85) \$ (85) \$ — \$ \$ (106) \$ 6 \$ (100) \$ (313) \$	2024 2023 U.K. U.S. Total (Amounts in thousands) U.K. U.S. \$ 440 \$ 11 \$ 451 \$ 429 \$ 13 (515) — (515) (575) — 8 — 8 7 — — (5) (5) — (4) \$ (67) \$ 6 \$ (61) \$ (139) \$ 9 \$ — \$ 23 \$ 23 \$ — \$ 24 — 64 64 — 62 — (172) (172) — (196) \$ — \$ (85) \$ (85) \$ — \$ (110) \$ (106) \$ 6 \$ (100) \$ (313) \$ (1)	2024 2023 U.K. U.S. Total (Amounts in thousands) U.K. U.S. \$ 440 \$ 11 \$ 451 \$ 429 \$ 13 \$ (515) \$ (515) — (515) (575) — \$ 8 — 8 7 — — (5) (5) — (4) \$ (67) \$ 6 \$ (61) \$ (139) \$ 9 \$ \$ — \$ 23 \$ 23 \$ — \$ 24 \$ — 64 64 — 62 — (172) (172) — (196) \$ — \$ (85) \$ (85) \$ — \$ (110) \$ \$ (106) \$ 6 \$ (100) \$ (313) \$ (1) \$

The following table presents an analysis of the changes in 2024 and 2023 of the benefit obligation, the plan assets and the funded status of the plans:

					Y	ears Ended	Sept	ember 30				
				2024								
		Foreign	_	U.S.	_	Total (Amounts in		Foreign	_	U.S.		Total
Pension:						(Amounts n	i tiio	usanus)				
Change in projected benefit obligation												
("PBO")												
Balance beginning of year	\$	8,076	\$	202	\$	8,278	\$	7,726	\$	261	\$	7,987
Interest cost		440		11		451		429		13		442
Changes in actuarial assumptions		349		1		350		(317)		(4)		(321)
Foreign exchange impact		788		_		788		759				759
Benefits paid		(488)		(54)		(542)		(521)		(68)		(589)
Projected benefit obligation at end of year	\$	9,165	\$	160	\$	9,325	\$	8,076	\$	202	\$	8,278
Changes in fair value of plan assets:	_		_		_		_		_		_	
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year	\$	10,034	\$	_	\$	10,034	\$	8,825	\$	_	\$	8,825
Actual gain (loss) on plan assets		985		_		985		628		_		628
Company contributions		_		54		54		239		68		307
Foreign exchange impact		978		_		978		863		_		863
Administrative expenses		(143)		_		(143)						
Benefits paid		(488)		(54)		(542)		(521)		(68)		(589)
Fair value of plan assets at end of year	\$	11,366	\$		\$	11,366	\$	10,034	\$	_	\$	10,034
Funded status \ net amount recognized	\$	2,201	\$	(160)	\$	2,041	\$	1,958	\$	(202)	\$	1,756
Post Retirement:												
Change in projected benefit obligation												
("PBO"):												
Balance beginning of year	\$	_	\$	1,147	\$	1,147	\$	_	\$	1,186	\$	1,186
Service cost		_		23		23		_		24		24
Interest cost		_		64		64		_		62		62
Changes in actuarial assumptions				(12)		(12)				(125)		(125)
Projected benefit obligation at end of year	\$		\$	1,222	\$	1,222	\$		\$	1,147	\$	1,147
Funded status \ net amount recognized	\$	_	\$	(1,222)	\$	(1,222)	\$		\$	(1,147)	\$	(1,147)

The amounts recognized in the consolidated balance sheet consist of:

	Years Ended September 30											
				2024								
		Foreign	_	U.S.	_	Total		Foreign		U.S.		Total
n '						(Amounts in	1 tho	usands)				
Pension:												
Accrued benefit asset (liability)	\$	2,201	\$	(160)	\$	2,041	\$	1,958	\$	(202)	\$	1,756
Deferred tax		_		23		23		_		26		26
Accumulated other comprehensive income		212		12		224		318		8		326
Net amount recognized	\$	2,413	\$	(125)	\$	2,288	\$	2,276	\$	(168)	\$	2,108
Post Retirement:						-						
Accrued benefit liability	\$	_	\$	(1,222)	\$	(1,222)	\$	_	\$	(1,147)	\$	(1,147)
Deferred tax		_		212		212		_		277		277
Accumulated other comprehensive loss		_		(144)		(144)		_		(240)		(240)
Net amount recognized	\$		\$	(1,154)	\$	(1,154)	\$		\$	(1,110)	\$	(1,110)
Total pension and post retirement:					_				_		_	
Accrued benefit asset (liability)	\$	2,201	\$	(1,382)	\$	819	\$	1,958	\$	(1,349)	\$	609
Deferred tax		_		235		235		_		303		303
Accumulated other comprehensive income												
(loss)		212		(132)		80		318		(232)		86
Net amount recognized	\$	2,413	\$	(1,279)	\$	1,134	\$	2,276	\$	(1,278)	\$	998
Accumulated Benefit Obligation:				-						-		
Pension	\$	(9,165)	\$	(160)	\$	(9,325)	\$	(8,076)	\$	(202)	\$	(8,278)
Post Retirement		_		(1,222)		(1,222)		_		(1,147)		(1,147)
Total accumulated benefit obligation	\$	(9,165)	\$	(1,382)	\$	(10,547)	\$	(8,076)	\$	(1,349)	\$	(9,425)

Plans with projected benefit obligations in excess of plan assets are attributable to unfunded domestic supplemental retirement plans.

Accrued benefit assets and liabilities reported as:

		,		
		2024		2023
		(Amounts i	n thous	sands)
Non-current benefits assets	\$	2,201	\$	1,958
Current accrued benefit liability	\$	76	\$	98
Non-current accrued benefit liability		1,306		1,251
Total accrued benefit liability	\$	1,382	\$	1,349

As of September 30, 2024 and 2023, the amounts included in accumulated other comprehensive income, consisted of deferred net gains totaling approximately \$0.1 million and \$0.1 million, respectively.

The amount of net deferred gain expected to be recognized as a component of net periodic benefit cost for the year ending September 30, 2024, is approximately \$185 thousand.

Contributions

The Company expects to contribute \$0.1 million to its pension plans in fiscal 2025.

Estimated Future Benefit Payments

The following benefit payments, which reflect expected future service, as appropriate, are expected to be paid (amounts in thousands):

Fiscal year ending September 30:		(Amounts in thousands)
2025	\$	595
2026	\$	623
2027	\$	660
2028	\$	702
2029	\$	700
Thereafter	S	1,230

Plan Assets

As of September 30, 2024, our pension plan in the U.K. was the only plan with assets, holding investments of approximately \$10.8 million. Pension plan assets are managed by a fiduciary committee. The Company's investment strategy for pension plan assets is to maximize the long-term rate of return on plan assets within an acceptable level of risk while maintaining adequate funding levels. Local regulations, local funding rules, and local financial and tax considerations are part of the funding and investment process. In deciding on the investments to be held, the trustees take into account the risk of possible fluctuations in income from, and market values of, the assets as well as the risk of departing from an asset profile which broadly matches the liability profile. The committee has invested the plan assets in a single pooled fund with an authorized investment company (the "Fund"). The Fund selected by the trustees is consistent with the plan's overall investment principles and strategy described herein. There are no specific targets as to asset allocation other than those contained within the Fund that is managed by the authorized investment company.

The fair value of the assets held by the U.K. pension plan by asset category are as follows:

	Fair Values as of															
				Septembe	er 30,	2024			September 30, 2023							
	F	air Value I	Meası	irements	Using	g Inputs C	onside	red as	Fair Value Measurements Using Inputs Considered as							red as
Asset Category		Total	I	Level 1		Level 2	L	evel 3		Total		Level 1		Level 2	L	evel 3
							(Aı	mounts i	n the	ousands)						
Cash on deposit	\$	65	\$	65	\$	_	\$	_	\$	428	\$	428	\$	_	\$	_
Fixed income		10,388		8,714		1,674		_		8,703		7,251		1,452		
Equity		913		263		650		_		903		266		637		_
Total plan assets	\$	11,366	\$	9,042	\$	2,324	\$		\$	10,034	\$	7,945	\$	2,089	\$	

The expected long-term rates of return on plan assets are equal to the yields to maturity of appropriate indices for government and corporate bonds and by adding a premium to the government bond return for equities. The expected rate of return on cash is the Bank of England base rate in force at the effective date.

Level 1 investments represent mutual funds for which a quoted market price is available on an active market. These investments primarily hold stocks or bonds, or a combination of stocks and bonds.

Level 2 investment represents a mutual fund, which a quoted market price is not available on an active market. Significant observable inputs that reflect quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets are used. This investment primarily holds stocks within developed global equity markets, excluding the UK.

Potential sale of U.K. Pension

Subsequent to September 30, 2024 the U.K. pension assets, excluding cash, were all converted into cash to sell the U.K. pension obligation. As of the date of this filing, there is an agreement to sell the pension obligation in full. This agreement has many contingencies and the expected timeframe of the sale occurring is 4 to 16 months from the date of these consolidated financial statements are issued.

Defined Contribution Plans

The Company has defined contribution plans in domestic and international locations under which the Company matches a portion of the employee's contributions and may make discretionary contributions to the plans. The Company's contributions were \$212 thousand and \$206 thousand for the years ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

15. Stock Based Incentive Compensation

In 2015, the Company adopted the 2015 Stock Incentive Plan (the "2015 Plan") and authorized 600,000 (adjusted for stock split in fiscal year 2024, see Note 1 for details) shares of common stock to be reserved for issuance pursuant to the 2015 Plan. During fiscal year 2019 an additional 600,000 (adjusted for stock split in fiscal year 2024, see Note 1 for details) shares of common stock were authorized to be reserved for issuance pursuant to the 2015 Plan. During fiscal year 2023 an additional 800,000 (number of shares adjusted for stock split which occurred in fiscal year 2024, see Note 1 for details) shares of common stock were authorized to be reserved for issuance pursuant to the 2015 Plan. As of September 30, 2024, there were 192,434 shares available to be granted under the 2015 Plan. Under the 2015 Plan, incentive and non-qualified stock options and restricted stock awards may be granted to officers, key employees and other persons providing services to the Company. The 2015 Plan has a ten-year life.

Awards issued under the 2015 Plan are not affected by termination of the plan. The Company had no awarded stock options outstanding as of September 30, 2024 or 2023. The Company issues restricted stock awards at their fair value on the date of grant. Vesting of restricted stock awards granted pursuant to the 2015 Plan is determined by the Company's compensation committee. In fiscal years 2020 through 2024, the Company granted certain officers including its Chief Executive Officer and non-employee directors, and key employees shares of nonvested common stock. The vesting period for the officers' and the Chief Executive Officer's restricted stock awards is four years. The vesting for non-employee directors' restricted stock awards is one year. The vesting period for the key employees' restricted stock awards is typically four years or immediately in the case of a sales commission for the ARIA cybersecurity products.

We measure and recognize compensation expense for nonvested stock-based payment awards made to employees and directors based on the closing market price of our common stock as quoted on the Nasdaq Global Market on the date of grant over the requisite service period. The Company recognizes stock compensation expense, net of actual forfeitures. Stock-based compensation expense incurred and recognized for the years ended September 30, 2024 and 2023 related to nonvested stock granted to employees and non-employee directors under the Company's stock incentive and employee stock purchase plans totaled approximately \$1.6 million and \$1.1 million, respectively. The classification of the cost of stock-based compensation, in the consolidated statements of operations, is consistent with the nature of the services being rendered in exchange for the share-based payment.

The following table summarizes stock-based compensation expense in the Company's consolidated statements of operations:

		Years Ended						
	Sept	ember 30, 2024		ember 30, 2023				
		(Amounts in	1 thous	ands)				
Cost of sales	\$	5	\$	2				
Engineering and development		190		107				
Selling, general and administrative		1,384		1,017				
Total	\$	1,579	\$	1,126				

For the year ended September 30, 2024, the Company granted 161,000 nonvested shares to certain key employees, 104,000 nonvested shares to certain officers including 70,000 shares granted to the Chief Executive Officer, and 40,000 nonvested shares to its non-employee directors. For the year ended September 30, 2023, the Company granted 142,344 nonvested shares to certain key employees, 104,000 nonvested shares to certain officers including 70,000 shares granted to the Chief Executive Officer, and 40,000 nonvested shares to its non-employee directors. These numbers for the fiscal year 2023 were retroactively adjusted for the effects of a two for one stock split effected in the form of a 100% stock dividend (see *Note 1 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies*).

No cash was used to settle equity instruments granted under share-base payment arrangements in any of the years in the two-year period ended September 30, 2024.

The following table provides summary data of nonvested stock award activity:

	Shares	Weighted Average Grant Date Fair Value	Weighted Average Remaining Contractual Term	I	ggregate ntrinsic Value thousands)
Nonvested shares outstanding at of September 30, 2022	519,576	\$ 4.57	2.38 Years	\$	1,760
Activity in fiscal year 2023:					
Granted	286,344	\$ 5.05	_		_
Vested	(215,770)	\$ 4.68	_		_
Nonvested shares outstanding as of September 30, 2023	590,150	\$ 4.77	2.33 Years	\$	5,164
Activity in fiscal year 2024:					
Granted	305,000	\$ 9.75	_		_
Vested	(237,175)	\$ 4.95	_		_
Forfeited	(6,625)	\$ 6.58	_		_
Nonvested shares outstanding as of September 30, 2024	651,350	\$ 7.01	2.27 Years	\$	8,461

As of September 30, 2024, there was \$3.3 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to nonvested stock-based compensation arrangements (nonvested stock awards) granted under the Company's stock incentive plans. This cost is expected to be expensed over a weighted average period of approximately 2.72 years. The total fair value of shares vested during the years ended September 30, 2024 and 2023 was \$1.2 million and \$1.0 million, respectively.

16. Employee Stock Purchase Plan

In December 2013, the Board of Directors of the Company adopted the 2014 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the "ESPP") covering up to 500,000 shares (all shares adjusted for stock split, see Note 1) of Common Stock, which was ratified by a vote of the Company's shareholders in February 2014. An additional 600,000 shares of common stock were approved by stockholders in fiscal year 2024. Under the ESPP, the Company's employees may purchase shares of common stock at a price per share that is currently 95% of the lesser of the fair value as of the beginning or end of semi-annual option periods. Pursuant to the ESPP, the Company issued 29,693 and 61,770 shares for the years ended September 30, 2024 and September 30, 2023, respectively. As of September 30, 2024, 509,377 shares remain authorized to be issued under the Employee Stock Purchase Plan.

17. Repurchase of Common Stock

On February 8, 2011, the Board of Directors authorized the Company to purchase up to 500 thousand (adjusted retrospectively for stock split, see Note 1) additional shares of the Company's outstanding common stock at market price. The plan does not expire. The Company repurchased 7,600 shares of its outstanding common stock on the open market during fiscal year 2024 and this is the total shares of treasury stock owned with a cost basis of \$104 thousand as of September 30, 2024, 334,654 shares remain authorized to repurchase under the stock repurchase program.

18. Segment Information

Our reporting segments are aligned to how the Chief Operating Decision Maker allocates resources and assesses performance against the Company's strategies and budgets. It is also consistent with how we manage the business and view the markets we serve.

The following table presents certain operating segment information.

Year ended September 30, High Performance Products Segment (Amounts in thousands)	Со	nsolidated Total
<u>2024</u>		
Sales:		
Product \$ 2,599 \$ 594 \$ 33,600 \$ 34,194	\$	36,793
Service 1,555 260 16,611 16,871		18,426
Total sales \$ 4,154 \$ 854 \$ 50,211 \$ 51,065	\$	55,219
Operating (loss) income $$$$ (4,845) $$$ (274) $$$ 3,247 $$$ 2,973	\$	(1,872)
Interest expense \$ (16) \$ — \$ (219) \$ (219)	\$	(235)
Interest income \$ 38 \$ 218 \$ 1,791 \$ 2,009	\$	2,047
Stock compensation expense \$ (774) \$ — \$ (805) \$ (805)	\$	(1,579)
Total assets \$ 9,554 \$ 7,880 \$ 52,002 \$ 59,882	\$	69,436
Capital expenditures \$ (137) \$ — \$ (59) \$ (59)	\$	(196)
Depreciation and amortization \$ (99) \$ — \$ (199) \$ (199)	\$	(298)
<u>2023</u>		
Sales:		
Product \$ 5,475 \$ 734 \$ 40,940 \$ 41,674	\$	47,149
Service 1,398 288 15,812 16,100		17,498
Total sales \$ 6,873 \$ 1,022 \$ 56,752 \$ 57,774	\$	64,647
Operating (loss) income $\ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ $	\$	1,870
Interest expense \$ (12) \$ — \$ (250) \$ (250)	\$	(262)
Interest income \$ 20 \$ 177 \$ 1,263 \$ 1,440	\$	1,460
Stock compensation expense \$ (463) \$ — \$ (663) \$ (663)	\$	(1,126)
Total assets \$ 10,467 \$ 7,361 \$ 48,076 \$ 55,437	\$	65,904
Capital expenditures \$ (75) \$ — \$ (151) \$ (151)	\$	(226)
Depreciation and amortization \$ (112) \$ — \$ (246) \$ (246)	\$	(358)

Operating (loss) income from operations is sales less cost of sales, engineering and development, selling, general and administrative expenses but is not affected by either non-operating charges/income or by income taxes. Non-operating charges/income consists principally of foreign exchange gain (loss), investment income, and interest expense. In fiscal year 2023 the Employee Retention Tax Credit was the largest non-operating income item, which did not occur in fiscal year 2023. All intercompany transactions have been eliminated. Our long-lived assets are located in North America.

The following table details the Company's sales by operating segment for fiscal years ended September 30, 2024 and 2023. The Company's sales by geographic area based on the location of where the products were shipped or services rendered are as follows:

2024	Americas	_1	Europe	Asi	a-Pacific		Total	% of Total
			(Am	ounts	in thousan	ds)		
TS	\$ 49,496	\$	1,119	\$	450	\$	51,065	92 %
HPP	3,812		6		336		4,154	8 %
Total	\$ 53,308	\$	1,125	\$	786	\$	55,219	100 %
% of Total	97 %		2 %	, 	1 %	, <u> </u>	100 %	
2023								
TS	\$ 56,584	\$	1,094	\$	96	\$	57,774	89 %
HPP	6,179		335		359		6,873	11 %
Total	\$ 62,763	\$	1,429	\$	455	\$	64,647	100 %
% of Total	97 %		2 %)	1 %	,)	100 %	

19. Fair Value Disclosures

Under the fair value standards fair value is based on the exit price and defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement should reflect all the assumptions that market participants would use in pricing an asset or liability. A fair value hierarchy is established in the authoritative guidance outlined in three levels ranking from Level 1 to level 3 with Level 1 being the highest priority.

Level 1: observable inputs that reflect quoted prices (unadjusted) for identical assets or liabilities in active markets

Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability either directly or indirectly

Level 3: unobservable inputs (e.g., a reporting entity's or other entity's own data)

The Company had no assets or liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring (except our pension plan assets, see *Note 14 Pension and Retirement Plan*) or non-recurring basis as of September 30, 2024 or September 30, 2023.

To estimate fair value of the financial instruments below quoted market prices are used when available and classified within Level 1. If this data is not available, we use observable market-based inputs to estimate fair value, which are classified within Level 2. If the preceding information is unavailable, we use internally generated data to estimate fair value which is classified within Level 3.

		As of Sep	temb	er 30, 2024	As of September 30, 2023					
		Carrying Carrying		Fair Value	Carrying Amount Fair Valu		Fair Value	Fair Value Level	Reference	
				(Amounts	in th	ousands)				
Assets:										
Cash and cash equivalents	\$	30,585	\$	30,585	\$	25,217	\$	25,217	1	Consolidated Balance Sheets
Accounts receivable, net		14,494		14,494		12,955		12,955	2	Note 2
Financing receivables, net		7,306		7,306		11,395		11,395	3	Note 3
Liabilities:										
Accounts payable and accrued expenses and other long-term										
liabilities*		3,840		3,840		3,429		3,429	3	Note 9
Line of Credit		4,169		4,169		1,515		1,515	2	Note 12
Note payable *Original maturity	ove	— r one vear		_		449		449	3	Note 13

^{*}Original maturity over one year

Cash and cash equivalents

Carrying amount approximated fair value.

Accounts receivable and accounts payable with original maturity of less than one year

Fair value was not materially different from their carrying values as of September 30, 2024, and 2023

Financing receivables. net

Fair value was estimated by discounting future cash flows based on the current rate with similar terms.

Line of credit

The fair value of our line of credit is based on borrowing rates currently available to a market participant for loans with similar terms or maturity. The carrying amount of our outstanding revolving line of credit approximates fair value because the base interest rate charged varies with market conditions and the credit spread is commensurate with current market spreads for issuers of similar risk. No interest accrues under the inventory line of credit when advances are paid within terms.

Notes Payable

Fair value was estimated by discounting future cash flows based on the current rate the Company could get in another transaction with similar terms based on historical information.

20. Dividend

For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2024 the Company paid cash dividends on common stock below.

Fiscal Year	Date Declared	Record Date	Date Paid	 ount Paid er Share
2023 ⁽¹⁾	12/6/2022	12/21/2022	1/6/2023	\$ 0.015
2023 ⁽¹⁾	2/8/2023	2/24/2023	3/14/2023	\$ 0.015
2023 ⁽¹⁾	5/10/2023	5/25/2023	6/13/2023	\$ 0.020
2023 ⁽¹⁾	8/9/2023	8/23/2023	9/12/2023	\$ 0.020
2024 ⁽¹⁾	12/12/2023	12/22/2023	1/9/2024	\$ 0.020
$2024^{(1)}$	2/14/2024	2/26/2024	3/8/2024	\$ 0.025
2024	5/8/2024	5/24/2024	6/12/2024	\$ 0.030
2024	8/13/2024	8/23/2024	9/10/2024	\$ 0.030

⁽¹⁾Amounts above are retroactively adjusted for the effects of a two for one stock split effected in the form of a 100% stock dividend February 21, 2024.

21. Related Party Transactions

Gary Southwell, Vice President and General Manager of High Performance Products segment, is a minority shareholder in one of our vendors. He has no operational responsibilities. There were \$324 thousand and \$316 thousand of purchases from this vendor for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. There were no amounts due to the vendor as of September 30, 2024 or 2023.

22. Subsequent Event

Subsequent to September 30, 2024, the U.K. pension assets, excluding cash, were all converted into cash to sell the U.K. pension obligation. The value of the converted assets were not materially different from the balances as of September 30, 2024. As of the date of these issued consolidated financial statements, there is an agreement to sell the pension obligation in full. This agreement has many contingencies and the expected timeframe of the sale occurring is 4 to 16 months from the date of these consolidated financial statements are issued.

INSIDER TRADING POLICY

CSP, INC.

This Insider Trading Policy (the "Policy") provides guidelines with respect to transactions in the securities of CSP, Inc. (together with its subsidiaries, the "Company") and the handling of confidential information about the Company and the companies with which the Company does business. The Company's Board of Directors (the "Board") has adopted this Policy to promote compliance with federal, state, and foreign securities laws that prohibit certain persons who are aware of material nonpublic information about a company from: (i) trading in securities of that company; or (ii) providing material nonpublic information to other persons who may trade on the basis of that information. Regulators have adopted sophisticated surveillance techniques to identify insider trading transactions, and it is important to the Company to avoid even the appearance of impropriety.

PERSONS SUBJECT TO THE POLICY

This Policy applies to all directors, officers, and employees of the Company, as well as their respective family members and others in their households (collectively referred to as "Insiders"), and any other individuals the Chief Financial Officer ("CFO") may designate as Insiders because they have access to material nonpublic information concerning the Company. The Company may also determine that other persons should be subject to this Policy, such as contractors or consultants who have access to material nonpublic information. This Policy also applies to family members (as defined below), other members of a person's household and entities controlled by a person covered by this Policy, as described below.

TRANSACTIONS SUBJECT TO THE POLICY

This Policy applies to transactions in the Company's securities (collectively referred to in this Policy as "Company Securities"), including the Company's common stock, options to purchase common stock, or any other type of securities that the Company may issue, including (but not limited to) preferred stock, convertible debentures and warrants, as well as derivative securities that are not issued by the Company, such as exchange-traded put or call options or swaps relating to Company Securities.

INDIVIDUAL RESPONSIBILITY

Insiders have ethical and legal obligations to maintain the confidentiality of information about the Company and to not engage in transactions in Company Securities while in possession of material nonpublic information. Each individual is responsible for making sure that he or she complies with this Policy, and that any Family Member, household member or entity whose transactions are subject to this Policy, as discussed below, also comply with this Policy. In all cases, the responsibility for determining whether an individual is in possession of material nonpublic information rests with that individual, and any action on the part of the Company, the CFO or any other employee or director pursuant to this Policy (or otherwise) does not in any way constitute legal advice or insulate an individual from liability under applicable securities laws. You could be subject to severe legal penalties and disciplinary action by the Company for any conduct prohibited by this Policy or applicable securities laws, as described below in more detail under the heading "Consequences of Violations."

STATEMENT OF POLICY

It is the policy of the Company that no Insider of the Company (or any other person designated by this Policy or by the CFO as subject to this Policy) who is aware of material nonpublic information relating to the Company may, directly, or indirectly through Family Members or other persons or entities:

- 1. engage in transactions in Company Securities, except as otherwise specified in this Policy;
- 2. recommend the purchase or sale of any Company Securities;
- 3. Disclose material nonpublic information to persons within the Company whose jobs do not require them to have that information, or outside of the Company to other persons, including, but not limited to, family, friends, business associates, investors and expert consulting firms, unless any such disclosure is made in accordance with the Company's policies regarding the protection or authorized external disclosure of information regarding the Company; or
- 4. Assist anyone engaged in the above activities.

In addition, it is the policy of the Company that no Insiders who, in the course of working for the Company, learns of material nonpublic information about a company with which the Company does business, including a customer or supplier of the Company, may trade in that company's securities until the information becomes public or is no longer material. This prohibition includes so-called "Shadow Trading," in which Insiders uses material nonpublic information regarding the Company to trade in the securities of another, peer company.

There are no exceptions to this Policy, except as specifically noted herein. Transactions that may be necessary or justifiable for independent reasons (such as the need to raise money for an emergency expenditure), or small transactions, are not excepted from this Policy. The securities laws do not recognize any mitigating circumstances, and, in any event, even the appearance of an improper transaction must be avoided to preserve the Company's reputation for adhering to the highest standards of conduct.

DEFINITION OF MATERIAL NONPUBLIC INFORMATION

Material Information: Information is considered "material" if a reasonable investor would consider that information important in making a decision to buy, hold, or sell securities. Any information that could be expected to affect a company's stock price, whether it is positive or negative, should be considered material. There is no bright-line standard for assessing materiality; rather, materiality is based on an assessment of all of the facts and circumstances and is often evaluated by enforcement authorities with the benefit of hindsight. While it is not possible to define all categories of material information, some examples of information that ordinarily would be regarded as material are:

- Projections of future earnings or losses, or other earnings guidance;
- Changes to previously announced earnings guidance, or the decision to suspend earnings guidance;
- A pending or proposed merger, acquisition, or tender offer;
- A pending or proposed acquisition or disposition of a significant asset or subsidiary;
- A pending or proposed joint venture;
- A Company restructuring;

- Significant related party transactions;
- A change in dividend policy, the declaration of a stock split, or an offering of additional securities;
- Bank borrowings or other financing transactions out of the ordinary course;
- The establishment of a repurchase program for Company Securities;
- Major marketing changes;
- A change in management;
- A change in auditors or notification that the auditor's reports may no longer be relied upon;
- Development of a significant new product, process, or service;
- Pending or threatened significant litigation, or the resolution of such litigation;
- Impending bankruptcy or the existence of severe liquidity problems;
- The gain or loss of a significant customer or supplier;
- Significant cybersecurity incidents; and
- The imposition of a ban on trading in Company Securities or the securities of another company.

If you are unsure whether information is material, you should either consult the CFO before making any decision to disclose such information (other than to persons who need to know it) or to trade in or recommend securities to which that information relates or assume that the information is material.

When Information is Considered Public. Information that has not been disclosed to the public is generally considered to be nonpublic information. In order to establish that the information has been disclosed to the public, it may be necessary to demonstrate that the information has been widely disseminated. Information generally would be considered widely disseminated if it has been disclosed through the Dow Jones "broad tape," newswire services, a broadcast on widely- available radio or television programs, publication in a widely-available newspaper, magazine or news website, or public disclosure documents filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC") that are available on the SEC's website. By contrast, information would likely not be considered widely disseminated if it is available only to the Company's employees, or if it is only available to a select group of analysts, brokers, and institutional investors.

Once information is widely disseminated, it is still necessary to afford the investing public with sufficient time to absorb the information. As a general rule, information should not be considered fully absorbed by the marketplace until after the second business day after the day on which the information is released. If, for example, the Company were to make an announcement on a Monday, you should not trade in Company Securities until Thursday. Depending on the particular circumstances, the Company may determine that a longer or shorter period should apply to the release of specific material nonpublic information.

TRANSACTIONS BY FAMILY MEMBERS AND OTHERS

This Policy applies to your family members who reside with you (including a spouse, a child, a child away at college, stepchildren, grandchildren, parents, stepparents, grandparents, siblings and in-laws), anyone else who lives in your household, and any family members who do not live in your household but whose transactions in Company Securities are directed by you or are subject to your influence or control, such as parents or children who consult with you before they trade in Company Securities (collectively referred to as "Family Members"). You are responsible for the transactions of these other persons and therefore should make them aware of the need to confer

with you before they trade in Company Securities, and you should treat all such transactions for the purposes of this Policy and applicable securities laws as if the transactions were for your own account. This Policy does not, however, apply to personal securities transactions of Family Members where the purchase or sale decision is made by a third party not controlled by, influenced by or related to you or your Family Members.

TRANSACTIONS BY ENTITIES THAT YOU INFLUENCE OR CONTROL

This Policy applies to any entities that you influence or control, including any corporations, partnerships, or trusts (collectively referred to as "Controlled Entities"), and transactions by these Controlled Entities should be treated for the purposes of this Policy and applicable securities laws as if they were for your own account.

TRANSACTIONS UNDER COMPANY PLANS

This Policy does not apply in the case of the following types of transactions, except as specifically noted:

- 1. Restricted Stock Awards. This Policy does not apply to the vesting of restricted stock, or the exercise of a tax withholding right pursuant to which you elect to have the Company withhold shares of stock to satisfy tax withholding requirements upon the vesting of any restricted stock. The Policy does apply, however, to any market sale of restricted stock.
- 2. Employee Stock Purchase Plan. This Policy does not apply to purchases of Company Securities in the employee stock purchase plan resulting from your periodic or lump sum contribution of money to the plan pursuant to the election you made at the time of your enrollment in the plan. This Policy does apply, however, to your initial election to participate in the plan, changes to your election to participate in the plan for any enrollment period, and to your sales of Company Securities purchased pursuant to the plan.

TRANSACTIONS NOT INVOLVING A PURCHASE OR SALE

Bona fide gifts are not transactions subject to this Policy, unless the person making the gift has reason to believe that the recipient intends to sell the Company Securities while the Insider is aware of material nonpublic information, or the person making the gift is subject to the trading restrictions specified below under the heading "Additional Procedures" and the sales by the recipient of the Company Securities occur during a blackout period.

SPECIAL AND PROHIBITED TRANSACTIONS

The Company has determined that there is a heightened legal risk and/or the appearance of improper or inappropriate conduct if Insiders engage in certain types of transactions. It therefore is the Company's policy that any Insiders may not engage in any of the following transactions, or should otherwise consider the Company's preferences as described below:

Short-Term Trading. Short-term trading of Company Securities may be distracting to the person and may unduly focus the person on the Company's short-term stock market performance instead of the Company's long-term business objectives. For these reasons, any Insider who purchases

Company Securities in the open market may not sell any Company Securities of the same class during the six months following the purchase (or vice versa).

Short Sales. Short sales of Company Securities (i.e., the sale of a security that the seller does not own) may evidence an expectation on the part of the seller that the securities will decline in value, and therefore have the potential to signal to the market that the seller lacks confidence in the Company's prospects. In addition, short sales may reduce a seller's incentive to seek to improve the Company's performance. For these reasons, short sales of Company Securities are prohibited. In addition, Section 16(c) of the Exchange Act prohibits officers and directors from engaging in short sales. Short sales arising from certain types of hedging transactions are governed by the paragraph below captioned "Hedging Transactions."

Publicly-Traded Options. Given the relatively short term of publicly-traded options, transactions in options may create the appearance that an Insider is trading based on material nonpublic information and focus an Insider's attention on short-term performance at the expense of the Company's long-term objectives. Accordingly, transactions in put options, call options or other derivative securities, on an exchange or in any other organized market, are prohibited by this Policy. (Option positions arising from certain types of hedging transactions are governed by the next paragraph below.)

Hedging Transactions. Hedging or monetization transactions can be accomplished through a number of possible mechanisms, including through the use of financial instruments such as prepaid variable forwards, equity swaps, collars and exchange funds. Such hedging transactions may permit an Insider to continue to own Company Securities obtained through employee benefit plans or otherwise, but without the full risks and rewards of ownership. When that occurs, the Insider may no longer have the same objectives as the Company's other shareholders. Therefore, the Company prohibits Insiders from engaging in such transactions without preapproval. Any Insider wishing to enter into such an arrangement must first submit the proposed transaction for approval by the CFO. Any request for pre-clearance of a hedging or similar arrangement must be submitted to the CFO at least two weeks prior to the proposed execution of documents evidencing the proposed transaction and must set forth a justification for the proposed transaction.

Margin Accounts and Pledged Securities. Securities held in a margin account as collateral for a margin loan may be sold by the broker without the customer's consent if the customer fails to meet a margin call. Similarly, securities pledged (or hypothecated) as collateral for a loan may be sold in foreclosure if the borrower defaults on the loan. Because a margin sale or foreclosure sale may occur at a time when the pledger is aware of material nonpublic information or otherwise is not permitted to trade in Company Securities, Insiders are prohibited from holding Company Securities in a margin account or otherwise pledging Company Securities as collateral for a loan. (Pledges of Company Securities arising from certain types of hedging transactions are governed by the paragraph above captioned "Hedging Transactions.")

Standing and Limit Orders. Standing and limit orders (except standing and limit orders under approved Rule 10b5-1 Plans, as described below) create heightened risks for insider trading violations similar to the use of margin accounts. There is no control over the timing of purchases or sales that result from standing instructions to a broker, and as a result the broker could execute a transaction when an Insider is in possession of material nonpublic information. The Company therefore discourages placing standing or limit orders on Company Securities. If an Insider determines that they must use a standing order or limit order, the order should be limited to five

trading days and should otherwise comply with the restrictions and procedures outlined below under the heading "Additional Procedures."

PRE-CLEARANCE & BLACKOUTS

The Company has established additional procedures in order to assist the Company in the administration of this Policy, to facilitate compliance with laws prohibiting insider trading while in possession of material nonpublic information, and to avoid the appearance of any impropriety. These additional procedures are applicable only to those individuals described below.

Pre-Clearance Procedures. Directors, Accounting and Finance employees with the title Director or higher, all other employees with the title of Vice President or higher, any employees that assist with preparing earnings releases or SEC filings and any other persons designated by the CFO as being subject to these procedures, as well as the Family Members and Controlled Entities of such persons ("Covered Senior Person"), may not engage in any transaction in Company Securities without first obtaining pre-clearance of the transaction from the CFO by filling out the Request for Pre-Clearance Form attached hereto as Addendum A and submitting such form to the CFO for execution at least two business days in advance of the proposed transaction. The CFO is under no obligation to approve a transaction submitted for pre-clearance and may determine not to permit the transaction. If a Covered Senior Person seeks pre- clearance and permission to engage in the transaction is denied, then he or she should refrain from initiating any transaction in Company Securities and should not inform any other person of the restriction.

When a request for pre-clearance is made, the requestor should carefully consider whether he or she may be aware of any material nonpublic information about the Company and should describe fully those circumstances to the CFO. The requestor should also indicate whether he or she has effected any non-exempt "opposite-way" transactions within the past six months, and should be prepared to report the proposed transaction on an appropriate Form 4 or Form 5. The requestor should also be prepared to comply with SEC Rule 144 and file Form 144, if necessary, at the time of any sale.

If a Covered Senior Person seeks pre-clearance and permission to engage in the transaction is granted, then such trade must be effected within five business days of receipt of pre-clearance unless an exception is granted. Such person must promptly notify the CFO following the completion of the transaction. If the requestor becomes aware of material nonpublic information concerning the Company before the trade is executed, the preclearance shall be void and the trade must not be completed. A person who has not effected a transaction within the time limit may not engage in such transaction without again obtaining pre-clearance of the transaction from the CFO.

Quarterly Blackout Periods. Covered Senior Persons may not conduct any transactions involving Company Securities (other than as specified by this Policy), during a "Blackout Period" beginning fifth teen calendar days prior to the end of each fiscal quarter and ending after the close of trading on the second full trading day following the date of the public release of the Company's earnings results for that quarter. In other words, these persons may only conduct transactions in Company Securities during the "Window Period" beginning after the close of trading on the second full trading day following the public release of the Company's quarterly earnings and ending fifth teen days prior to the close of the next fiscal quarter.

Event-Specific Blackout Periods. From time to time, an event may occur that is material to the Company and is known by only a few directors, officers and/or employees, such as a cybersecurity incident. So long as the event remains material and nonpublic, the persons designated by the CFO may not trade Company Securities. In addition, the Company's financial results may be sufficiently material in a particular fiscal quarter that, in the judgment of the CFO, designated persons should refrain from trading in Company Securities even sooner than the typical Blackout Period described above. In that situation, the CFO may notify these persons that they should not trade in the Company's Securities, without disclosing the reason for the restriction. The existence of an event-specific trading restriction period or extension of a Blackout Period will not be announced to the Company as a whole and should not be communicated to any other person. Even if the CFO has not designated you as a person who should not trade due to an event-specific restriction, you should not trade while aware of material nonpublic information.

Exceptions. The quarterly trading restrictions and event-driven trading restrictions do not apply to those transactions to which this Policy does not apply, as described above under the headings "Transactions Under Company Plans" and "Transactions Not Involving a Purchase or Sale." Further, the requirement for preclearance, the quarterly trading restrictions and event- driven trading restrictions do not apply to transactions conducted pursuant to approved Rule 10b5-1 plans, described under the heading "Rule 10b5-1 Plans.

RULE 10b5-1 PLANS

Rule 10b5-1 under the Exchange Act provides a defense from insider trading liability under Rule 10b-5. In order to be eligible to rely on this defense, an Insider must enter into a Rule 10b5-1 plan for transactions in Company Securities that meets certain conditions specified in the Rule (a "Rule 10b5-1 Plan"). If the plan meets the requirements of Rule 10b5-1, Company Securities may be purchased or sold without regard to certain insider trading restrictions. To comply with the Policy, a Rule 10b5-1 Plan must be approved by the CFO and meet the requirements of Rule 10b5-1. In general, a Rule 10b5-1 Plan must be entered into at a time when the person entering into the plan is not aware of material nonpublic information. Once the plan is adopted, the person must not exercise any influence over the amount of securities to be traded, the price at which they are to be traded or the date of the trade. The plan must either specify the amount, pricing, and timing of transactions in advance or delegate discretion on these matters to an independent third party.

Any Rule 10b5-1 Plan must be submitted for approval five days prior to the entry into the Rule 10b5-1 Plan. No further pre-approval of transactions conducted pursuant to the Rule 10b5-1 Plan will be required.

For further information on Rule 10b5-1 Plans and their implementation, please see Addendum B hereto.

POST-TERMINATION TRANSACTIONS

This Policy continues to apply to transactions in Company Securities even after termination of service to the Company. If an individual is in possession of material nonpublic information when his or her service terminates, that individual may not trade in Company Securities until that information has become public or is no longer material. The pre-clearance procedures specified under the heading "Additional Procedures" above, however, will cease to apply to transactions in

Company Securities upon the expiration of any Blackout Period or other Company-imposed trading restrictions applicable at the time of the termination of service.

CONSEQUENCES OF VIOLATIONS

The purchase or sale of securities while aware of material nonpublic information, or the disclosure of material nonpublic information to others who then trade in the Company's Securities, is prohibited by federal and state laws. Insider trading violations are pursued vigorously by the SEC, U.S. Attorneys, and state enforcement authorities as well as the laws of foreign jurisdictions.

Punishment for insider trading violations is severe and could include significant fines and imprisonment. While the regulatory authorities concentrate their efforts on the individuals who trade, or who tip inside information to others who trade, the federal securities laws also impose potential liability on companies and other "controlling persons" if they fail to take reasonable steps to prevent insider trading by company personnel.

In addition, an individual's failure to comply with this Policy may subject the individual to Company-imposed sanctions, including dismissal for cause, whether or not the employee's failure to comply results in a violation of law. Needless to say, a violation of law, or even an SEC investigation that does not result in prosecution, can tarnish a person's reputation and irreparably damage a career.

COMPANY ASSISTANCE

Any person who has a question about this Policy or its application to any proposed transaction may obtain additional guidance from the CFO.

ADDENDUM A

to Insider Trading Policy for Covered Senior Person

REQUEST FOR PRIOR WRITTEN CLEARANCE TO TRADE IN COMPANY SECURITIES

CSP, Inc.	
Policy (the "Policy") of	, a designated "Covered Senior Person" as defined in the Insider Trading SP, Inc. (the "Company"), request prior written clearance in accordance with the de in securities of the Company no later than two business days prior to the proposed owing information:
Details of Securities:	
Nature of proposed trad	g:
Number of securities: _	
I confirm that:	
 obligations refe information ("N proposed trade is a clearance is given the clearance. I understand that and that I remains 	nderstood the Policy and the proposed trading does not breach the Policy or any legal ed to in it, and I hereby affirm that I am not in possession of any material non-public NPI') in relation to the Company, as defined in the Policy, and am undertaking the good faith. at in accordance with the Policy, I cannot trade in the Company's securities until and I understand that any clearance given will be valid only for the period stated in approval under the Policy (if given) will not be an endorsement of the above dealing responsible for complying with applicable laws and the Policy.
Clearance giver	by: Gary Levine, Chief Financial Officer
Signature	Date
	or: from the date of clearance (default period) ys from the date of clearance (default period)

ADDENDUM B

Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan Guidelines

These Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan Guidelines are applicable to any Company Insider designated to be a designated "Covered Senior Person" as described in the Company's Insider Trading Policy:

- 1. Every Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan must be in writing.
- 2. Every Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan must be entered into in good faith and not as part of a plan or scheme to evade the provisions of Rule 10b-5 or Rule 10b5-1 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act").
- 3. Every Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan must be entered into during a "Window Period" (as described in the Company's Insider Trading Policy) that is not closed.
- 4. Every Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan must also be entered into when the particular Covered Senior Person is not otherwise aware of any material nonpublic information about the Company.
- 5. For Section 16 officers, a Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan must provide for a period of at least the later of (i) 90 calendar days and (ii) two business days following the disclosure of the Company's financial results for the quarter between the establishment of a Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan and the first trade to occur pursuant thereto. Any modification, amendment, or termination of a Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan for Section 16 officers must also be subject to this waiting period.
- 6. For designated Covered Senior Persons not subject to Section 16, a Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan must provide for a period of at least 30 days between the establishment of a Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan and the first trade to occur pursuant to such plan. Any modification, amendment, or termination of a Trading Plan for designated Covered Senior Persons not subject to Section 16 must also be subject to this waiting period.
- 7. Every Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan must fully comply with all requirements of Rule 10b5-1 of the Exchange Act, including, without limitation, the requirement that the Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan (a) either expressly specify the amount, price and date of the sales (or purchases) of the Company's stock to be effected; or provide a formula, algorithm or computer program for determining when to sell (or purchase) the Company's stock, the quantity to sell (or purchase) and the price; (b) delegate decision-making authority with regard to these transactions to someone without any material nonpublic information about the Company; and (c) the Covered Senior Person act in good faith with respect to the Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan for the duration of such plan.
- 8. Every Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan must ensure that the Covered Senior Person fully complies with his or her obligations under Section 16 of the Exchange Act.
- 9. Every Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan must fully comply with Rule 144 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, including, in the case of affiliates (as defined in Rule 144), the Form 144 filing requirements and the volume limitations for every "rolling" three-month period.
- 10. Every Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan must provide that prior to any early termination of the plan the Covered Senior Person has consulted with, and received the approval of, the Company's Chief Financial Officer ("CFO") and be subject to the waiting periods described above.
- 11. Every Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan must be approved in advance by the Company's CFO.
- 12. Any modification or amendment to an approved Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan must be approved in advance by the Company's CFO, must be entered into during a Window Period that is not closed and must also be entered into when the particular Covered Senior Person is not otherwise aware of any material nonpublic information about the Company.

- 13. Covered Senior Persons may execute only one Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan that provides for a single trade in a 12-month period.
- 14. While a Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan is in effect for a Covered Senior Person may not maintain multiple overlapping plans except for (i) plans that exclusively authorize sell-to-cover transactions to satisfy tax withholding obligations, (ii) a series of separate Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plans with different broker-dealers or other agents acting on behalf of the person to execute trades of securities held in separate accounts, provided that the contracts with each broker-dealer or other agent, when taken together as a whole, meet all of the applicable conditions of Rule 10b5-1(c)(1), and (iii) a second plan whose trades will not commence until the expiration of the first plan.
- 15. While a Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan is in effect for a Covered Senior Person, such Covered Senior Person must conduct all trading transactions in Company stock under the Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan (unless sales are conducted under an effective Company filed registration statement).
- 16. All Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plans shall include a certification from the Covered Senior Person that (a) the Covered Senior Person is not aware of any material nonpublic information and (b) the Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan was entered into in good faith and not part of a plan or scheme to evade the prohibitions of Rule 10b-5.

If you have any doubts as to your responsibilities under these guidelines, seek clarification and guidance from the Company's CFO **before you act.** Do not try to resolve uncertainties on your own.

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE REGISTRANT

Each of the below listed subsidiaries is 100% directly owned by CSP Inc. except as otherwise indicated, and all are included in the consolidated financial statements.

NAME OF SUBSIDIARY CSP Securities Corp. 175 Cabot Street, Suite 210 Lowell, MA 01854	STATE OR OTHER JURISDICTION OF INCORPORATION/ ORGANIZATION Massachusetts
CSP Inc. Foreign Sales Corp., Ltd. 175 Cabot Street, Suite 210 Lowell, MA 01854	U.S. Virgin Islands
Modcomp, Inc (1). 1182 East Newport Center Drive Deerfield Beach, FL 33442	Delaware
ARIA Cybersecurity Inc. 175 Cabot Street, Suite 210 Lowell, MA 01854	Delaware

⁽¹⁾ Modcomp has one subsidiary operating in Europe

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

We consent to the incorporation by reference in these Registration Statements (Nos. 333-64493, 333-124030, 333-124031, 333-151024, 333-197608, 333-207229, 333-231650, 333-263764 and 333-269441) on Form S-8 of CSP Inc. of our report dated December 20, 2024, relating to the consolidated financial statements of CSP Inc., appearing in this Annual Report on Form 10-K of CSP Inc. for the year ended September 30, 2024.

/s/ RSM US LLP

Coral Gables, Florida December 20, 2024

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

- I, Victor Dellovo, certify that:
 - 1.I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of CSP Inc.;
- 2.Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
- 3.Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
- 4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
- a)Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
- b)Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
- c)Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
- d)Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
- 5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
- a)All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
- b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

December 20, 2024

/s/ Victor Dellovo

Victor Dellovo Chief Executive Officer and President

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Gary W. Levine, certify that:

- 1.I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of CSP Inc.;
- 2.Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
- 3.Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
- 4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
- a)Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
- b)Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
- c)Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
- d)Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
- 5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
- a)All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
- b)Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

December 20, 2024

/s/Gary W. Levine

Gary W. Levine

Chief Financial Officer

18 U.S.C. Section 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of CSP Inc. (the "Company") for the year ended September 30, 2024, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), each of the undersigned Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certifies, to the best knowledge and belief of the signatory, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

- (1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
- (2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

December 20, 2024 By: /s/ Victor Dellovo

Victor Dellovo

Chief Executive Officer and President

December 20, 2024 By: /s/ Gary W. Levine

Gary W. Levine Chief Financial Officer

DESCRIPTION OF THE REGISTRANT'S SECURITIES REGISTERED PURSUANT TO SECTION 12 OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

CSP, Inc. has one class of securities registered under Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended: our common stock.

In this Exhibit 4.1, when we refer to "CSP,", "CSPI", the "Company," "we," "us" or "our", we mean CSP, Inc., excluding, unless otherwise expressly stated or the context requires, our subsidiaries. All references to "common stock" refer only to common stock issued by CSP and not to any common stock issued by any subsidiary.

The general terms and provisions of our common stock are summarized below. This summary does not purport to be complete and is subject to, and is qualified in its entirety by express reference to, the provisions of our articles of organization and bylaws, each of which is filed as an exhibit to the Annual Report on Form 10-K of which this Exhibit 4.1 is a part. We encourage you to read our articles of organization and bylaws and the applicable provisions of the Massachusetts Business Corporation Act ("MBCA") for additional information.

Authorized Shares

Under our articles of organization, we have the authority to issue 20,000,000 shares of common stock, par value \$0.01 per share.

Dividends

Holders of outstanding shares of common stock are entitled to receive ratably any dividends declared by our Board of Directors, in its discretion, out of assets legally available, subject to any preferences that may be applicable to any preferred stock outstanding at the time. Payment of dividends on the common stock may be restricted by loan agreements, indentures and other transactions entered into by us from time to time.

Voting Rights

Holders of common stock are entitled to one vote per share on all matters voted on generally by the stockholders, including the election of directors, and, except as otherwise required by law or except as provided with respect to any series of preferred stock, the holders of common stock possess all voting power. Our articles of organization does not provide for cumulative voting for the election of directors.

Directors are elected by a plurality of votes cast at the annual meeting of stockholders (or special meeting in lieu thereof). If an incumbent director in an uncontested election does not receive more votes "for" than "withheld", the director is expected to promptly offer the Board his or her resignation as a Director for consideration. The resignation will be considered by the Nominating Committee and acted upon by the Board within 90 days following the certification of the stockholder vote.

At any meeting of stockholders, a majority in interest of all stock issued, outstanding and entitled to vote upon a question to be considered at such meeting shall constitute a quorum. When a quorum is present at any meeting, a majority in interest of the stock present or represented and entitled to vote on a matter, (or if there are two or more classes of stock entitled to vote as separate classes, then in the case of each such class, a majority in interest of the stock of that class present or represented and entitled to vote on a matter) shall decide any matter to be voted on by the stockholders, except where a larger vote is required by law, the articles of organization or our bylaws.

CSP, by vote of a two-thirds of the stock outstanding and entitled to vote thereon (or if there are two or more classes of stock entitled to vote as separate classes, then by vote of a two-thirds of each such class of stock outstanding), may (i) authorize any amendment to our articles of organization pursuant to Section 10.03 of Chapter 156D of the MBCA, as amended from time to time, (ii) authorize the sale, lease, or exchange of all or substantially all of its property and assets, including its goodwill, pursuant to Section 12.02 of Chapter 156D of the Massachusetts General Laws, as amended from time to time, and (iii) approve an agreement of merger or consolidation pursuant to Section 11.04 of Chapter 156D of the Massachusetts General Laws, as amended from time to time.

Advance notice provisions for stockholder proposals and stockholder nominations of directors

Our bylaws provide that, for nominations to the Board of Directors or for other business to be properly brought by a holder of common stock before a meeting of stockholders, the stockholder must first have given notice of the proposal in writing to the Company's Clerk within the deadlines set forth in the bylaws. Detailed requirements as to the form of the notice and information required in the notice are specified in the bylaws. If it is determined that business was not properly brought before a meeting in accordance with the bylaws, such business will not be conducted at the meeting. The bylaws may have the effect of precluding the conduct of some business at a stockholders' meeting if the proper procedures are not followed or may discourage or defer a potential acquirer from conducting a solicitation of proxies to elect its own slate of directors or otherwise attempting to obtain control of us.

Limitations on Stockholder action without a meeting and the ability of stockholders to call a meeting.

Although our articles of organization and bylaws allow stockholders to act by written consent, such written consent must be signed by all stockholders entitled to vote on the matter to be approved. This essentially requires that stockholders may act only at a duly called stockholders' meeting. In addition, under the bylaws, special meetings of stockholders may be called only by our President, the Board of Directors, and by our Clerk upon written application of or one or more stockholders holding at least 40% of the capital of stock entitled to vote at the meeting.

Liquidation Rights

Upon our voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolutions, or winding up, holders of shares of common stock are entitled to share ratably in our assets remaining after payment of liabilities and the liquidation preferences of any then outstanding shares of preferred stock.

Absence of Other Rights

Holders of common stock have no preferential, preemptive, conversion, redemption or exchange rights.

Massachusetts Law

If in the future the Company were to have more than 200 stockholders of record (as determined by the statute), the Company would be subject to the provisions of Chapter 110F and 110D of the Massachusetts General Laws, the so-called Business Combination Statute and Control Share Acquisition Act, respectively.

Under Chapter 110F, a Massachusetts corporation with at least 200 shareholders of record (as determined by the statute), which is otherwise subject to the statute, may not engage in a "business combination" with an "interested shareholder" for a period of three years after the date of the transaction in which the person becomes an interested shareholder, unless (i) the interested shareholder obtains the approval of the Board of Directors of the Company prior to becoming an interested shareholder, (ii) the interested shareholder acquires 90% of the outstanding voting stock of the Company (excluding shares held by certain affiliates of the Company) at the time it becomes an interested shareholder, or (iii) the business combination is approved by both the Board of Directors of the Company and the holders of at least two-thirds of the outstanding voting stock of the Company (excluding shares held by the interested shareholder), which in the case of the shareholder approval is authorized at an annual or special meeting of shareholders, and not by written consent.

An "interested shareholder" is a person who, together with affiliates and associates, owns (or at any time within the prior three years did own) 5% or more of the outstanding voting stock of the Company (which 5% number is adjusted to 15% for such person so long as such person is eligible to file Schedule 13-G under the Securities Exchange Act). A "business combination" includes a merger, a stock or asset sale, and other transactions resulting in a financial benefit to the shareholder.

Under Chapter 110D, a Massachusetts corporation with at least 200 shareholders of record (as determined by the statute), generally provides, with certain exceptions, that any person, including his, her or its affiliates who acquires shares of a corporation that are subject to the Control Share Acquisition Act, and whose shares represent one-fifth or more, one-third or more, or a majority or more of the voting power of the corporation in the election of directors cannot exercise any voting power with respect to those shares, unless those voting rights are authorized by the stockholders of the corporation. The authorization of voting rights requires the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the outstanding voting shares, excluding shares owned by: (i) the person making the acquisition of this

nature, (ii) any officer of the corporation, and (iii) any employee who is also a director of the corporation. Our bylaws provide a provision which permits the Company to effect redemptions of shares acquired in a control share acquisition under certain circumstances.